

Archive ouverte UNIGE

https://archive-ouverte.unige.ch

Thèse 2006

Open Access

This version of the publication is provided by the author(s) and made available in accordance with the copyright holder(s).

Lentivector-mediated transfer of Bmi-1 and telomerase in muscle satellite cells yields a Duchenne myoblast cell line with long-term genotypic and phenotypic stability

Cudré-Mauroux, Christophe

How to cite

CUDRÉ-MAUROUX, Christophe. Lentivector-mediated transfer of Bmi-1 and telomerase in muscle satellite cells yields a Duchenne myoblast cell line with long-term genotypic and phenotypic stability. Doctoral Thesis, 2006. doi: 10.13097/archive-ouverte/unige:402

This publication URL:https://Publication DOI:10.130

https://archive-ouverte.unige.ch/unige:402 10.13097/archive-ouverte/unige:402

© This document is protected by copyright. Please refer to copyright holder(s) for terms of use.

UNIVERSITE DE GENEVE Département de Zoologie et Biologie Animale FACULTE DES SCIENCES Professeur Duri RUNGGER

ECOLE POLYTECHNIQUE FEDERALE DE LAUSANNE	FACULTE DES SCIENCES DE LA VIE
Laboratoire de Virologie et Génétique	Professeur Didier TRONO

Lentivector-Mediated Transfer of Bmi-1 and Telomerase in Muscle Satellite Cells Yields a Duchenne Myoblast Cell Line with Long-Term Genotypic and Phenotypic Stability

THESE

présentée à la Faculté des sciences de l'Université de Genève pour obtenir le grade de Docteur ès sciences, mention biologique

par

Christophe CUDRE-MAUROUX de Autigny (FR)

Thèse N° 3726

Genève Atelier de reproduction d'Uni Mail 2006

FACULTÉ DES SCIENCES



UNIVERSITÉ DE GENÈVE

Doctorat ès sciences mention biologique

Thèse de Monsieur Christophe CUDRE MAUROUX

intitulée :

" Lentivector-Mediated Transfer of Bmi-1 and Telomerase in Muscle Satellite Cells Yields a Duchenne Myoblast Cell Line with Long-Term Genotypic and Phenotypic Stability "

La Faculté des sciences, sur le préavis de Messieurs D. RUNGGER, professeur titulaire (Département de zoologie et biologie animale), D. TRONO, professeur ordinaire (Ecole polytechnique fédérale de Lausanne – Faculté des sciences de la vie – Lausanne, Suisse) co-directeurs de thèse, et J. LINGNER, professeur (Institut suisse de recherche expérimental sur le cancer – Epalinges, Suisse), autorise l'impression de la présente thèse, sans exprimer d'opinion sur les propositions qui y sont énoncées.

Genève, le 10 mars 2006

Thèse - 3726

C. Spiriviv

Le Doyen, Pierre SPIERER

Lentivector-Mediated Transfer of Bmi-1 and Telomerase in Muscle Satellite Cells Yields a Duchenne Myoblast Cell Line with Long-Term Genotypic and Phenotypic Stability

Remerciements

Je tiens à remercier les diverses personnes qui m'ont aidé pendant cette thèse. Je ne peux les nommer toutes, mais je tiens surtout à exprimer ma profonde gratitude aux personnes suivantes.

A mon directeur de thèse, le Prof. Didier Trono. Ses conseils judicieux vont certainement encore résonner dans ma tête pendant longtemps.

A mes experts, le Prof. Duri Rungger et le Prof. Joachim Lingner. Je les remercie chaleureusement d'avoir accepté de faire partie de mon jury de thèse.

A mes parains de thèse, les Prof. Stylianos Antonarakis et Pierre Spierer. Ils ont été d'une grande aide pendant cette thèse.

A tous les membres de mon laboratoire, de mon Département de Génétique et Microbiologie (qui a été renommé Dépatement de Microbiologie et Médecine Moléculaire) et du CMU qui m'ont aidés. Je suis particulièrement reconnaissant envers Sandrine Vianin et Elisabeth Bühlmann qui m'ont aidé dans diverses techniques, et envers le Dr Isabelle Tchou qui m'a particulièrement aidé lors de l'écriture de ma thèse.

A tous mes amis aussi qui n'ont parfois rien à voir avec la biologie mais qui m'ont permis de surmonter certains moments difficiles pendant cette thèse. Parmi eux, il y a mes amis du Foyer d'étudiants de Saint-Boniface et parmi eux Antoine Didry-Demarle, mais aussi Daniela Schlaefli et le Dr Blanca Rubi.

Enfin, encore un grand merci à ma famille de m'avoir aidé pendant toutes mes études et pendant cette thèse. Je suis très reconnaissant envers mon père René, ma mère Rita et mon frère Philippe qui est d'ailleurs aussi sur le point de terminer un doctorat.

CONTENTS

RESUME EN FRANCAIS	8
ABSTRACT	19
ABBREVIATIONS	21
CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION	24

1.1 GENERAL CONCEPTS OF SENESCENCE AND ONCOGENESIS	25
1.1.1 Senescence and immortalization	
1.1.2 Differences in senescence and oncogenesis between human and mouse cells	
1.1.3 Are there senescence clocks?	
1.1.4 Pathways toward senescence	
1.1.5 The $p16^{INK4a}$ -Rb pathway	
1.1.6 The ARF-p53 pathway	
1.1.7 Senescence, quiescence and apoptosis	42
1.1.8 Escape from senescence and crisis	42
) Crisis and genetic instabilities	46
0 Somatic mutation theory of carcinogenesis	
1.1.11 Properties of cancer cells	48
1.1.12 How many mutations are required to trigger oncogenesis?	49
1.1.13 Pathways leading to tumorigenesis	50
1.1.14 Cancer, stem cells, and cancer stem cells	52
1.1.15 Context counts	54
1.1.16 The cellular environment	55
1.1.17 Escape from the immune system	58
1.1.18 Immune senescence	59
1.1.19 Tests of carcinogenesis	60
1.2 GENES USED FOR IMMORTALIZATION	61
1.2.1 Telomerase	
1.2.2 Alternative lengthening of telomeres (ALT)	
1.2.3 Bmi-1	
1.2.4 SV40 large T antigen	
1.2.4.1 Large T domains	72
1.2.4.2 TAg, p53 and pRB	74
1.2.4.3 Other functions of TAg	
1.2.4.4 Small t	

 1.2.4.5 17kT
 78

 1.2.4.6 Utility of TAg in immortalization
 78

1.3 OF THE UTILITY OF CELL LINES	82
1.4 LENTIVIRAL IMMORTALIZATION	84
1.5 WHY TO IMMORTALIZE HUMAN MYOBLASTS?	87
1.6 MUSCLES AND SATELLITE CELLS: AN OVERVIEW	89
1.6.1 Fusion of myoblasts	
1.6.2 Satellite cell markers and heterogeneity	
1.6.3 Factors modulating satellite cell activity	
1.6.4 Muscle regeneration	101
1.7 MUSCULAR DYSTROPHIES	103
1.7.1 General definition of muscular dystrophies	
1.7.2. Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy (DMD)	
1.7.3 Dystrophin	
1.7.4 Dystrophin deficiency and muscle degeneration	
1.7.5 Inerapeutic strategies for DMD.	
1.7.7 Models of DMD and their limitations	115
CHAPTER 2: FIRST STUDY:	
LENTIVIRAL IMMORTALIZATION OF MYOBLASTS	122
2.1 GENERAL INTRODUCTION FOR THE FIRST STUDY	123
2.2 RESULTS OF THE FIRST STUDY	127
2.3 CONCLUSION OF THE FIRST STUDY	128
CHAPTER 3: SECOND STUDY:	
COMPLEMENTATION OF DUCHENNE MUSCULAR DYSTROPHY MUS	CLE
CELLS BY DUAL HIGH-CAPACITY HYBRID VIRAL VECTORS	165
3.1 GENERAL INTRODUCTION FOR THE SECOND STUDY	166
3.2 RESULTS OF THE SECOND STUDY	169

5. REFERENCES	212
4.1 Long-term perspectives	
CHAPTER 4: GENERAL CONCLUSIONS	208
3.3 CONCLUSION OF THE SECOND STUDY	206

RESUME EN FRANCAIS

La Dystrophie Musculaire de Duchenne (DMD) est une des maladies les plus fréquentes : elle touche un garçon sur 3500. Cette maladie se caractérise par une dégénérescence progressive des muscles, si bien que les enfants qui en souffrent doivent utiliser une chaise roulante à partir d'une dizaine d'années et ils meurent en général entre 20 et 30 ans à la suite d'arrêt respiratoire ou cardiaque. Malgré le fait que cette maladie soit très répandue, aucune lignée cellulaire humaine n'était utilisée jusqu'à aujourd'hui. Nous avons voulu combler ce manque par l'immortalisation de cellules musculaires.

Afin d'immortaliser des myoblastes, nous avons utilisé des myoblastes issus de la culture de cellules satellites humaines provenant de biopsies de muscles. Les cellules satellites sont des cellules qui sont localisées soit directement sur les muscles, soit à proximité des muscles, dans la matrice extracellulaire. Ces cellules font partie de la lignée musculaire, si bien qu'elles peuvent fusionner entre elles et former des muscles ou réparer des muscles. Lorsque de telles cellules sont activées et prolifèrent, elles sont nommées myoblastes.

Nous avons utilisé des cellules humaines, afin d'obtenir des cellules modèles de la Dystrophie Musculaire de Duchenne, mais aussi afin de mieux connaître les événements menant à l'immortalisation de myoblastes. Or, il a été observé que les cellules animales, et particulièrement murines, sont beaucoup plus faciles à immortaliser que les cellules humaines. Cela vient du fait que les cellules humaines possèdent des mécanismes que les souris n'ont pas, et qui permettent plus de divisions cellulaires, tout en prévenant beaucoup de phénotypes cancéreux. En effet, les cellules murines se divisent beaucoup moins que les cellules humaines, 10¹¹ mitoses contre 10¹⁶. Cette différence de divisions permet aux humains d'avoir une taille plus grande, car la différence de taille entre les organismes humains et murins est comblée par un plus grand nombre de cellules et non par une plus grande taille des cellules. Or, il se trouve que les souris ont un risque de cancer de 30% à 1.5 ans et ce même risque de cancer est retrouvé dans des personnnes de 80 ans.

Une telle capacité de contrôler le cancer est possible chez l'homme, malgré un plus grand nombre de divisions cellulaires que chez la souris, grâce à différents mécanismes anticancéreux que la souris ne possède pas. Les cellules humaines, par exemple, régulent la télomérase, afin d'empêcher que n'importe quelle cellule puisse se diviser indéfiniment. Cette enzyme a pour but de maintenir une longueur suffisante à la fin des chromosomes, les télomères. Si cette enzyme n'est pas activée chez l'humain, les télomères s'érodent au cours des divisions cellulaires, et une cellule ne pourra faire en général au plus qu'une cinquantaine de divisions cellulaires avant de mourir, dans un processus qui est nommé sénescence. Comme il existe plus de mécanismes cancéreux chez l'homme, il est compréhensible que davantage de barrières anti-cancéreuses doivent être dépassées avant d'obtenir une immortalisation avec des cellules humaines en comparaison des cellules murines.

Différentes méthodes peuvent permettre d'immortaliser des cellules dont notamment la mutagenèse chimique ou l'insertion d'oncogènes.

La mutagenèse chimique peut être très efficace afin d'obtenir les mutations conduisant à l'immortalisation de cellules. Toutefois, alors, les mutations induites conduisant à l'immortalisations ne sont pas connues. De même, on ne sait pas si des mutations qui sont inutiles pour l'immortalisation se sont produites. De telles mutations pourraient être négatives pour la qualité de la lignée cellulaire résultante car elles pourraient parfois avoir lieu dans des gènes importants pour la lignée en question ce qui fait que la lignée résultante pourrait avoir des phénotypes très différents de cellules primaires.

Sachant cela, nous avons choisi d'immortaliser les cellules par l'insertion d'oncogènes afin de connaître précisément les modifications apportées aux cellules primaires. Non seulement il est plus intéressant de travailler avec une lignée cellulaire dont on peut connaître précisément les modifications, mais, de plus, une telle approche permet de disséquer toutes les étapes menant à l'immortalisation.

Les gènes que nous avons utilisés afin d'immortaliser les myoblastes étaient TAg, Bmi-1, hTERT, Bcl-2. TAg est l'antigène large du virus simien SV40 et a déjà été utilisé précédemment pour ses vertus immortalisantes, notamment des cellules murines. Quant à Bmi-1, il a été montré récemment qu'il joue un rôle dans la sénescence des cellules, et quelques essais ont prouvé également ses propriétés immortalisantes, notamment pour les cellules endothéliales sinusoïdales du foie. La partie catalytique de l'enzyme télomérase (hTERT) a aussi été utilisée dans des essais d'immortalisation, surtout humains, afin

d'empêcher les télomères de ces cellules de s'éroder. Enfin, nous avons encore utilisé le gène Bcl-2 dans nos essais d'immortalisation car ce gène est connu pour avoir des effets anti-apoptotiques.

Après avoir choisi les gènes pouvant mener à une immortalisation, restait à choisir une méthode afin d'introduire ces gènes dans les myoblastes. Dans ce but, nous avons utilisé des vecteurs lentiviraux, dérivés du virus responsable du SIDA (Syndrome d'ImmunoDéficience Acquise), le VIH (Virus de l'Immunodéficience Humaine). De tels vecteurs lentiviraux sont très éloignés par divers aspects du VIH, car ils ont subi la délétion de la quasi-totalité du génome du VIH. Cela permet l'utilisation de tels vecteurs afin de transférer du matériel génétique, sans provoquer le SIDA. Dans le cas présent, nous avons utilisés de tels vecteurs car la capacité de leur capside était suffisante afin de contenir les gènes que nous voulions utiliser afin d'immortaliser les myoblastes. Toutefois, nous avons choisi ces vecteurs pour d'autres raisons: leur efficacité à insérer des gènes dans le génome des cellules et à produire souvent une bonne expression de ces gènes. A cet égard, nous avons d'abord vérifié que de tels vecteurs sont capables d'insérer des gènes dans des myoblastes à de très hautes efficacités. Nous avons aussi contrôlé que ces vecteurs peuvent permettre l'expression de transgènes à de hauts niveaux, ceci étant probablement possible grâce à une insertion dans les régions riches en gènes du génome de la cellule cible.

Différents mélanges de vecteurs encodant des transgènes ayant des qualités potentiellement oncogéniques furent utilisés dans les immortalisations. Ces mélanges de vecteurs étaient composés soit des vecteurs encodant Bmi-1, TAg ou hTERT seulement, soit des mélanges de vecteurs encodant Bmi-1+hTERT ou TAg + hTERT ou Bmi-1 + hTERT + Bcl-2. Il s'est avéré que seuls les mélanges de vecteurs Bmi-1 + hTERT ou TAg ou TAg + hTERT ou TAg + Bmi-1 + Bcl-2 + hTERT ont pu réellement conduire à l'immortalisation des myoblastes. Cela signifie que, dans nos expériences, les cocktails minimums d'oncogènes capables d'immortaliser les myoblastes furent TAg seul ou Bmi-1 + hTERT.

TAg a déjà été utilisé dans le passé pour l'immortalisation de différentes cellules, dont les myoblastes. Cependant, nous avons montré que les cellules qui étaient immortalisées avec TAg n'avaient pas un phénotype normal, elles étaient notamment beaucoup plus larges que les même cellules non immortalisées. Après analyse, il s'est avéré que ces cellules avaient un caryotype approchant la tétraploïdie alors que les cellules normales sont diploïdes. Nous

avons aussi pu constater que ces cellules avaient souvent subi des réarrangements chromosomiques, prenant la forme de translocations ou de cassures de chromosomes. Ces observations sont en accord avec d'autres articles décrivant les effets mutagènes que TAg peut avoir.

Au contraire de TAg, nous avons montré que bmi-1 et hTERT étaient capables non seulement de conduire à l'immortalisation de myoblastes, mais aussi de permettre à ce que la ligée cellulaire obtenue reste très proche des cellules primaires. Ceci a pu être montré notamment par une forme et un caryotype normaux de ces cellules. De plus, de telles cellules avaient une prolifération similaire aux cellules contrôles, ce qui n'était pas le cas des cellules immortalisées avec TAg. Enfin, nous avons montré que les cellules immortalisées avec bmi-1 et hTERT avaient la capacité d'arrêter leur prolifération en milieu de différenciation comme les cellules contrôles. Cela n'était pas le cas pour les cellules immortalisées avec TAg.

Malgré le fait que les cellules immortalisées avec TAg avaient beaucoup d'anomalies chromosomiques, nous avons noté que ces cellules n'étaient pas tumorigéniques après injections sous-cutanée dans des souris *nude*. Les souris *nude* ont comme caractéristiques d'être blanches, sans poils, et sans thymus. Ce phénotype est probablement dû à un défaut dans le développement de l'ectoderme. Comme ces souris n'ont quasiment pas de cellules T, elles ne peuvent pas empêcher la croissance des cellules tumorales. En conséquence, elles sont devenues un des modèles pour caractériser des cellules tumorales *in vivo*.

Même les cellules qui ont été immortalisées avec le plus d'oncogènes (TAg + Bmi-1 + hTERT + Bcl-2), n'ont pas été tumorigéniques après transplantation dans des souris *nude*. A l'opposé, l'injection sous-cutanée de cellules HeLa dans ces souris a conduit à de grandes tumeurs. Malgré de tels résultats, nous n'excluons pas que les lignées cellulaires que nous avons obtenues ne forment pas de tumeurs dans le long terme. En fait, nous pensons que les cellules qui contiennent TAg et qui ont été démontrées comme étant instables d'un point de vue génétique, peuvent être particulièrement aptes à produire des mutations qui pourraient permettre à ces cellules de devenir tumorigéniques. Quant aux autres lignées que nous avons produites et qui n'ont pas un caryotype instable, elles ont certainement moins la capacité de devenir tumorigéniques.

Un clone de myoblastes provenant d'un patient atteint de dystrophie musculaire de Duchenne a pu être utilisé dans ces immortalisations. Avec ce clone, nous avons pu obtenir une cellule immortalisée humaine contenant une mutation conduisant à la maladie de Duchenne. Jusqu'à maintenant, nous avons montré que cette lignée cellulaire a toutes les capacités de base des myoblastes primaires. Elle a un phénotype, un caryotype, et une prolifération qui sont normaux. De plus, cette nouvelle lignée est capable de proliférer et de fusionner normalement, jusqu'à 70% de fusion, comme les cellules contrôles. Cette lignée exprime encore Myf5 qui est un marqueur de surface caractéristique des myoblastes. Lorsqu'elle est placée en milieu de différentiation, cette lignée active aussi l'expression de Mef2, Desmin et Myogenin, ce qui est aussi caractéristique des myoblastes primaires placés en milieu de différentiation et qui deviennent des myotubes.

Par rapport aux myoblastes provenant de donneurs sains, toutefois, les cellules de Duchenne, que nous avons obtenues après immortalisation avec Bmi-1 et hTERT, ont une cinétique de fusion légèrement retardée dans le temps. Ceci peut être dû au fait que ces cellules ont une mutation de Duchenne, ou au fait qu'elles surexpriment Bmi-1 ou hTERT, ou encore à une différence clonale entre ces cellules. Pour savoir si le retard de fusion est dû à la mutation Duchenne ou à l'addition d'oncogènes ou à des mutations, il faudrait utiliser des cellules qui soient isogéniques par rapport à notre lignée Duchenne et qui contiennent ou non les oncogènes Bmi-1 ou hTERT. Même si nous avons pu obtenir une lignée Duchenne qui fusionne dans le long terme, tous les clones de myoblastes immortalisés avec bmi-1 et hTERT n'ont pas eu cette caractéristique. Ce fait pourrait être expliqué si certaines lignées subissent des mutations ou si différents types de myoblastes peuvent être immortalisés. Selon cette seconde hypothèse, il se pourrait donc que nous n'ayons pas toujours choisi les bons clones au début des essais d'immortalisation.

Même si nous n'avons pas observé d'aberrations chromosomiques dans les cellules immortalisées avec bmi-1, nous n'excluons pas que de telles cellules ont pu subir des mutations au niveau de quelques nucléotides provoquant des mutations. Il est en effet reconnu que les cellules peuvent subir soit des mutations visibles au niveau des chromosomes soit des mutations souvent issues d'instabilité de microsatellites, et celles-ci ne sont pas visibles dans les caryotypes. De telles mutations pourraient expliquer pourquoi nous n'avons obtenu que peu de clones qui fusionnent dans le long terme. Toutefois,

l'existence de différents types de cellules satellites et de myoblastes pourrait peut-être mieux expliquer ce fait. En effet, les cellules satellites sont connues pour leur hétérogénéité à différents niveaux. D'abord, il est connu que différentes populations de cellules satellites existent déjà *in vivo* et sont caractérisés par différentes expressions de marqueurs cellulaires. Ensuite, si un clone de ces cellules est cultivé *in vitro*, nous savons que de telles cellules conduisent aussi à une hétérogénéité de cellules dans un pétri. C'est ainsi que si un clone de cellules restantes, il est connu que seul un petit nombre d'entre elles peuvent se remettre à proliférer, si l'on revient en milieu de prolifération. Une telle hétérogénéité dans les myoblastes peut aussi expliquer pourquoi les clones que nous avons utilisés pour immortalisation n'ont pas pu tous produire des cellules avec des capacités de fusion dans le long terme.

Malgré l'obtention de clones ne fusionnant pas dans le long terme, nous avons pu obtenir une lignée cellulaire de myoblastes d'origine Duchenne, qui ressemblent beaucoup aux cellules primaires. En résumé, ces cellules ont donc un phénotype, un caryotype et surtout des capacités de différentiation normales qui sont très proches de celles des cellules primaires normales. Dans l'article décrivant l'obtention de cette lignée cellulaire, j'avais proposé que cette lignée cellulaire soit employée dans différents protocoles impliquant des myoblastes. Ce fut effectivement le cas, car cette lignée cellulaire nous a été demandée par différents laboratoires dans le monde. Parmi ceux-ci, nous avons fait une collaboration avec le groupe d'Antoine de Vries (Section de Thérapie Génique, Centre Médical de l'Université de Leiden, Leiden, Pays-Bas). Ce groupe travaille sur la thérapie génique de la Dystophie Musculaire de Duchenne. Cette collaboration leur a permis d'utiliser l'unique ou le quasi unique modèle humain disponible de la maladie de Duchenne. Quant à nous, cette collaboration nous a permis de profiter de leur expérience avec des vecteurs particulièrement adaptés pour corriger la Dystrophie musculaire. En effet, Manuel Goncalves, qui travaille dans ce groupe, a déjà élaboré de nouveaux vecteurs dont le but est de corriger cette maladie.

La Dystrophie Musculaire est provoquée par une mutation dans le gène humain le plus long connu : la dystrophine. Ce gène s'étend sur 2.5 Mbp, ce qui correspond à 0.1% du génome humain. On comprendra dès lors pourquoi la Dystrophie Musculaire est si répandue : c'est parce qu'il est plus probable qu'un gène long soit muté par rapport à un gène court. Le fait que ce gène soit très long pose toutefois de grands problèmes dans sa correction telle qu'elle est envisagée dans les protocoles de thérapie génique. En effet, le cDNA de ce gène mesure 14 kb, ce qui est plus grand que la capacité de beaucoup de vecteurs, dont les vecteurs lentiviraux. C'est ainsi que les vecteurs lentiviraux ont été utilisés dans le but de corriger la Dystrophie Musculaire de Duchenne, seules des versions raccourcies de la dystrophine (appelées minidystrophines) ont été utilisées. Toutefois, le fait que ces versions soient ou non totalement fonctionnelles est un sujet de débat. Afin de ne pas entrer dans ce débat, nos collaborateurs ont au contraire opté pour la livraison d'une version complète de la dystrophine. Dans ce but, ils ont créé un nouveau vecteur qui est une version hybride de deux autres vecteurs connus. Des vecteurs dérivés des Adénovirus existent déjà, ils ont la capacité d'insérer dans des cellules de grandes quantités d'informations génétiques et donc de longs gènes. Par contre, ces vecteurs n'ont pas de capacités d'intégration. Au contraire, les vecteurs issus de Virus Adéno Associés (VAA) ne peuvent contenir que peu d'informations génétiques et donc que de courts gènes. Par contre, ces vecteurs ont la capacité intéressante de s'intégrer dans le locus AAVI du chromosome 19. Sachant cela, nos collaborateurs ont fait le design d'un nouveau vecteur combinant la capacité des Adénovirus de contenir beaucoup d'informations génétiques et la capacité des virus Adéno associés de s'intégrer dans le locus AAV1. Le vecteur résultant de cette manipulation est un mélange VAA-Adéno, et il a la capacité de contenir non seulement une version codante de la dystrophine, mais deux.

Un tel design VAA-Adéno a déjà été utilisé dans le passé et a pu conduire à la plus efficace correction de la Dystrophie Musculaire à ce jour. En effet, dans l'article relatant les résultats d'une telle manipulation, un vecteur codant deux unités d'expression de la dystrophine a permis jusqu'à 42% de correction de fibres du tibia antérieur de souris *mdx*.

Les cellules que nous avons obtenues précédemment ont été encore utilisées afin de démontrer la faisabilité de la correction de la dystrophine avec les vecteurs bi-Adéno-VAA. Avant de faire de telles expériences, la quantité de récepteurs CAR et CD46 a été contrôlée sur les myoblastes. Cela a été fait, car les vecteurs Adéno peuvent utiliser différents récepteurs, dont CAR et CD46 font partie, et si un type cellulaire a beaucoup d'un de ces récepteurs, il est plus judicieux d'utiliser un vecteur Adéno qui utilise le

récepteur en question, afin de rentrer au mieux dans ces cellules. Lors du contrôle de la quantité des récepteurs CAR et CD46, il a été démontré que les myoblastes contrôles mais aussi les myoblastes provenant de patients atteint de DMD et encore notre lignée cellulaire obtenue après immortalisation de cellules Duchenne avec Bmi-1 et hTERT, exprimaient tous à leur surface le récepteur CD46 et quasiment pas le récepteur CAR.

Prenant en compte ce dernier résultat, les vecteurs Adéno-VAA furent modifiés dans le but d'exprimer à leur surface une nouvelle fibre, la fibre 50 de l'Adénonovirus 50 (Ad50) qui lie CD46. Le but de cette modification était de créer des vecteurs qui pourraient s'attacher au mieux aux récepteurs CD46 présents sur les myoblastes et finalement de rentrer mieux dans ces cellules. Pour ce faire, le virus Adéno Aideur employé dans la production des vecteurs Adéno-VAA a été modifié afin d'arborer la fibre 50 du virus Ad50. Dès lors, le virus Aideur résultant fut nommé plox-Aideur-Adéno-fibre50. Il est à noter en passant que, dès le départ, tous les vecteur Adéno Aideurs qui ont employés ici ont été modifiés afin d'arborer de chaque côté de leur séquence d'encapsidation psi une séquence plox. Ces séquences plox permettent aux virus de *type sauvage* d'être en grande partie supprimés, car les cellules productrices Adéno-VAA expriment la recombinase Cre, qui permet l'excision de la séquence Ψ . L'élément Ψ étant la séquence clé pour l'encapsidation du génome viral, la séquence d'ADN codant pour le virus Adéno n'entrera pas dans la capside protéique virale, ce qui a pour effet d'empêcher la propagation du virus de *type sauvage*.

Les vecteurs résultants de toutes ces manipulations peuvent être nommés hc-bi-Adéno-AAV-fibre50. En effet, de tels vecteurs ont une haute capacité d'accueillir des transgènes si bien qu'ils permettent l'introduction de deux unités d'expression de la dystrophine (de là leur préfixe hc-bi) mais ils sont aussi composés à la fois du virus Adéno et de la capacité des vecteurs VAA de s'intégrer dans le locus AAV1 du chromosome 19. Enfin, de tels vecteurs ont été produits avec la fibre 50 à leur surface afin de permettre une entrée optimale dans les myoblastes, car ceux-ci expriment à de plus hauts niveaux le récepteur qui est associé à la fibre 50 : le CD46.

Il fut montré que les vecteurs hc-bi-Adéno-AAV-fibre50 pouvaient être produits aussi bien que les vecteurs n'étant pas composés avec la fibre 50. De plus, de tels vecteurs avec la fibre 50 pouvaient transduire des myoblastes beaucoup plus efficacement que les vecteurs avec la fibre 5. En fait, 30 fois moins de vecteurs ayant à leur surface la fibre 50 (qui lie CD46) était nécessaire pour arriver au même niveau de transduction qu'avec les vecteurs arborant la fibre 5 (qui lie CAR). Tout cela a été possible, rappelons-le, parce qu'il y a sur les myoblastes plus de récepteurs CD46 pour la fibre 50, que de récepteurs CAR pour la fibre 5.

De tels vecteurs furent ensuite employés dans le but de corriger notre lignée cellulaire pour l'expression de la Dystrophine. Leur utilisation permit non seulement de produire la dystrophine, mais aussi la localisation normale du Beta-dystroglycan. En effet, après une mutation de type Duchenne, il est connu que le complexe associé à la dystrophine est détruit, ce qui mène à une localisation cytoplasmique. Au contraire, dans les myoblastes et muscles normaux, le béta-dystroglycan est localisé au plasmalemme, et après adjonction des vecteurs dystrophine sur notre lignée cellulaire, nous avons aussi pu observer la redistribution du beta-dystroglycan au plasmalemme.

Une des nouveautés de cet article est non seulement l'utilisation et le développement de nouveaux types de vecteurs basés sur les Adénovirus et les Virus Adéno Associés mais aussi la correction du phénotype Duchenne dans des cellules d'origine humaine. En effet, jusqu'ici, pour de tels travaux, en général, seules les cellules murines C2C12 ont été utilisées. Or, il est connu que le phenotype humain de la Dystrophie Musculaire de Duchenne est très différent par rapport à ce qui peut être vu dans les organismes murins. En effet, des souris avec une mutation dans la dystrophine sont souvent très similaires aux souris contrôles et elles n'ont des problèmes avec leurs muscles que tard dans leur vie. De telles différences ne sont pas encore totalement comprises mais proviennent au moins en partie de différences qu'il y a dans la régulation des cellules satellites humaines et murines. En sachant cela, il n'y aurait rien d'étonnant que la nouvelle lignée humaine obtenue ici ait la potentialité d'être beaucoup plus utile que des lignées murines dans les recherches sur la Dystrophie Musculaire de Duchenne.

Les articles présentés dans cette thèse montrent donc, d'abord, que l'on a pu obtenir une nouvelle lignée cellulaire Duchenne. Cette lignée a, en bref, un phénotype, un caryotype, et une différentiation qui sont normaux. Toutes ces caractéristiques font de la lignée Duchenne obtenue ici certainement la meilleure lignée humaine de myoblastes obtenue jusqu'ici. Ensuite, ils montrent que cette lignée a pu être utilisée afin d'étudier la Dystrophie musculaire de Duchennne mais aussi sa correction. A l'occasion de la correction en dystrophine de notre lignée cellulaire de Duchenne, un nouveau type de vecteur a été obtenu ici.

L'obtention d'un nouveau modèle cellulaire de la maladie de Duchenne, pourra permettre un développement de la recherche dans le domaine de la Dystrophie Musculaire. L'obtention de ce modèle a aussi permis de mieux comprendre les étapes nécessaires à l'immortalisation des myoblastes. Quant à l'obtention du nouveau vecteur hc-bi-Adéno-AAV-fibre50, il pourra être utilisé dans d'autres protocoles de thérapie génique. De manière générale, la lignée cellulaire et le nouveau vecteur obtenu dans les articles présentés dans cette thèse permettront certainement le développement de la connaissance dans le domaine de la Dystrophie musculaire. Cela pourra être fait par nos groupes, mais aussi par d'autres, et je souhaite dès lors plein succès à tous ceux qui seraient tentés par cette approche.

D'autres possibilités peuvent encore découler de l'obtention de cette lignée de myoblastes humains. On peut penser qu'il pourrait être intéressant de fusionner de telles cellules, de les encapsuler, et de leur faire relâcher un produit thérapeutique. Par exemple, jusqu'à maintenant, les cellules murines C2C12 ont déjà été encapsulées dans le but de relâcher une molécule thérapeutique. Or, dans de telles expériences, il est connu que les cellules C2C12 subissaient toujours une mortalité importante dans les capsules, et cela pourrait être dû soit au fait que les cellules C2C12 prolifèrent encore dans la capsule soit au fait que beaucoup de cellules au centre de la capsule meurent car elles ne sont pas bien fusionnées aux autres. Les faits que notre lignée cellulaire puisse complètement arrêter de proliférer en milieu de différentiation et fusionne facilement pourraient suggérer que nos cellules peuvent être plus intéressantes à utiliser dans des encapsidations, car leurs mortalités pourraient être plus faible dans des capsules que de cellules C2C12. De plus, même si cela n'a pas été démontré, il se peut que les cellules C2C12, même encapsulées, relâchent un produit murin qui pourrait ne pas être bien toléré par l'homme, ou créer une réaction immunitaire. Au contraire, nos cellules ont l'avantage d'être humaines et très proches des cellules primaires, et donc, si elles sont injectées dans un hôte, elles pourraient être mieux tolérées par l'organisme et par le système immunitaire humain de l'hôte. Sachant cela, quelques essais de thérapies géniques non reliés au domaine des muscles pourraient être envisagés par exemple pour relâcher une molécule thérapeutique dans le sang. Toutefois,

sans attendre l'élaboration de telles expériences au résultat encore imprévisible, cette lignée est déjà utilisée par différents groupes dans différentes recherches académiques, et c'était bien là le but premier de sa fabrication.

ABSTRACT

Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy is a genetic muscle wasting disease touching 1 out of 3500 boys. However, the study of this disease was particularly difficult because no human cellular line with the features of these primary cells existed. During my thesis, I thus aimed at the fabrication of a human cellular model of this disease.

In this respect, myoblasts from muscle biopsies of normal or Duchenne patients were immonartalized. These cells could be immortalized with different cocktails of oncogenes, consisting of Bmi-1, Large T antigen, Bcl-2, and human telomerase (hTERT). For this purpose, lentiviral vectors were used because they have sufficient capacities for the transgenes we wanted to use, but also because they allowed successful incorporation and transcription of them in myoblasts. After characterisation of the resulting cell lines, it was observed that TAg-immortalized cells were bigger and rounder than their primary counterpart. TAg cell lines had also a karyotype in the tetraploid range, with numerous karyotipic anomalies, including translocations and chromosomal breaks. All these anomalies were not observed with cells immortalized with Bmi-1 and hTERT, which were shown to have a normal phenotype and a normal karyotype. A myoblast cell line with a Duchenne mutation could be established after immortalization with Bmi-1 and hTERT. This cell line had not only normal phenotypic karyotypic properties, but also a fusion very similar to normal primary cells. This cell line was also shown to express all the typical myogenic markers, once studied in proliferation or differentiation conditions.

This new cell line was then complemented with Dystrophin, to obtain a normal muscle cell line, with the same genetic background as our Duchenne cell line. This experiment was also the occasion to test the utility of our Duchenne cell line in the studies aiming to correct DMD, especially in gene therapy experiments. For this purpose, hich capacity vectors were used, which were combining the properties of the Adeno Associated Virus (AAV) to insert their genetic material into the *AAV1* locus of chromosome 19 and the properties of the Adeno virus to package large quantities of genetic material. At this occasion, the fibre on the surface of the vector was modified, to permit better entry into the myoblasts. This finally allowed the

complementation of our Duchenne cell line with Dystrophin, with correction of the DMD phenotype, as seen by visualization of Dystrophin in muscles, but also by correct relocalization of the beta-Dystroglycan complex at the plasmalemme.

ABBREVIATIONS

Ai6 apoptosis inhibitor-6
AML acute myelogenous leukaemia
Apc adenomatosis polyposis coli
AAV Adeno-Associated Virus
AAV1 Preferred integration locus of the AAV1 virus
Bmi-1 B lymphoma Mo-MLV insertion region
<i>Brca</i> breast cancer
CDK cyclin-dependent kinase
CDKI cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor
CIN chromosomal instabilities neoplasias
CMV human cytomegalovirus immediate early promoter
CTLs cytotoxic T lymphocytes
Cx connexin
Cyc cyclin
DGC Dystoglycan complex
EGFP enhanced green fluorescent protein
FKHR Forkhead in human rhabdomyosarcoma
GH Growth hormone
GTPases guanosine triphosphatases
HIV Human Immunodeficiency Virus
HLA human leukocyte antigens
HSV1-TK thymidine kinase of herpes simplex virus type 1.
INK4 <u>in</u> hibitors of CD <u>K4</u>
IGF-I Insulin-like Growth Factor-I
IRES internal ribosomal entry site of the encephalomyocarditis virus

KIRs killer cell inhibitory receptors KO knockout LT Large T antigen MAPK mitogen-activated protein kinase MDM2 murine double minute 2 MIN microsatellite instabilities neoplasias Mo-MLV Moloney Murine Leukemia Virus mSP murine bone marrow side population MyHC myosin heavy chain *Nf* neurofibromatosis NK natural killer NOD/SCID non-obese diabetic/severe combined immunodeficient NPM nucleophosmin PAF-AH⁷ platelet-activating factor acetylhydrolase PI3K phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase PLD phospholipase D PP2A phosphatase 2A RAL-GEFs RAL guanine-nucleotide exchange factors Rb retinoblastoma RDC1 chemokine orphan receptor 1 RRE Rev-responsive element SA splice acceptor SCID severe combined immunodeficient SD splice donor SMT somatic mutation theory of carcinogenesis SP side population ST small T antigen STASIS STress or Aberrant Signaling Induced Senescence SV40 Simian Virus 40

Terc telomerase RNA component TJP tight junction protein TOFT tissue organization field theory of carcinogenesis and metastasis Ub Ubiquitin VCAM vascular cell adhesion molecule VLA very late antigen VSV-G Vesicular stomatitis virus G protein Ψ packaging signal

CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION

1.1 General concepts of senescence and oncogenesis

1.1.1 Senescence and immortalization

Normal somatic cells do not propagate indefinitely. Somatic cells can grow in vitro under appropriate culture conditions, but they have a limited doubling potential. After to have followed about 50 divisions (which often corresponds to less than one year in culture), most of the cell strains degenerate, and follow a process called senescence (Hayflick and Moorhead, 1961). However, it has been shown that the introduction of a limited number of viral-borne or tumor-derived genes was sufficient to render rodent cells immortal (Bishop, 1985). While the introduction of a single gene failed to immortalize these cells, two genes were sufficient to immortalize these cells, but also contributed to their transformation to a tumorigenic state (Land et al., 1983; Ruley, 1983). The transforming oncogenes were termed viral or tumor oncogenes, and they were found to have gain-of-function mutations compared to normal human genes, called proto-oncogenes. Many reports have subsequently identified numerous pairs of oncogenes that were capable to render rodent cells tumorigenic (Hunter, 1991). Nevertheless, despite the success of some pairs of oncogenes to immortalize and transform rodent cells, they often failed to immortalize human primary cells (Stevenson and Volsky, 1986). Such findings led to the proposal that a greater number of alterations are necessary to transform human cells than to transform murine cells.

1.1.2 Differences in senescence and oncogenesis between human and mouse cells

Apart from having a probable causal role in aging, the senescence mechanisms may suppress the development of cancer in mammals (Campisi et al., 2001; Reddel, 2000; Wright and Shay, 2001).



Figure 1. Cancer risks in mice and humans with age. Mice data are from (Pompei et al., 2001). Human data are from the American Cancer Society, Cancer Facts and Figures 2003. Figure redrawn from (Rangarajan and Weinberg, 2003).

The need for additional barriers to carcinogenesis in human certainly stems from the fact that human cells divide more than murine cells. Humans are about 3,000 times larger than mice, but they also have more cells, and live longer than mice. In fact, humans undergo about 10^5 more cell divisions in a lifetime (10^{16} divisions in humans versus 10^{11} mitosis in mice) (Rangarajan and Weinberg, 2003). Nevertheless, the risk to develop cancer during the life of mice or humans is comparable (Figure 1) (Rangarajan and Weinberg, 2003). However, humans live longer than mice, and this increase in lifespan with comparable cancer risks was possible since 80 million years after the development of new antineoplastic mechanisms (Hanahan and Weinberg, 2000).

Considering these facts, we can better understand why both similarities and discrepancies have been found between mouse and human carcinogenesis. This has been particularly observed after the comparison of mouse knockout (KO) models and family inherited mutations in humans (Figure 2).

Tumour- suppresor gene	Spectrum of tumours in conventional mouse KO models	Spectrum of tumours in humans (loss of function)	Recent genetic modifications	Spectrum of tumours in modified KO models
Ink4a	Fibrosarcoma, lymphoma, squamous- cell carcinoma	Familial melanoma, sporadic pancreatic, brain tumours	Crossed with <i>Arf</i> +/- mice	Metastatic melanoma, sarcoma, carcinoma, lymphoma
Trp53	Osteosarcoma, lymphoma, soft-tissue sarcoma	Breast carcinoma, brain, sarcomas, leukaemia	Additional loss of <i>Terc</i>	Breast and other carcinomas
Арс (Арсміл, Арс716, Арс580)	Multiple polyps in small intestine	Polyps in colon progressing to carcinomas	Conditional colon- specific inactivation	Polyps in colon
Rb	Brain, pituitary	Retinoblastoma, osteosarcoma	Additional loss of p107	Retinoblastoma
Brca1	No tumour susceptibility	Breast, ovary	Conditionalmammary- specific inactivation of Brca1	Mammary tumours
Brca2	No tumour susceptibility	Breast, ovary	Conditional mammary-specific inactivation of <i>Brca2</i> and <i>Trp53</i>	Mammary tumours
Nf1	Pheochromocytoma, myeloid leukaemia	Neural-crest-derived benign neurofibroma and malignant fibrosarcoma	Additional loss of <i>Trp53</i>	Neural-crest-derived malignant glioblastoma
Nf2	Osteosarcoma, fibrosarcoma, lung adenocarcinoma, hepatocellular carcinoma	Schwannomas, meningiomas, ependymomas, gliomas	Schwann-cell precursor-specific ablation of <i>Nf</i> 2	Schwannomas

Figure 2. Comparisons between mouse KO models and family inherited human alterations in tumor suppressor genes. *Apc*, adenomatosis polyposis coli; *Brca*, breast cancer; KO, knockout; *Nf*, neurofibromatosis; *Rb*, retinoblastoma; *Terc*, telomerase RNA component. Figure taken from (Rangarajan and Weinberg, 2003).

1.1.3 Are there senescence clocks?

Normal cells have a finite life span that seems to be counted, before they finally die. But if the life span is counted, what is the counting mechanism?

After the discovery that some nucleoproteins, named telomeres, shorten with every cycle of cell growth, the hypothesis that these structures could be the counting mechanism for cell senescence appeared. In such a model, progressive erosion of telomeres with cell divisions would trigger senescence, once a minimal threshold of telomere length is reached (Harley et al., 1990b). This mechanistic model was partially verified, because, at least in some cell types, ectopic expression of the catalytic unit of telomerase enzyme, hTERT (human telomerase reverse transcriptase), was sufficient to lead to extension of cellular life span (Bodnar et al., 1998a; Vaziri and Benchimol, 1998b).

Different telomerase expression levels may also explain differences observed in the immortalization of murine and human cells. Indeed, telomerase is expressed in most murine tissues (Prowse and Greider, 1995), but it is expressed only transiently and at low levels in normal human cells (Broccoli et al., 1995; Counter et al., 1995; Hiyama et al., 1995; Masutomi et al., 2003). However, additional differences still exist between the phenotypes produced by the loss of telomerase in humans and mice. While telomerase loss produces affects after about 50 cell divisions in most human cells types, the effect of telomerase loss in mice is only visible at the sixth generation, despite of continued telomere shortening. This discrepancy may be explained at least in part because there are less cellular divisions in mice. However, murine telomeres are also longer, they measure from 20 to 50 kb, and human telomeres sizes range between 8 and 15 kb. Then, both reduced lifetime of mice and longer telomere lengths may explain why it is only after six generations of telomerase knock-out in mice that abnormalities are observed. They include fusion of chromosomes, aneuploidy, and also sterility (Lee et al., 1998).

Additional observations suggested that telomere length is probably not the sole counting mechanism for cell life. Indeed, oxygen levels were found to have an effect on the lifespan of culture human fibroblasts. In fact, it was observed that when fibroblasts are propagated in 1-3% oxygen instead of 20% oxygen, they are able to undergo more divisions prior to

senescence. In the contrary, when oxygen levels are higher than 20%, their lifespan shortens (Chen et al., 1995; Packer and Fuehr, 1977; von Zglinicki et al., 1995). Other experiments have shown that senescence can also be induced by some forms of DNA damage (for example, oxidative stress), and by certain oncogenes (Campisi, 2001; Wright and Shay, 2002). This led to the conclusion that senescence can be induced by environmental stresses, and such phenomenon was variously termed premature senescence, culture shock, stress-induced senescence, or STASIS (STress or Aberrant Signaling Induced Senescence) (Shay and Wright, 2004).

At this point, it was suggested that there is not only a telomerase-based clock in normal cells, but also a stress-based clock that also contributes to aging. Then, it would be the combined effect of these two clocks that would define the onset time of senescence.

Until now, at least these two clocks are thought to collaborate in defining the age of senescence of cells and in inducing of senescence, but other clocks may be possible. It could still be possible that only telomerase length is a real clock for senescence and that stress stimuli may have effects on telomeres, and finally on senescence. This is true to a certain extent at least in some cells have where telomeres have been shown to shorten more quickly in high oxygen environments (von Zglinicki et al., 1995). Nevertheless, senescence was also shown not to depend only on telomere lengths. Indeed, senescence can happen even with long telomeres, and such form of stress-related senescence can not be prevented by ectopic hTERT expression (Gorbunova et al., 2002; Wei et al., 1999).

These data, and other data that will be presented now, suggest that telomere length is not the only determinant of senescence. They also suggest that replicative senescence and stress-induced senescence are not as different as depicted until now: they use the same mechanisms and they generate one response program. At this point, the conceptual ideas of senescence clocks should be reexamined in view of the facts that pathways of replicative senescence and stress-induced senescence are mechanistically bound. The emerging picture is that different stimuli can activate senescence, and whether this occurs rapidly, or gradually, following a period of proliferation, is mainly determined by the combined levels of the stresses involved. Then, it seems that it is not one clock, two clocks, or more, that should be considered in the accomplishment of the senescence program, but, best, the integrated measure of different stresses.

1.1.4 Pathways toward senescence

Some genes have been shown to induce senescence, even in cells that are considered to be immortal, such as tumor cells (Figure 3) (Roninson, 2003). Such experiments, and others, that will be discussed now, have permitted to uncover the pathways leading to senescence.

Gene	Tumor cell line
p53	EJ bladder ca ^a ; NSCLC H358 lung ca
p63	EJ bladder ca
p73	EJ bladder ca
RB	MDA-MB-468 breast ca; 5637 bladder ca; Saos-2 osteosarcoma
p21 ^{Waf1/Cip1/Sdi1}	HT1080 fibrosarcoma; EJ bladder carcinoma; H1299 lung ca
p16 ^{Ink4A}	U-1242 MG glioma; U251 glioma; U2-OS osteosarcoma
<i>P57^{Kip2}</i>	U343 MG-A, U87 MG, and U373 MG astrocytoma
p15 ^{Ink4B}	U251 glioma
<i>E2 papillomavirus protein</i> (inhibitor of E6 and E7)	HeLa, HT-3, and CaSki cervical ca
IGFBP-rP1	M12 prostate ca; MCF-7 breast ca
Activated RAF-1	LNCaP prostate ca
Activated MKK6	U2-OS osteosarcoma

Figure 3. Genes that induce senescence-like phenotype in tumor cells. ^{*a*} ca, carcinoma; NSCLC, non-small cell lung cancer. Figure taken from (Roninson, 2003).

Two main different pathways of senescence can be triggered and need to be bypassed for immortalization. These pathways of senescence can be p16^{INK4a}-retinoblastoma (p16^{INK4a}-Rb) dependant, or ARF-p53 dependant (Figure 4). These pathways have also a role in oncogenesis (Sherr, 2001).



Figure 4. The p16^{INK4a}-Rb dependant, or ARF-p53 dependant pathways of senescence. Figure modified from (Drayton and Peters, 2002; Lowe and Sherr, 2003; Sharpless, 2004; Sherr, 2001; Sherr, 2004).

The tumor suppressors p16^{INK4a} and ARF are implicated separately in the measure of lifespan. This was demonstrated by the fact that the lifespan of mice strains deprived of p16^{INK4a} or ARF is shorter than wild-type animals but longer than the strains deprived of both (Kamijo et al., 1997; Serrano et al., 1996; Sharpless et al., 2001; Sharpless et al., 2004).

Nevertheless, disruptions of the p16^{INK4a} and ARF pathways can lead to different phenotypes in different cell types, and in different organisms. Most MEFs acquire characteristic senescence-related morphologies by an ARF mechanism. In the contrary, murine lymphocytes, macrophages, astrocytes, and a variety of human cells, were reported to senesce *in vitro* by a p16^{INK4a}–dependent mechanism (reviewed by (Sharpless, 2004)).

Characterization of cancer cells showed inverse correlation between the presence of p16^{INK4a} and wildtype RB, suggesting the existence of a link between p16^{INK4a} and RB (Otterson et al.,

1994; Shapiro et al., 1995). Genetic observations also linked the tumor suppressor ARF to p53 (Chin et al., 1997; Kamijo et al., 1997; Pomerantz et al., 1998). The genetic linkage of pRB and p53 with senescence were verified by further experiments. They include the following ones:

- Inactivation of p53 extends the lifespan of human fibroblasts (Itahana et al., 2001), whereas MEFs from p53 null mice do not senesce (Harvey et al., 1993).
- MEFs with targeted disruption of all pRB family of proteins (pRb, p107, and p130) do not senesce (Dannenberg et al., 2000; Sage et al., 2000).
- Human cells that lose p53 and pRB functions are generally refractory to multiple senescence-inducing stimuli (Dimri et al., 2000; Serrano et al., 1997).

The p16^{INK4a}-Rb and of ARF-p53 senescence pathways will be presented more in detail now. Interestingly, these pathways begin either by p16^{INK4a} or ARF activation, and it appeared that both these proteins are products of genes originating from the INK4a locus. Even though the p16^{Ink4a} and p14^{Arf} (p19^{ARF} in mice) transcripts are initiated at different promoters, they share part of the same sequence, but in alternative reading frames (hence the name of Arf) (Figure 5). The reason why these two tumour-suppressor genes are so intimately linked is not known, but it is suspected that this chromosomal link may have a utility for the cells. As both these proteins are involved in interpreting responses to hyperproliferative signals and in modulating the Rb and p53 pathways, this chromosomal link could have a utility for these proteins to respond to similar signals. However, despite their intimate linkage, the two genes are independently positively and negatively regulated (Sherr, 2004). So, it is still not understood what selective advantage this linkage might have, if it has any. In fact, it seems particularly intriguing why two tumor suppressors are located in the same locus. This particularity makes that since some deletions in the INK4a-ARF locus can simultaneously compromise the functions of two tumor suppressors. This may seem to be a disadvantage for the cell, but if evolution has adopted this very peculiar conformation of tumor suppressor genes, it is probably for a good, but still unknown, reason.



Figure 5. The INK4a/ARF locus. A The INK4a/ARF locus encodes two proteins : $p16^{Ink4a}$ and $p14^{Arf}$ ($p19^{ARF}$ in mice) by different promoters. (A) Overview of the INK4a/ARF locus, with the different promoters (arrows), exons (1 β , 1 α , 2 and 3), splice donors (SD), and splice acceptors (SA). 1 β and 1 α are alternative exons of ARF and $p16^{Ink4a}$, respectively. (B) ARF only. (C) INK4a only. The second exon of $p16^{Ink4a}$ is similar to the second exon of ARF, but in an alternative reading frame, so that ARF stop codon is not placed at the same position than that of INK4a. (D) (E) the resulting $p14^{ARF}$ and $p16^{INK4a}$ products. Figure adapted from (Collins and Sedivy, 2003; Hayward, 2003; Sharpless, 2004; Sherr, 2001).

1.1.5 The p16^{INK4a}-Rb pathway

The INK4 family comprises p16^{INK4a}, p15^{INK4b}, p18^{INK4c}, and p19^{INK4d} (p19^{INK4d} being distinct from murine p19^{ARF}). All these proteins are cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitors (CDKIs). The CDKIs inhibit the cyclin-dependent kinases that phosphorylate the related proteins p107 and

p130, leading to their inactivation, and to inhibition of cell cycle progression (Classon and Harlow, 2002). Implication of these proteins in tumorigenesis has been noted, but in different extents (Figure 6) (Sherr, 2001). Nevertheless, only INK4a and ARF, and not their related cell cycle inhibitors of the INK4 family, seem to have a major role in senescence. Moreover, only the expression of p16^{INK4a} and ARF is increased in aged organs, once this expression is compared with the one found in young organs (Krishnamurthy et al., 2004).



Figure 6. The ink4 family of CDKI. The four Ink4 proteins inhibit complexes of cyclins D1, D2 or D3 with either Cdk4 or Cdk6. These six cyclin D-dependent kinases complexes can inhibit the three Rb-family members that interact preferentially with different E2f subunits. Rb associates primarily with E2fs 1–3, and p107 and p130 preferentially forms complexes with E2fs 4 and 5. Yellow, pink and green shadings indicate the proteins that are often, less frequently or only rarely (if at all) involved in tumorigenesis. Figure redrawn from (Sherr, 2001).

The fact that INK4a-deficient human diploid fibroblasts were shown to be resistant to RASinduced senescence, has led to the implication of $p16^{INK4a}$ in senescence (Brookes et al., 2002). Moreover, in mice, increased expression of $p16^{INK4a}$ by deficiency of the *SNF2*-like gene PASG was shown to cause premature aging (Sun et al., 2004). One further evidence suggesting that $p16^{INK4a}$ is implicated in senescence came from MEFs with a p16 binding deficient mutant of CDK4, that failed to senesce in culture (Rane et al., 2002). It was also shown that when rare human epithelial cells escape cell cycle arrest once placed in culture, they show epigenetic silencing of the INK4a gene (Drayton and Peters, 2002). However, it was also shown that this particular block could be avoided by alternate culture conditions. Indeed, co-culture of epithelial cells with feeder layers allowed them to behave more like fibroblasts (Ramirez et al., 2001). Telomere shortening or telomere structure dysfunction is correlated with increased $p16^{INK4a}$ expression in senescing human fibroblasts (Bodnar et al., 1998b; Smogorzewska and de Lange, 2002). Despite this evidence, the signaling pathway linking uncapped telomeres to $p16^{INK4a}$ has not been completely elucidated. Additional events seem to regulate $p16^{INK4a}$ accumulation, but they are less well understood than that of ARF. Nonetheless, it is known that $p16^{INK4a}$ can be induced by certain forms of oncogene activation, such as by the RAS \rightarrow RAF \rightarrow MEK \rightarrow ERK \rightarrow Ets1/2 pathway (Zhu et al., 1998). Repressors such as Ets11 and Id are also known to attenuate $p16^{INK4a}$ expression (Alani et al., 2001; Huot et al., 2002; Ohtani et al., 2001). In the end, bmi-1, cbx-7 and tbx2 have also been reported to repress the transcription of $p16^{INK4a}$, but also of ARF (reviewed by (Sharpless, 2004)) (Figure 7).



Figure 7. p16^{INK4a} induction leads to cell cycle arrest. Telomere dysfunction or oncogenic stress can activate p16^{INK4a}. This prevents CDK4,6/Cyclin D complexes to phosphorylate
pRB-family of proteins, and leads to cell cycle arrest by pRB-family of proteins inhibition of E2F. Figure adapted from (Sharpless, 2004; Sherr, 2001).

The role of p16^{INK4a} is to associate with CDK4/6 complexes, and to separate cyclin D from CDK4/6. Subsequently, Cyclin D is degraded and unactive CDK lead to pRb hypophophorylation and reactivation (Sherr, 2001). Normally, in late G1 of cycling cells, hyperphosphorylation of Rb disrupts its association with various E2F family members, which heterodimerize with DP proteins. This allows subsequent transcription of the E2F-DP target genes, which are necessary for DNA synthesis (Dyson, 1998; Nevins, 1998) (Figure 8). In the contrary, if there are high levels of p16^{INK4a} in cells, hypophosphorylation of pRB leads to cell cycle arrest.

Modulation of expression of genes downstream of p16^{INK4a} can have an effect on senescence and cell cycle, independently of p16^{INK4a}. For example, if E2F is overexpressed, it can lead quiescent cells into S phase (Johnson et al., 1993; Qin et al., 1994; Shan and Lee, 1994). In the contrary, pRb overexpression can lead to senescence, even in human immortal tumor cells (Xu et al., 1997).

Different factors can influence p16^{INK4a} action on CDKs, such as the CDKIs p21^{Cip1} and p27^{Kip1}. Their respective action is reviewed elsewhere (Sherr, 2001).



Figure 8. Transcription of E2F genes after pRb-family phosphorylation. In non-cyling cells, pRB-family of proteins are hypophosphorylated and repress transcription of E2F-DP (Malumbres and Barbacid, 2001). Once phosphorylated by Cyclin D-CDK4/6, proteins of the pRB-family dissociate from E2F, and permit transcription of E2F-DP target genes. Figure adapted from (Dyson, 1998).

1.1.6 The ARF-p53 pathway

Whereas mice lacking Arf develop normally but are highly tumor prone, MEFs from ARF null mice do not senesce and continue to proliferate much like established cell lines (Kamijo et al., 1997). The role of Arf in senescence seems to monitor latent oncogenic signals (Zindy et al., 2003). Among them, v-abl, c-myc, E1a, E2F or loss of RB have been demonstrated to induce ARF and thereby stabilize p53. In the contrary, the oncogenic transcription factors bmi-1, cbx-7, tbx-2, Twist and AML-ETO have been shown to repress p14^{ARF} (Sharpless,



2004). Among them, bmi-1, cbx-7 and tbx2 also regulate the transcription of $p16^{INK4a}$ (Figure 9).

Figure 9. The ARF/p53 pathway. Under normal circumstances, the ubiquitin ligase MDM2 blocks p53 activity by targeting it for proteasomal degradation, and by directly blocking its transcriptional activity. The functions of MDM2 are auto-regulated by a negative feedback, because MDM2 is a p53-target gene. In case of strong proliferative signals, such as oncogene activation, ARF is transcribed, and negatively regulates MDM2. This leads to increased p53

activity, and cell-cycle arrest or apoptosis. Ub, Ubiquitin. Figure adapted from (Hipfner and Cohen, 2004; Sharpless, 2004).

ARF binds to and inhibits MDM2 (Kamijo et al., 1998; Pomerantz et al., 1998; Stott et al., 1998; Zhang et al., 1998). In turn, MDM2 is an E3 ubiquitin ligase that can target p53 for proteasomal degradation. MDM2 is also able to inhibit p53-mediated transcription. The MDM2-mediated repression of p53 is regulated by a negative feedback loop because MDM2 is a p53-target gene.

In addition to its stabilizing role of p53 by inhibiting Mdm2, ARF has also been reported to inhibit cell growth independently of p53, MDM2 and p21 (Korgaonkar et al., 2002). Apart its binding to Mdm2, ARF has also been reported to bind to E2F-1, topoisomerase I, MdmX, HIF-1 α , PXF/pex19p and nucleophosmin (NPM)/B23 (Sharpless, 2004). Some of these interactions may explain p53-independent functions of ARF, and may also connect ARF not only to cell proliferation (through p53), but also to growth (through NPM and ribosomal processing).

The degradation of ARF has recently been shown to be Mdm2- and p53-independent, but depends on N-terminal polyubiquitination. Nevertheless, contrary to other ubiquitination processes, lysines are not required for ARF degradation (Kuo et al., 2004).



Figure 10. Multiple feedbacks in the Myc-Arf-Mdm2-p53 pathway. p53 negatively regulates Arf and Myc, but positively regulates Mdm2. ARF is an antagonist of Myc, but in a very specific manner on different target promoters. Only gene expression of Myc is impaired, but

not gene repression. This inhibits Myc's pro-proliferative, but not its apoptotic, functions. Figure modified from (Cleveland and Sherr, 2004).

Multiple regulations can affect the Arf-p53 pathway, and its activators. For example, evidences suggest that p53 negatively regulates Arf, by an unknown mechanism, and that p53 and Arf can negatively regulate Myc (Figure 10).



Figure 11. Link of p53 and pRb-family of proteins through p21. p53 induces p21, which inhibits different CDK complexes (Roninson, 2002). Figure modified from (Roninson, 2002; Sherr, 2004; Sherr and Roberts, 1999).

The role of p21 is to provide a link between p53 and pRB (Figure 11). The expression of p21 is high in senescent cells (Atadja et al., 1995; Itahana et al., 2001), and targeted disruption of p21 is sufficient to bypass senescence in human fibroblasts (Noda et al., 1994). Therefore, p21 may have a major role in induction of cellular senescence of human fibroblasts. In the contrary, MEFs from p21 null mice senesce normally (Pantoja and Serrano, 1999). This has led to the proposition that other factors downstream of the p19^{ARF}-p53 pathway may limit the growth of MEFs. At the molecular level, p21 (WAF1/CIP1) acts as a CDKI, but contrary to the INK4 CDKIs, p21WAF1 does not dissociate cyclin-CDK complexes. p21 associates with different cyclin-CDK complexes, and arrests cells in both G1 and G2/M stages of the cell cycle. The particular association of p21 with cyclin E and CDK2 provides a link between p53 and pRB. p21 is a p53 target, and through its association with Cyclin E and CDK2, it inactivates this complex, and maintains Rb in an hypophosphorylated form. This in turn permits the sequestration of E2F by Rb, and leads to cell cycle arrest, through activation of

E2F-DP target genes (Figure 12) (reviewed by (Roninson, 2002; Sherr, 2004; Sherr and Roberts, 1999)).



Figure 12. p21 can mediate cell cycle arrest. pRB can inhibit phosphorylation of pRB-family of proteins by interacting with cyclin/CDK complexes such as CDK2/Cyclin E, and this leads to cell cycle arrest. Figure adapted from (Dyson, 1998).

New findings suggest that p21 may have other properties, which may not be linked to cellcycle. It may regulate apoptosis, and transcriptional activation (Andres, 2004). It has also been found recently that the involvement of p21 in senescence may be triggered by telomere shortening through a pathway involving ATM and p53, but not p16^{INK4a} (Herbig et al., 2004).

1.1.7 Senescence, quiescence and apoptosis

Two cell statuses resemble senescence: quiescence and apoptosis, and they are all cell cycle arrest.

The major difference between senescence and quiescence is that the cell cycle arrest is irreversible (Beausejour et al., 2003; Dirac and Bernards, 2003; Gire and Wynford-Thomas, 1998; Sage et al., 2003). Distinct morphologic alterations are also associated with senescence, such as cellular flattening. Moreover, senescent cells also differ from quiescent cells at the molecular level. They have increased adherence, a loss of *c-fos* induction to serum stimulation, an increased expression of plasminogen activator inhibitor (PAI), the expression of senescence-associated β-galactosidase activity (Campisi, 2001), and an unusual form of heterochromatin present in discrete nuclear foci, known as senescence-associated heterochromatic foci (SAHF) (Narita et al., 2003).

Apoptosis is more related to senescence than quiescence. For instance, different experiments have linked p53 not only to senescence, but also to apoptosis (Lowe et al., 1993; Yonish-Rouach et al., 1991). A role for p16^{INK4a} in inducing apoptosis has also been suggested (Ausserlechner et al., 2001; Lagresle et al., 2002; Plath et al., 2000; Tamm et al., 2002). Moreover, cancer-related stimuli such as oncogene activation, DNA damage, and telomere shortening can not only induce senescence, but also apoptosis (Lowe and Sherr, 2003). Nevertheless, the molecular events at the basis of the decision-making between apoptosis and senescence are incompletely understood. They appear to depend on many variables including cell type, genetic context, and proliferation state.

1.1.8 Escape from senescence and crisis

Immortalization of murine cells is possible if they bypass a block of senescence, but immortalization of human cells is possible is possible only if they bypass a second block, crisis (Figure 13).



Figure 13. Immortalization and mortality stages. Normal cells have to bypass the two mortality stages M1 and M2 before to become immortal. Cells can escape the first mortality stage M1 called senescence if they bypass the pRb/p53 pathway by gene inactivation or by expression of an oncogene, and they can escape the second mortality stage M2 if they express a telomere length maintenance mechanism.

In normal human cells, cell division triggers telomere attrition (Harley et al., 1990a; Hastie et al., 1990). Critical telomere shortening causes replicative senescence, via activation of the p53 and pRb tumor suppressor pathways (Wright and Shay, 1992). Recent experiments suggest that replicative senescence is not determined by the shortest telomere, or by the mean length of all the telomeres, but rather by a specific group of chromosomes with the shortest telomeres (Zou et al., 2004). If the p53 and pRb pathways are inactivated by antisense mechanism (Hara et al., 1991) or by viral oncoproteins (Shay et al., 1991), cells can have increasing numbers of divisions before cell cycle arrest, but they finally enter into a crisis. This state is characterized by extensive telomere attrition that leads to chromosomal instability and finally to massive cell death (Counter et al., 1992a).

Rare events in cells subjected to crisis (1 in 10 million cells) lead to immortal cells that have acquired the ability to proliferate indefinitely. These cells often possess a telomerase activity

(Counter et al., 1992c). It is also at very low frequencies that virally transformed human cells escape crisis (Shay et al., 1991). In the contrary, crisis can be readily bypassed by telomerase expression (Bodnar et al., 1998b; Vaziri and Benchimol, 1998b) or by one or more mechanisms referred to as alternative lengthening of telomeres (ALT) (Bryan et al., 1997). TERT can stabilize telomere length and can lead to extension of life span (Bodnar et al., 1998b; Vaziri and Benchimol, 1998a). ALT is also a possible mechanism to maintain suitable chromosome lengths, but its mechanism of action is different from the hTERT mechanism. This mechanism is recombination-based in mammals (Roth et al., 1997). However, different ALT mechanisms exist in other organisms, such as a the retrotransposon-based ALT of *Drosophila melanogaster* (Biessmann et al., 1992). Nevertheless, even though both ALT and telomerase can extend telomere lengths, they do it at different extents. ALT mechanisms lead to large increase in average telomere length, whereas telomerase activation can lead either to normal or to short telomeres (Figure 14).



Population doublings

Figure 14. Telomere length maintenance and immortalization. When the telomere lengths of proliferating normal cells become too low, the cells undergo senescence. Cells can continue to proliferate by loss of function of key tumor suppressor genes, but the telomeres eventually

become critically short and the cells enter crisis. At this stage, activation of a telomere maintenance mechanism (telomerase or ALT) can permit cells bypass crisis and to become immortal. Telomerase activation often results in stably short telomeres, or in telomere lengthening and stabilization in the normal length range. In the contrary, ALT mechanisms result in a large increase in average telomere length, but there are very short and very long telomeres present within individual cells. Figure redrawn from (Reddel, 2003).

In immortal and malignant cells, senescence has been bypassed, and telomeres are maintained at stable lengths (Counter et al., 1994). Even when these cells have become immortal, continued expression of a telomere maintenance mechanism is still important. This was shown by the expression of a catalytically inactive mutant of hTERT in telomerase positive human cancer cell lines, that finally led to the inhibition of telomerase activity, to telomeric shortening and to widespread apopotosis (Hahn et al., 1999c; Zhang et al., 1999).

Nevertheless, in most cell types, upregulation of a telomerase maintenance mechanism is not sufficient to trigger immortalization. In fact, even though cells may harbor long telomeres, this is often not sufficient to trigger immortalization, except for some fibroblasts or for fetal hepatocytes (Blasco, 2002; Espejel and Blasco, 2002; Kiyono et al., 1998; Wege et al., 2003; Wei et al., 1999).

All these evidences suggest that both the block of the pRb/p53 pathways and the activation of a mechanism for telomere length maintenance are required to bypass senescence and crisis. When this is ensured, immortal cells can be obtained, and they can be non-tumorigenic. Nevertheless, additional modifications can render these cells tumorigenic. For instance, if cells express not only hTERT, but also SV40 small and large T antigen, and activated Ras, they become transformed (Hahn et al., 1999a).

1.1.9 Crisis and genetic instabilities



Figure 15. Genomic instabilities in cells bypassing senescence without activation of a telomere length maintenance mechanism. If cells bypass senescence without to express telomerase or ALT, telomeric shortenings lead to chromosomal instabilities. This source of mutations can permit to some rare cells (1 in 10 millions) (Radisky et al., 2002), to bypass crisis if they express a telomerase maintenance mechanism, such as telomerase or ALT. If cells express only at a late point a telomere length maintenance mechanism, they may be the subject of genome rearrangements, and this may lead to transformed phenotypes.

Even if cancer cells may be immortal, they may still have to evolve to acquire a large number of mutations, which will allow the acquisition of new cancerous properties (Loeb, 2001). Two different types of mutations can lead either to "microsatellite instabilities neoplasias" (MIN) or to "chromosomal instabilities neoplasias" (CIN). MIN are characterized by mutations in repetitive sequences, whereas CIN are characterized by chromosomal instabilities such as chromosomal breakages, translocations, and aneuploidy. The vast majority of human cancers are of the CIN type, but the molecular basis of CIN is less clear than that of MIN. CIN-type of cancers are related to defective DNA mismatch repair (Lengauer et al., 1998). In the contrary, MIN cancers stem from defects in the mitotic checkpoint, from nonhomologous end-joining, and from DNA replication, as well as from increased oxidative stress and from telomere dysfunction (Bohr and Dianov, 1999; Elledge, 1996; O'Driscoll et al., 2001; O'Hagan et al., 2002; Shen et al., 2000). During crisis, it has been observed that telomere attrition leads to chromosomal instability and to massive cell death (Counter et al., 1992a). However, 1 in 10 millions cells escape crisis (Radisky et al., 2002), and these cells have often acquired mutations that have allowed upregulation of telomerase or of ALT. At this point, cells often also display a mutation-prone phenotype and the additional mutations that are provided from this point on are thought to be necessary for the cells to acquire complex tumorigenic phenotypes.

1.1.10 Somatic mutation theory of carcinogenesis

Different theories have been proposed for the origin of cancer cells (Soto and Sonnenschein, 2004). The prevailing theory for the last 50 years has been the somatic mutation theory of carcinogenesis (SMT). According to this theory, cancer cells are derived from a single somatic cell that has accumulated mutations over time. Two main evidences were supporting this theory. First, carcinogenic chemicals were mutagenic. Second, the oncogenes responsible for cancers were found to be mutated versions of the cellular proto-oncogenes. Another evidence supporting this theory was that DNA fragments from chemically transformed cells were able to transform recipient cells (Cooper, 1983).

Accordingly, two types of mutations were described to participate to carcinogenesis. They included the gain-of-functions of oncogenes, but also the loss-of-function of tumor suppressors. These gain- and loss-of-functions could define not only what events were necessary to transform cells, but also the new properties that cancer cells had to acquire before to become fully tumorigenic.

1.1.11 Properties of cancer cells

Hanahan and Weinberg have identified six "hallmark features" of metastatic cancer cells:

they generate their own mitogenic signals,

they overcome the growth-inhibitory signals,

they evade apoptosis,

they proliferate without limit,

they acquire vasculature,

they invade tissues,

they metastasize (Figure 15) (Hanahan and Weinberg, 2000).

It is often assumed that all tumor cells finally acquire all these properties, in a more or less determined order. However, it should be noted that (in rare cases) death can occur before cancer cells metastasize, because, for example, an organ important for survival has been too severely damaged. Moreover, discussions exist to know if these cancerous properties should be acquired in a strict order. The path toward tumorigenesis can be different in histologically similar cancers, and can be still more different in different forms of cancers (Hanahan and Weinberg, 2000). Nonetheless, in some cases, it is not simply mutations, but also their order that may be important to determine the propensity for neoplasia (Kinzler and Vogelstein, 1996).



Figure 16. Different properties of cancer cells. See text for details.

1.1.12 How many mutations are required to trigger oncogenesis?

Mutations or deregulations of oncogenes or of tumor suppressors can both contribute to the acquisition of neoplasic phenotypes (DePinho and Jacks, 2001; Hakem and Mak, 2001; Knudson, 2001). In fact, dominantly acting oncogenes and recessive tumor suppressors are often mutated or lose a large portion of their genetic sequences in tumorigenesis (Sager, 1989). This implies that sequencing whole genomes of normal and cancer cells would permit the discovery of genes mutated in cancers, and would permit to know how many genes need to be mutated in cancers. Nevertheless, this method has two disadvantages. First, genome-sequencing of mutated cells is not yet feasible. Second, even if this method would exist, it would not be able to find the genes that contribute to cancer, but only the genes that are mutated. However, in cancers, dysfunction of genes may not always be caused only by

mutations but also by aberrant expression. In fact, a lot of genes important for carcinogenesis have already been shown to be differentially regulated in an epigenetic manner. For instance, tumor-suppressors have CpG islands of nucleotides in their promoter sequences that may be methylated and that may contribute to the expression of these genes (Baylin and Bestor, 2002). Usage of microarrays would be the tool of choice to determine the aberrantly functioning genes. Nevertheless, in this case, it may be difficult to find the genes relevant in carcinogenesis among a wide array of differentially expressed genes. For these reasons, the exact number of genes must be deregulated or mutated to induce tumorigenesis will probably not be defined soon, even though a lot of progress has already been done in this area. For the moment, it is assumed that at least four to six mutations might be required to reach tumorigenesis in humans, and fewer mutations seem to be required in mice (Hahn and Weinberg, 2002).

1.1.13 Pathways leading to tumorigenesis

Cancer cells have usually to become immortal, and then they often have to acquire additional features to become fully tumorigenic. Immortalization of human cells requires maintenance of a sufficient telomere length and inactivation of the retinoblastoma (pRB) and p53 tumor suppressor pathways. Maintenance of a sufficient telomere length is possible by activation of telomerase or of an alternative telomere length maintenance (ALT) mechanism. Inactivation of the pRB and p53 pathways is possible by large T antigen expression. At this stage, cells are immortal, but not yet tumorigenic. Until now, only few experiments were able to induce tumorigenesis of immortalized cells after addition of defined genetic elements. These experiments showed that if tumorigenesis was triggered, both the phosphatase 2A (PP2A) and the *H-RAS* pathways were perturbed. This was done by addition of small t antigen, and by *H-RAS* overexpression (Zhao et al., 2004) (Figure 17).



Figure 17. Pathways thought to be implicated in human cell transformation. This figure was modified from (Hahn and Weinberg, 2002; Zhao et al., 2004). More complicated pathways leading to tumorigenesis can be seen elsewhere (Hanahan and Weinberg, 2000).

The tumor suppressor PP2A is as a serine/threonine-specific phosphatase that regulates different signal transduction pathways, cell cycle progression, DNA replication, gene transcription and protein translation (Janssens et al., 2005). Its implication in tumorigenesis has been observed in various human cells where LT + ST + Ras + hTERT have been introduced. In such experiments, a mutant of ST unable to bind PP2A was also used. With this mutant, tumorigenesis was not observed (Hahn et al., 2002).

Even though it is known that the Ras pathway may be implicated in tumorigenesis, the precise protein(s) that are implicated in this phenomenon are not yet known. However, the anchorage-independence survival and growth of cancer cells seem to be mediated by PI3K, Stat3, and guanosine triphosphatases (GTPases) such as Cdc42 and Rac1 (Wang, 2004). Normally, cells have to adhere to their neighboring cells or to the extracellular matrix (ECM). If it is not the case, cells usually die or stop dividing. For instance, if epithelial cells lose their adhesion to their substratum, they undergo apoptosis. This phenomenon is known as "anoikis". In the

contrary, if fibroblasts are deprived from their substratum adhesion, they only undergo cell cycle arrest. In any case, if cells can survive and grow, without to be anchorage-dependant, they have acquired one important property of cancers cells. The exact proteins allowing anchorange-independent growth are not known, but Rho and Cdc42 are candidates for obtention of this function. These proteins were initially known to regulate the formation of stress fibers and filopodia. Nevertheless, additional cellular functions have been subsequently discovered for these proteins, notably in cell growth, motility and transformation. This makes of these proteins interesting candidates for acquisition of properties related to anchorange-independent growth (Wang, 2004).

Other proteins have been involved not in the genesis of tumors such as the acquisition of anchorange-independent properties, but in metastasis tumor suppression. Then, it is not their induction that is thought to be important to induce tumorigenesis, as for Rho and Cdc42, but their downregulation. These proteins include KISS1, MKK4, BRMS1, CRSP3, TXNIP, Cadherins, SSeCKS, Nm23, KAI1 (CD82), TIMPs, RhoGDI2 and DRG-1. The roles that are currently proposed for these proteins in tumorigenesis are reviewed elsewhere (Shevde and Welch, 2003).

Until now, we have described mutations or modifications in cells that may trigger immortalization, and even tumorigenesis. Nevertheless, mutations in one single cell might not be sufficient to explain all cancers, because it is known that tumors may be heterogeneous in cell types. This has led to two proposals. Either cancer cells may originate from stem cells, or cancer cells may modulate other cell types in their environment.

1.1.14 Cancer, stem cells, and cancer stem cells

Stem cells have the capacity to self-renew indefinitely, but also to differentiate into the mature cells of the organ in which they reside. Some articles have suggested that these stem cells also have the capacity to transdifferentiate into other tissues. However, more recent studies have shown that this plasticity is the result of a rare fusion event between stem cells (or progenitor cells) and a cell of another organ (Vassilopoulos et al., 2003; Wagers et al., 2002; Wang et al.,

2003). The self-renewal capability of stem cells closely resembles the properties of at least some of the cancer cells, which are immortal. This similarity led to the proposal that at least some cancer cells might originate from stem cells. Cancer cells are nonetheless different from stem cells, because the proliferation of stem cells is tightly regulated (Morrison et al., 2002; Phillips et al., 2000; Phillips et al., 1992). Then, if cancer cells arise from stem cells, they would have to bypass these mechanisms of growth regulation. Further studies suggested that some cells in a cancer are derived from stem cells. For instance, only a minority of cancer cells have the capability to form a tumor once transplanted into another host, because only this subpopulation is able to proliferate extensively. This has been demonstrated with acute myelogenous leukaemia (AML), where only a minority of AML cells form tumors once transferred into NOD/SCID (non-obese diabetic/severe combined immunodeficient) mice (Lapidot et al., 1994). The tumor-forming cells closely resemble to normal haematopoietic stem cells (HSCs) in their cell-surface markers, in their multipotency and in their hierarchical self-renewal properties. This experiment put forward the concept of cancer stem cells, and it was suggested that leukemia stem cells either derive from HSCs or from more differentiated cells through acquisition of HSC properties.

In short, stem cells could be good candidates as cells of origin for cancer, because they already have the capacity for self-renewal and unlimited replication (Reya et al., 2001; Taipale and Beachy, 2001) that at least some cancer cells possess. The concept of cancer stem cells could also be interesting to explain why some cells can, once transplanted in NOD/SCID mice, reconstitute the heterogeneous surface markers that were present in the original cancer (Al-Hajj et al., 2003). Nevertheless, the general validity of the cancer stem cells concept has not been proven, and it is possible that cancers arise from other cells than stem cells. If cancer stem cells exist, they might also derive from more committed cells, and they might get stem cells properties by genetic or epigenetic changes that confer self-renewal ability (Passegue et al., 2003). This theory of cancer stem cells is interesting, that is why it has been presented here, but it is certainly not considered nowadays to be the main source of cancers. Moreover, now, experiments suggest that it is not only the genetic and epigenetic characteristic of a cell that counts for the explanation of its cancerous property, but also its context. This will be discussed now.

1.1.15 Context counts

It is often considered that the default state of a cell is quiescence. Then, the events leading to cancers would be mostly activation of dominant oncogenes in one cell. This view is notably supported by studies with oncogenes from Oncoretroviruses that have dominant effects on cells, and transform them toward a cancerous phenotype. This has led to the formulation of the somatic mutation theory of carcinogenesis (SMT), which considers that accumulation of mutations in one single renegade cell is the cause of cancer. However, one might also consider that the default state of a cell might be proliferation (Sonnenschein and Soto, 2005). Indeed, the basics concepts of natural evolution suggest that it would favor dividing cells: if cells are in a suitable environment, and if they have enough nutrients, they should multiply (Harris, 2004). Considering this, if cells are in a clement environment, with adequate nutrient supply, and if they do not multiply, these cells are not in "resting", they are repressed. This conceptual view has some implications. First, it may suggest that the events leading to cancers would be mostly inactivation of recessive tumor suppressors. Second, it may suggest that the environment is important for the cell status of a cell. This would imply that mutations in one single cell may not be sufficient for carcinogenesis, independently of its environment. For this reason, this view was called the tissue organization field theory of carcinogenesis and metastasis (TOFT).

TOFT is verified in a large extent in heritable and acquired cancers, because they are mainly the results of gene inactivation, such as of Rb and p53. The context also seems to be important in other types of carcinogenesis, because, for example, teratocarcinoma cells can reverse their cancerous phenotype once placed into early embryos (Soto and Sonnenschein, 2004). This view is still supported by a new publication, which shows the importance of the stroma in the establishment of a cancer phenotype (Barclay et al., 2005). In this article, the same cell line can be cancerous or not, depending on the stromal cells used. Moreover, the cancer phenotype can be reversible if a new "normal" stroma is provided.

1.1.16 The cellular environment

Different signals from the environment of a cell can have an influence on its development in general, but also on the acquisition of carcinogenesis properties of this cell. For instance, stromal cells can affect the tumorigenesis of epithelial cells in a reciprocal way (Figure 18) (Radisky et al., 2001). More generally, environmental pressures, inflammation, immune activation, and acquired or inherited genetic mutations can influence tumorigenesis. Inflammation in general seems to trigger tumorigenesis, so that inhibition of cyclooxygenase-2 (COX2), an enzyme that is involved in the synthesis of prostaglandins, has an antitumorigenic activity (Prescott and Fitzpatrick, 2000). Fibrotic tissues, such as breast scars, have also been shown to predispose to cancers (Jacobs et al., 1999b). Such discoveries have led to the emergence of new therapies of hepatocarcinoma, where not only conventional chemotherapies are used, but where fibrosis is also targeted. Inflammatory conditions can trigger stromal fibroblasts to upregulate enzymes such as matrix metaloproteases (MMPs). In general, changes in the composition of the extracellular matrix (ECM) can lead to changes in gene expression, which notably lead to changes in cell shape and behavior (Roskelley et al., 1995). In fact, the differential composition of the basement membrane can lead not only to proliferation, but also to growth arrest and to apoptosis (Bissell and Radisky, 2001). Among the different changes that can affect the composition of the ECM, expression of stromelysin-1 (SL-1, also known as MMP-3) has been shown to be sufficient to lead to preneoplastic or even to neoplastic phenotypes (Thomasset et al., 1998).



Figure 18. Model of reciprocal activation between stromal and epithelial cells. Genetic modifications or external stimuli such as chronic inflammation or environmental insults can activate epithelial or stromal cells. In turn, the neighboring cells are activated, and this finally might lead to tumorigenesis. Figure modified from (Radisky et al., 2001).

It is not only the extracellular matrix, but also the links between cells, which can be important in tumorigenesis. As a result, loss or alteration of some components implicated in celladhesion, such as E-cadherin, but not N-cadherin, can lead to tumorigenesis (Seidel et al., 2004). Moreover, differential expression of β -catenin, α -catenin, connexin 32 (Cx32) and Cx43 have also been shown to be important during tumor progression (Bissell and Radisky, 2001). Some myoepithelial proteins were even shown to suppress transformation of luminal epithelial cells *in vivo*. They include α -smooth muscle actin, Cytokeratin 5, α 6-integrin, Caveolin-1, Connexin 43, Maspin, TIMP-1, Relaxin, and Activin (Bissell and Radisky, 2001). These proteins are produced by myoepithelial cells in the breast, and have been termed "class II tumor suppressors" (Sager, 1997) (Figure 19).

Protein	Function
α-smooth muscle actin	Cell structure
Cytokeratin 5	Cell structure
α6-integrin	ECM receptor
Caveolin-1	Cell-surface molecule
Connexin 43	Gap-junction component
Maspin	Protease inhibitor
TIMP-1	Protease inhibitor
Relaxin	Hormone
Activin	Hormone

Figure 19. The myoepithelial proteins that were shown to have tumor-suppressor activities. Figure taken from (Bissell and Radisky, 2001).

It has been proposed that reciprocal activation mechanisms occur between different cells in early tumors. As a result, this would activate some of the normal wound-healing responses, which might increase angiogenesis in a "vasculogenetic mimicry" (Bissell and Radisky, 2001).

Beside the importance of the ECM, of reciprocal activation of cells, and of wound healing responses in tumor formation, the immune system may also play role. Indeed, the immune system may not only limit tumor formation, but it may also be a tumor activator in some cases. For instance, NK cells can not only kill HLA-low cells, but it can also provide positive

signals for the progression of preneoplastic lesions, by producing MMPs, and degradation of ECM can further activates fibroblasts and angiogenesis (Bissell and Radisky, 2001).

1.1.17 Escape from the immune system

The immune system can to some extent limit or prevent tumor formation, and the T cells are main effectors for this immune surveillance. However, the innate immune system, which includes natural killer cells, macrophages, monocytes and mast cells, is also involved in immune response against tumors.

Cancer cells, in their development, can be more or less susceptible to attacks of the innate immune response. During the early stages of carcinogenesis, tumor cells are poor stimulators, or become resistant to the immune response. Malignant cells can escape to the action of cytotoxic T lymphocytes (CTLs) that recognize processed cancer peptides on human leukocyte antigens (HLA) class I by downregulating their immunogenicity (Algarra et al., 2004). Then, even though the primary tumor is HLA-positive, during development, HLA-low cells appear and are negatively immunoselected by T-lymphocyte antitumor responses. Nevertheless, the cells that escape to T lymphocytes harbor at their surface less HLA proteins, and this is recognized by killer cell inhibitory receptors (KIRs) of natural killer (NK) cells, which lead to NK-mediated killing of the HLA-low cells (Figure 20). However, the antitumorigenic killing of NK can also be escaped by cancer cells, for example if they upregulate only some HLA class I haplotypes, or if they lose the activatory NK receptors (Algarra et al., 2004).



Figure 20. HLA class I interactions with T-lymphocytes and NK cells. Cancer peptides are presented on HLA class I and are recognized by cytotoxic T lymphocytes, which kill the transformed cells. Cells can escape from cytotoxic T lymphocytes by downregulating HLA class I complexes, but then NK cells recognize the lack of HLA class I cells and kill the potentially transformed, HLA-low, cells. Figure redrawn from (Garcia-Lora et al., 2003).

Tumors can evolve not only to escape the immune system; they can also modulate the immune system. For example, macrophage migration inhibitory factor (MIF) has been associated with tumor progression. It can be overexpressed in tumor cells, and might contribute not only to suppress immune surveillance, but also to suppress p53 function (Bissell and Radisky, 2001). At later stages, the tumors can impair the adaptive immune response by blocking the maturation and function of APCs. This leads to alteration of T-cell signal transduction and function (Rodriguez et al., 2003).

1.1.18 Immune senescence

Increase in cancer in elderly people may be explained by the multiple mutations that require tumorigenesis. However, with aging, there is also a decline in the T- and B-cell associated functions. This is termed immunosenescence (Hakim et al., 2004). These two phenomenons may both lead to increased tumorigenesis in the elderly, and they are difficult to dissociate

methodologically, but this topic has nevertheless become a new area of investigation. It has been shown that bone marrow stem cells renewal capacities decrease with age. Stem cells also mobilize less efficiently with age, and they commit less efficiently to lymphopoiesis. In the elder people, there is a decline in germinal center formation, diminished FDC function, diminished circulating memory B cells, lower T cell number, lower T cell functions, lower CD5+ B cells, and lower CD40 levels on B cells. Nevertheless, lower NK function is compensated by higher NK numbers, so that the total NK-cell toxicity remains stable. Despite this, both T-dependant and T-independent B-cell responses are diminished with aging. More importantly, there are alterations in T cell populations. There is a decline in naïve T cells, but there are also more memory cells and more effector cells with limited T-cell repertoire (Hakim et al., 2004).

1.1.19 Tests of carcinogenesis

Different in vitro and in vivo tests have been used to characterize and detect tumor cells.

In vitro tests include focus formation and colony formation assays, which can discriminate if cells still possess respectively, contact inhibition properties, or anchorage-dependence growth (Jacobsen et al., 2002).

For *in vivo* tests, different mouse strains have been used. The results of the tests for carcinogenesis largely depend on the genetic background of the mice used (Algarra et al., 2004). For example, chemically induced sarcomas produced in nude and SCID mice are more immunogenic than similar sarcoma cells induced in congenic immunocompetent mice. The classical model used for tumorigenesis is the athymic nude mouse, which is deprived of T lymphocytes (Rolstad, 2001). These mice have nonetheless NK and dendritic cells, and they may contribute to immune responses in the absence of mature T cells. Particularly, KIR-ligand mismatch in cell transplantation may trigger NK cell alloreactivity (Malmberg et al., 2005).

1.2 Genes used for immortalization

It would be too long to review all the genes that could be used for immortalization. For this reason, it was chosen to review only the genes that are of particular interest for us. They include telomerase, ALT, Bmi-1, SV40 Early region genes, and Bcl-2. These genes have the property to inhibit different proteins involved in the pathway toward senescence (Figure 21), but they also have additional functions, which will also be discussed now.



Figure 21. The Pathways depending upon p16^{INK4a}-Rb or ARF-p53, with various inhibitors of these pathways. Figure modified from (Drayton and Peters, 2002; Lowe and Sherr, 2003; Sharpless et al., 2004; Sherr, 2001; Sherr, 2004; Zhao et al., 2004).

1.2.1 Telomerase

More than sixty years ago, Barbara McClintock predicted from experiments in maize that telomeres are able to protect chromosomes from end-to-end fusion. From then on, a lot of progress has been done in the elucidation of the telomeric structures. Telomeres are composed of repeats of the hexanucleotide sequence TTAGGG at each chromosome end (Moyzis et al., 1988). The size of these repeated sequences is up to 15 kb of tandem repeats, but diminishes of 50-150 bp after each cell division (Harley et al., 1990a). The decrease in telomere may not always be constant for each cell division, depending on the environment of the cells. Stresses, and particularly hypoxia, induce increased shortenings of telomeres (von Zglinicki et al., 1995). As discussed earlier, telomere length has been taken as a marker of ageing because life-span can be extended by overexpression of telomerase (Bodnar et al., 1998a; Vaziri and Benchimol, 1998b). Nevertheless, telomere length is not sufficient *per se* to define ageing, because it has been shown that cells can senesce even though they harbor long telomeric sequences (Gorbunova et al., 2002; Wei et al., 1999).



Figure 22. The human telomerase ribonucleoprotein complex. Telomerase RNA (red) must interact with H/ACA proteins (including dyskerin, green) to accumulate in cells as stable, processed functional RNA. TERT (blue) has reverse transcriptase properties, but probably other proteins must join the ribonucleoprotein complex to form a fully functional telomerase. Figure redrawn from (Wong and Collins, 2003).

Telomerase is a ribonucleic complex (Greider and Blackburn, 1985) composed of an RNA molecule, referred to as TR or TER, and a catalytic subunit, TERT. The RNA component of telomerase must interact with H/ACA proteins, like dyskerin, to be processed and to function properly (Figure 22). Telomerase is an enzyme that possesses reverse transcriptase activity, which can compensate the loss of telomeric sequences that occurs during DNA replication (Bryan and Cech, 1999).

Telomeres must be capped, so that the ends of chromosomes are not recognized as DNA breaks. Otherwise, telomeres are recognized by the DNA-repair machinery (Blackburn, 2001; Chan and Blackburn, 2002; Goytisolo and Blasco, 2002), often leading to cell-cycle arrest and/or apoptosis (De Lange, 2002; Goytisolo and Blasco, 2002). However, a "repair" can occur, it is triggered by the standard DNA repair machinery. However, this repair is not suitable for telomeres. After the DNA-damage responses, end-to-end chromosomes fusions happen, and this leads to loss of genomic integrity. Ku86, the protein which is essential for non-homologous end-joining (NHEJ) of DNA double strand breaks (DSBs), has been shown to mediate both end-to-end chromosome fusions and apoptosis that is triggered by critically short telomeres. This indicated that NHEJ proteins detect and signal the presence of non-capped telomeres (Espejel et al., 2002).

The functionality of telomeres does not only depend on a sufficient telomere length. Telomere capping requires a minimum length of TTAGGG repeats, the integrity of the 3'-overhang and functional telomere-binding proteins (De Lange, 2002; Espejel et al., 2002; Goytisolo and Blasco, 2002).



Figure 23. The Pathways depending upon p16^{INK4a}-Rb or ARF-p53, with telomerase or ALT actions. Figure modified from (Drayton and Peters, 2002; Lowe and Sherr, 2003; Sharpless et al., 2004; Sherr, 2001; Sherr, 2004; Zhao et al., 2004).

In some circumstances, if telomerase is expressed at a sufficient level in cells, it can be a sufficient condition for them to be or to become immortal. Normal cells, such as germ cells and a sub-population of adult stem cells, have telomeres maintained at a constant length, and are immortal (Harley et al., 1990a; Reyes et al., 2001). Some normal non-immortal cells can also be immortalized if telomerase is activated (Counter et al., 1992b), or if there is presence of an ALT mechanism (Bryan et al., 1995). Concerning cancers, 85% of them are telomerase-positive (Shay and Bacchetti, 1997), but additional features are also modified in these cells.

Telomerase has already been overexpressed at non-physiological levels, as shown in the telomerase-transgenic mice (Gonzalez-Suarez et al., 2001). In such a situation, there is no abnormal telomere lengthening, probably reflecting the existence of a regulated structure (T-loops) at the telomere (Blasco, 2002). If telomerase is upregulated in cells, the lengths of telomeres increase if they are too short, and survival signals from capping of telomeres are

triggered. This often allows the cells to become immortal, or to survive longer. In the contrary, if the regulation of the telomeres is inappropriate, such as in the case of NHEJ or TRF2 mutations, telomere fusions, cell cycle arrest and apoptosis can happen, even though the telomere length may be sufficient, and even though there may be telomerase activity (Blasco, 2002).

Senescence can be bypassed by hTERT overexpression, even in some human cells (Bodnar et al., 1998a). However, it has been reported that hTERT-immortalized fibroblasts can gradually acquire features associated with a transformed phenotype, so that safety concerns should be raised before hTERT-immortalized cells can be used for cell therapy (Milyavsky et al., 2003). Even though hTERT-mediated immortalization can escape genomic instability, in some cases, hTERT expression was not sufficient to induce immortalization. This suggests that, often, other mechanisms may exist (in addition to telomere length measure) to avoid that cells become immortal (Drayton and Peters, 2002; Yaswen and Stampfer, 2002). In cases of telomere-independent induced senescence, accumulation of p16^{*INK4a*} was observed. This suggested that p16^{*INK4a*} might be a sensor for telomere-independent induced senescence. However, p16^{*INK4a*} accumulation was also suggested to be a result of inadequate growth conditions (Dickson et al., 2000; Herbert et al., 2002; Kiyono et al., 1998; Ramirez et al., 2001; Yaswen and Stampfer, 2002).

In addition to telomere maintenance, telomerase may have additional carcinogenesis properties (Blasco, 2002). Telomere shortening below a critical level results in end-to-end chromosome fusions, and dicentric chromosomes might generate the chromosome instability which seems to be important for the cancer cells. It may allow them to acquire new mutations that may induce in them new carcinogenetic properties (Artandi and DePinho, 2000; Gisselsson et al., 2001; Hackett et al., 2001). Moreover, telomerase might have pro-survival and anti-apoptotic activities to maintain cell survival and proliferation, independently of its telomerase enzymatic activity (Cao et al., 2002). It has already been observed that telomerase may contribute to tumorigenesis by a telomere length-independent mechanism, because the immortal ALT cell line GM847 could be transformed after the addition H-Ras and telomerase, but not after the expression of H-Ras alone (Stewart et al., 2002b).

Telomerase and telomere length has been implicated in different diseases, such as in HIV and in chronic hepatitis or liver cirrhoses (Wong and Collins, 2003). Telomere length implication in Duchenne's Muscular Dystrophy is also discussed (Oexle and Kohlschutter, 2001).

1.2.2 Alternative lengthening of telomeres (ALT)

Some cells are immortalized, but they are telomerase-negative. In such a case, until now, their telomere length was shown to be maintained through one or more mechanisms referred to as alternative lengthening of telomeres (ALT) (Bryan et al., 1997). In humans, ALT uses some telomeric sequences (or extrachromosomal telomeric DNA) as a copy template to elongate one particular telomere. This mechanism was demonstrated by inserting a DNA tag into a telomere of ALT cells, and in this experimental setting, the tag was copied on to other telomeres (Reddel, 2003). As a result, telomere length maintenance by TERT or by ALT are functionally two different mechanisms. The first mechanism is using a template in the enzyme telomerase to add sequences to the telomeres, while the second uses telomeric sequences from one telomere as a template to elongate another one. Consistent with this, ALT expressing cells are insensitive to inhibition of the hTERT function by the dominant-negative enzyme (Hahn et al., 1999b). In the contrary of telomerase positive cells, ALT cells have extremely heterogeneous telomere lengths, ranging from very short to extremely long (Bryan et al., 1997). This pattern of varying telomere sizes in one single cell is not seen in most normal human and murine cell types. Currently, no normal cell is known to express a normal counterpart of ALT, which would have the same activity as ALT in transformed or cancerous cells. It is only in telomerase-null mice that an ALT mechanism could be observed in some B cells (Herrera et al., 2000). Despite few human or murine cells seem to possess an ALT mechanism, some species of mammalian cells can have non-telomerase mechanisms for the conservation of their telomere length. For instance, mosquitoes (Anopheles gambiae) use a recombination-based ALT mechanism (Roth et al., 1997) and Drosophila melanogaster use a retrotransposon-based ALT (Biessmann et al., 1992) instead of telomerase.

Based on a limited number of published evidences, it seems that the expression of an ALT mechanism is present more often in cell lines and tumors of mesenchymal origin than in those of epithelial origin (Henson et al., 2002).

Some tumors have been shown to possess both ALT and telomerase activity (Bryan et al., 1997). *In vivo*, it is not known if this is the result of two processes of carcinogenesis. If it was the case, however, this would explain why there is sometimes within a tumor heterogeneity of ALT+ and telomerse+ cancer cells. However, these mechanisms may not exclude each other in a cell. Indeed, it has been shown *in vitro* that these two telomere length mechanisms (TMM) can coexist within the same tumor cells (Cerone et al., 2001; Grobelny et al., 2001; Perrem et al., 2001; Stewart et al., 2002a).



1.2.3 Bmi-1

Figure 24. The Pathways depending upon p16^{INK4a}-Rb or ARF-p53, with Bmi-1 action on both pathways. Figure modified from (Drayton and Peters, 2002; Lowe and Sherr, 2003; Sharpless et al., 2004; Sherr, 2001; Sherr, 2004; Zhao et al., 2004).

Bmi-1 stands for B lymphoma Mo-MLV insertion region (van Lohuizen et al., 1991). The name of this gene derives from the manner it was discovered. It was observed that constitutive expression of the *myc* oncogene alone is not sufficient to cause B cell lymphoma. In an attempt to identify genes that cooperate with myc in B cell transformation, transgenic animals were used, in which the expression of myc was increased by placing an immunoglobulin heavy chain enhancer near myc ($E\mu$ -*myc*). These animals were shown to develop lymphomagenesis only after a certain period of time, suggesting that other events are necessary to promote tumors (Adams et al., 1985; Cory and Adams, 1988). Nevertheless, these additional mutations are often small, and difficult to find in the genome, complicating the search for new genes cooperating in oncogenesis. In the contrary, retroviral insertion can permit to activate oncogenes, and this mutation can be easily found by classical inverse PCR methods. In the case of B cell transformation, one day old $E\mu$ -*myc* transgenic mice were infected by 10⁵ infectious units of Mo-MLV. This infection led to a dramatic acceleration of lymphomagenesis, and permitted to discover that in 35% of tumors, proviruses were integrated in the *bmi*-1 gene (van Lohuizen et al., 1991).

Bmi-1 is expressed in most organs, but higher levels can be detected in thymus, heart muscle, and brain. Relatively high levels of Bmi-1 were also found in testis, in embryonal stem cells, in placenta and in day 10.5 mouse embryos (van Lohuizen et al., 1991). This data pointed to a role of Bmi-1 in immortal cells, and indeed, Bmi-1 was subsequently shown to be necessary for self-renewing cell divisions of adult HSCs as well as adult peripheral and central nervous system neural stem cells (Molofsky et al., 2003; Park et al., 2003). It is also likely that Bmi-1 regulates the self-renewal of other types of somatic stem cells, because there is a broad range of phenotypic changes observed in *Bmi1*-deficient mice, including posterior transformation and neurological abnormalities (van der Lugt et al., 1994).

The main roles of Bmi-1 seem to be mediated mainly by its capacity to inhibit p16^{INK4a} and p19^{ARF}, the two open-reading frame products of the INK4A-ARF tumor suppressor locus (Sharpless, 2004). Overexpression of Bmi-1 is associated with increases in the probability of neoplastic proliferation in lymphocytes (Alkema et al., 1997; Haupt et al., 1993). Bmi-1 may also play a key role in some cancers, including in mantle cell lymphomas, in B-cell non-Hodgkin lymphoma and in non-small cell lung cancer (Bea et al., 2001; van Kemenade et al., 2001; Vonlanthen et al., 2001). Bmi-1 has different effects in mouse or human fibroblasts. On

the first hand, in normal mouse embryonic fibroblasts (MEFs), overexpression of *Bmi-1* resulted in a proliferative advantage and extended MEF lifespan. After a slow growth period, *Bmi-1* overexpression even allowed immortalization of MEFs (Jacobs et al., 1999a). On the other hand, in WI-38 human fetal lung fibroblasts, Bmi-1 extended replicative lifespan but did not induce immortalization when overexpressed (Itahana et al., 2003). This discrepancy between human and rodent immortalization has often been explained by the fact that there is telomerase expression in most of the murine cells. Other data, in other systems, support the hypothesis that immortalization or infinite life span provided with *Bmi-1* overexpression is more likely if there is also telomerase expression.

There is evidence that Bmi-1 might upregulate telomerase expression in human mammary epithelial cells (MECs) and might play a role in the development of human breast cancer (Dimri et al., 2002). Mammary tissue can be explanted into tissue culture medium, and forms a heterogeneous population of MECs, termed preselection MECs. However, in vitro, only rare MECs are able to grow, they are termed postselection MECs. In these postselection MECs, the *p16Ink4a* gene is silenced, but the cells do not immortalize spontaneously, and they undergo replicative senescence though they have 30-40 additional doublings compared to preselection MECs (Brenner et al., 1998; Wong et al., 1999). In this system, postselection MECs but not preselection MECs can be immortalized by overexpression of either hTERT, human papillomavirus (HPV) E6, or Bmi-1. However, *Bmi-1* immortalization of postselection MECs was associated with higher hTERT expression (Dimri et al., 2002).

Bmi-1 does not only downregulate p16^{Ink4a} and p19^{Arf}, and microarrays experiments have shown that it also regulates stem cell–associated genes, survival genes, antiproliferative genes, and genes associated with stem cell fate decisions (Figure 25).



Figure 25. Postulated Bmi-1 targets. Self-renewal signals trigger stem cells to upregulate Bmi-1 levels. This inhibits p16Ink4a and p19Arf, but also Hox genes, chemokine orphan receptor 1 (RDC1) and tight junction protein (TJP). Bmi-1 also possibly activates, via indirect mechanisms, some genes including telomerase, apoptosis inhibitor-6 (Ai6), and platelet-activating factor acetylhydrolase (PAF-AH⁷). These genes likely play a role in stem cell fate decisions including self-renewal and differentiation. Figure modified from (Park et al., 2004; Park et al., 2003).

The particular role of Bmi-1 in senescence has made of this gene a new candidate for immortalizing cells (Dimri et al., 2002; Jacobs et al., 1999a; Milyavsky et al., 2003; Salmon et al., 2000; Vonlanthen et al., 2001; Zeisig et al., 2004).

1.2.4 SV40 large T antigen



Figure 26. Production of SV40 Large T (LT), small T (ST) and 17kT antigens by SV40 early region. LT, ST and 17kT are produced by alternative splicings of the SV40 early region. All these proteins share the same 82 amino acids in their N-terminus, which has a DnaJ-related sequence. LT binds to the RB family members by its LXCXE sequence, and binds to p53 in two regions of its C-terminal part. ST binds to Phosphatase 2A (PP2A) by means of an intron in the LT-coding sequence. 17kT shares the amino-terminal part of LT, but a second splicing terminates this protein with three amino acids from an alternate reading frame (Boyapati et al., 2003). The resulting 17kT protein binds to RB, but not to p53 or PP2A (Rundell and Parakati, 2001).

Simian virus 40 (SV40) can ultimately transform cells with three proteins: large T (TAg or LT), small T (tAg or ST), and 17 kT antigens. All these proteins are produced by alternative splicing of SV40 early region (Figure 26). However, in practice, a lot of authors may talk about TAg, when they are using in fact the complete SV40 early region. Then, they are using LT, ST, and 17kT antigens. For this reason, it is often only when we read in detail the "Materials and Methods" of an article that we know what genes were effectively used. Despite this problem of nomenclature, it has been noticed that most of the effects due to SV40 early region are due to large T, but we are going to review the effects of all the proteins currently known in the SV40 early region. Already with the SV40 virus, the functions of the SV40, early regions are thought to be mainly accomplished with by large T antigen. In SV40,
the SV40 early region permits host cell transformation, higher cellular proliferation, and higher viral replication. This task is thought to be accomplished mainly by large T antigen, which disrupts the functions of both the Rb family members and of p53 (Figure 27).



Figure 27. The main functions of TAg : Disruption of pRB and p53 functions. Figure modified from (Drayton and Peters, 2002; Lowe and Sherr, 2003; Sharpless et al., 2004; Sherr, 2001; Sherr, 2004; Zhao et al., 2004).

1.2.4.1 Large T domains

Large T has three main domains implicated in transformation (Figure 25). It has a bipartite carboxy-terminal region (amino acids 351-450 and 533-626), which binds to the tumor suppressor p53 (Kierstead and Tevethia, 1993; Peden et al., 1989; Srinivasan et al., 1989; Zhu et al., 1992), but also to CBP, p300, and the related p400 (Eckner et al., 1996; Lill et al., 1997). The 103-107 residues of Large T contain a LxCxE motif, which binds to the retinoblastoma proteins pRB, p107 and p130 (Peden et al., 1989; Srinivasan et al., 1989).

Finally, the J domain (residues 1-82) exhibits dnaJ domain function (Kelley and Georgopoulos, 1997) and binds to hsc70, a homologue of the heat shock protein hsp70 (Kierstead and Tevethia, 1993; Zhu et al., 1992).



Figure 28. Domains of SV40 large T antigen. Three major domains are involved in transformation (green) : the J domain, the LxCxE motif, and the bipartite region. These domains respectively bind hsc70, Rb family members, or p53. Two regions may also contribute to full transformation of Tag : its DNA binding region, and its p300/CBP/p400 binding region. The latter appears to be located in the C-terminus of Tag but there are indications that certain N-terminal residues may also play a role in this binding.

Notably, the LxCxE motif of Large T has also been found in other oncoproteins such as adenovirus E1A, and the human papilloma virus (HPV) E7. In these viruses, this motif has also been found there to be important for binding to pRB and to pRB-related proteins p107 and p130 (DeCaprio et al., 1988; Dyson et al., 1989; Whyte et al., 1989).

1.2.4.2 TAg, p53 and pRB

The function of TAg in transformation is achieved mainly by the binding of p53 and pRB family of proteins. In humans, disruption of both p53 and pRB pathways are thought to be important for immortalization, whereas in mice, and especially in MEFs, disruption of only the p53 pathway by TAg can suffice for immortalization (Stubdal et al., 1997; Thompson et al., 1990; Zhu et al., 1992).

p53 was first discovered as a cellular protein associating with SV40 large T antigen. Additional experiments showed that p53 was a key protein in the mechanisms of cell cycle control (Friend et al., 1986; Ko and Prives, 1996). p53 acts at least in part as a transcription factor, and can lead to arrest in G1/S and G2 phases of the cell cycle. TAg can bind to p53 DNA binding domain, and this results in preventing p53-mediated transcription (Jiang et al., 1993; Mietz et al., 1992; Segawa et al., 1993). TAg can also increase the half-life and steady-state levels of p53 (Oren et al., 1981; Sladek et al., 2000). This is probably achieved by TAg binding of mdm2 (Brown et al., 1993; Henning et al., 1997; Zalvide et al., 1998), which normally facilitates the ubiquitination-dependant degradation of p53 and inactivates the transcriptional activity of p53. It is not currently understood why TAg needs to prevent p53 degradation by mdm2, since p53 sequestered by TAg is already transcriptionally inactive.

TAg J domain can suppress the repression of E2F activity by p130 and pRB (Avantaggiati et al., 1996). With hsc70 and ATP, TAg can dissociate E2F-4 from p130 (Friend et al., 1986), and can promote p130 degradation (Qin et al., 1992). TAg has also an effect in hypophosphorylating p107 and p130 (Hinds et al., 1992; Qin et al., 1992). All these effects lead to inactivations of the pRB proteins, and relieve their possible effect on blocks in G0/G1 or in S phase (Figure 29). Inactivations of p107 and p130 have been rarely found in human tumors, but these proteins may affect transformation, as seen in Rb-/- MEFs (Goodrich et al., 1991; Stiegler et al., 1998).



Figure 29. TAg interactions with RB family members. TAg leads to p130 elimination, possibly after p130 phosphorylation. This relieves E2F4 from p130 inhibition, and lead to transcription of G0/G1 phase genes. TAg can also interact with the hypophosphorylated form of Rb. This releases E2F1-4 transcription factor, which then transcribes S phase genes. Figure modified from (Ali and DeCaprio, 2001).

1.2.4.3 Other functions of TAg

TAg transformation capabilities are not only due to its binding to p53 and to pRb proteins. TAg contains a DNA-binding domain (residues 131-246), which is implicated in transcriptional transactivation, possibly of some cellular genes (DeCaprio et al., 1988). Moreover, TAg interacts with unphosphorylated form of p300 (Avantaggiati et al., 1996; Eckner et al., 1996). This binding may have an effect in E2F-1-mediated transcription, because E2F1 transcriptional activity depends on its interaction with CBP (Trouche et al., 1996). Alternatively, this binding may have an effect in the inhibition of p53 degradation (Figure 30). New binding partners of TAg have recently been identified. They include p400, a member of the p300/CBP family, and a 193 kD protein with a bcl-2 homology (Ali and DeCaprio, 2001). In the end, a new domain in residues 525-541 of TAg has been identified to have antiapoptotic activities (Conzen et al., 1997).



Figure 30. One model of TAg-mediated disruption of cell cycle checkpoints. TAg binds to p53, pRb and p300/CBP, and manipulates the activity of E2F1 through multiple routes. Figure modified from (Ali and DeCaprio, 2001).

1.2.4.4 Small t

Small t has the capability to bind to the catalytic core of protein phosphatase 2A (PP2A) and to inhibit its enzymatic activity toward most substrates (Yang et al., 1991). This interaction is important in small t-dependent transformation, including focus formation of HDF (Mungre et al., 1994; Porras et al., 1996). Small t presence, in addition with Large T, may be particularly

crucial for the transformation of quiescent cells, such as Chinese hamster lung cells, or murine lung and kidney cells (Choi et al., 1988; Cicala et al., 1992; Martin et al., 1979). These experiments and others have shown that the main purpose of small t is to transform the cells, in a c-myc dependent manner (Janssens et al., 2005).

Small t interaction with PP2A activates not only the Myc pathway, but also the MAPK pathway (Sontag et al., 1993), the Creb pathway (Wheat et al., 1994), the Rac/Rho pathway, and the Akt pathway (Figure 31).



Figure 31. SV40 early regions (ER) proteins effects on cellular pathways. SV40 Large T antigen (LT) inactivates the pRB and p53 pathways, whereas small T antigen (ST) perturbs Phosphatase 2A (PP2A). This can lead some cell types to immortalization, and also to acquisition of tumorigenic phenotypes. Figure modified from (Zhao et al., 2004).

1.2.4.5 17kT

Until now, very few studies have been published about 17kT. It was shown that this protein has weak transforming activities in rat cells (Zerrahn et al., 1993). Similarly to Large T, it can reduce levels of pRb and of p130, and stimulate cell-cycle progression of quiescent fibroblasts (Boyapati et al., 2003).

1.2.4.6 Utility of TAg in immortalization

SV40 Large T, alone or in combination with small T, has been extensively used in a large number of immortalizations, sometimes with telomerase (Hahn et al., 1999a; Hahn et al., 2002; Rich et al., 2001; Yu et al., 2001).

Nevertheless, despite its utility in immortalization of a large variety of cells, TAg has some drawbacks. TAg can induce chromosomal aberrations, including aneupoidy, and translocations. These chromosomal aberrations are induced by large T antigen, but not by small t (Stewart and Bacchetti, 1991).

1.2.5 Bcl-2

Apoptosis can play different roles, which are related to carcinogenesis prevention. First, different stress signals such as oncogenic activation can lead to increased p53 activity and cell cycle arrest or apoptosis (Figure 32) (Hipfner and Cohen, 2004).



Figure 32. The Pathways depending upon p16^{INK4a}-Rb or ARF-p53, with Bcl-2 anti-apoptosis effects. Figure modified from (Drayton and Peters, 2002; Lowe and Sherr, 2003; Sharpless et al., 2004; Sherr, 2001; Sherr, 2004; Zhao et al., 2004).

Second, apoptosis can be triggered if cells lose their attachment to their substratum, a phenomenon known as anoikis (Figure 33).



Figure 33. Speculative model for mammalian stress-induced apoptosis. Figure modified from (Cory et al., 2003; Heiser et al., 2004; Jacks and Weinberg, 2002).

The ARF-MDM2-p53-apoptosis pathway is a response to activated oncogenes. ARF responds to proliferation signals, and binds to MDM2. This inhibits p53 transcriptional silencing and degradation by MDM2. p53 activates target genes that promote cell-cycle arrest or apoptosis in response to cellular stresses such as oncogene activation. Anoikis can also trigger apoptosis, by Bmf activation, which suppresses Bcl-2 anti-apoptotic activities.

Cellular transformation and tumor progression has been associated with activation of antiapoptotic pathways, both *in vitro*, and in some *in vivo* models (Jacks and Weinberg, 2002). For all these reasons, Bcl-2 may be useful not only to immortalize cells, but also to induce transformation of cells.

1.3 Of the utility of cell lines

In the laboratory, it is useful to use cell lines with an infinite life span. These cells are often easy to cultivate, so that sufficient amounts of them can be obtained for nearly any experiments, and they allow the reproducibility of experiments. They also allow different researchers around the world and in different times to work with the same material. This then permits the comparison of different researches.

A lot of cell lines exist, for different cell types (e.g. for epithelial cells, hepathocytes, macrophages, T cells ...). The first immortal cells to be obtained are called HeLa. These are human epithelial cells from a fatal cervical carcinoma transformed by Human Papilloma Virus 18 (HPV 18) (Gey et al., 1952; Scherer et al., 1953). These cells were obtained in 1951 from a 31 years old black woman living in Baltimore, Henrietta Lacks, whose name is now famous because of the utility that HeLa cells have had in laboratories around the world. This is reflected in the PubMed searches, where the word "HeLa" could retrieve more than 47000 entries in December 2005. However, despite the utility of HeLa cells as a cellular model, it has been shown that this cell line is considerably different from normal primary cells. Consistent with its cancerous origin, HeLa cells have different tumorigenic markers. They include a low level of p53, and an abnormal chromosome number (Belcher, 1971). Moreover, this cell line is tumorigenic in *nude* mice. Most of the cell lines also contain abnormal oncogenic and viral sequences when they are compared to the primary cells.

The cancerous origins of cell lines may be useful for some studies of cancer because both these types of cells may have common characteristics. Nevertheless, the cells lines are easy to cultivate and cancer cells are usually very difficult to put in culture (Masters, 2000). This is an illustration that cell lines are different from cancer cells. Moreover, even if a cell line is derived from a cancer, it may be different from the cancer it comes from. Indeed, an individual cancer cell line can be representative of only some of the cancer cells at the time biopsy was taken and they can still be the subject to additional genotypic instability during the time that they are cultivated *in vitro*. Despite these limitations, it remains that cell lines

originating from cancers have been largely used to study cancer but they could also allow the discovery a lot of molecular events that take place in normal cells.

Nevertheless, all cell lines do not originate from a cancer. Some of them were obtained in the laboratory, for instance with carcinogenic agents. The mutations caused by these agents can lead finally to immortalization of the cells. However, the cells obtained with this method can have an altered phenotype, once they are compared with the primary cells. This can be due either to unwanted mutations in genes which are unrelated to immortalization or this can be due to immortalization through a process resembling to tumorigenesis. However, when these cells are compared to cancer cells, they may have less tumorigenic properties. This may be the case, because the cell lines obtained *in vitro* did not have to escape from the immune system, and it is not the case for most of the cancer cell lines obtained *in vitro*.

Anyway, the multiple mutations that take place in chemical mutagenesis can often not be revealed, and this is one thing that researchers often would like to know. In fact, researchers would like to know with what kind of material they are working with. This is why cell lines with defined genetic elements were produced (Hanahan and Weinberg, 2000). For this purpose, either viral or oncogenic genes can be introduced into the primary cells, and can lead or not to immortalization. Such cell lines are certainly the cell lines of the future, because they allow researchers to know exactly with what kind of material they are working with.

The cell lines are largely used in biological research for a large number of studies. However, it is more and more envisaged that they could have other utilities, for example in gene therapy experiments. For instance, the mouse myoblast cell line C2C12 has already been genetically modified to release a therapeutic product, and this therapeutic cell line could then be encapsulated and implanted into a murine host (Cirone et al., 2004).

In the present days, it is probably too early to generalize the usage of cell lines for therapeutic purposes. To this end, new cell lines should probably be established. These cells should be as near as possible to the primary cultures, without to have a tumorigenic or altered phenotype. Such cell lines would also be advantageous for *in vitro* studies, because they would resemble more to the primary cells that researchers want to study. Moreover, if such cells could be created with defined genetic elements, it would be an advantage for researchers, because they could know exactly in what they differ from the primary cells they are derived from.

1.4 Lentiviral immortalization

We have presented until now the utility of cell lines, and the genes that could be useful to use for immortalization. However, we still need a vehicle to deliver the genes of interest into the genome of the host cells. For this purpose, we have chosen lentiviral vectors. These vectors have, first, the advantage to allow the successful delivery of genetic material into nondividing cells. Second, they have the advantage to allow high-level expression of the transgenes, because integration occurs in locations that are situated close to actively transcribed genes (Mitchell et al., 2004). Third, they permit the transfer of transgenes without transcription of viral proteins in host cells. Fourth, they allow the packaging of relatively long transgenes, which may cover most of the clinical applications. Fifth, and finally, progress in the design of lentiviral vectors have allowed the quasi-elimination of risks that replication-competent viruses may appear. All these properties have been illustrated in a number of studies (Naldini et al., 1996; Salmon et al., 2000; Zufferey et al., 1998; Zufferey et al., 1997). We are going now to review briefly the development of the lentiviral vectors, and we are going to describe the generation of lentiviral vectors that we have finally used.

The lentiviral vectors originate from a modified Human Immunodeficiency Virus (HIV). In fact, it has been shown that it is possible to exploit the properties of HIV to insert genes (also called transgenes) into the genome of non-dividing cells, thereby producing a lentiviral vector (Naldini et al., 1996). For this purpose, deletions in the HIV sequence were done. This allowed the production of HIV-derived vectors that were not harboring the usually HIV-related pathogenic effects. Different deletions were done in HIV, producing different generations of HIV-derived packaging systems.

In the second generation packaging system, the lentiviral vectors are produced from HIV deprived of the accessory but pathologic proteins Nef, Vif, Vpr and Vpu, but also of the HIV envelope. The safety of this system is also ensured by impairing HIV replication. This was done by splitting the components of the vector in three plasmids: the Packaging, the Transgene and the Envelope plasmids (Figure 34). The Packaging plasmid contains the genetic informations that are necessary for the construction of the capsid of the vector. This

plasmid also permits the productions of the proteins involved in the reverse transcription and integration processes. The Transgene plasmid provides the genetic material to be encapsidated into the vector. Finally, the Envelope plasmid provides the envelope that can give a host specificity of the vector. If the HIV envelope is replaced by Vesicular stomatitis virus G protein (VSV-G), the vector is called VSV-G-pseudotyped, and the type of the cells it can enter into (also called its tropism) considerably broadens (Naldini et al., 1996). In these plasmid constructs, only the Transgene plasmid was designed to contain the two determinants that could allow to its genetic information to be incorporated into the host genome. These two integration-related elements contained in the Transgene plasmid are Ψ , and the R U5 sequences. Ψ is the packaging signal that can permit incorporation of Transgene RNA into viral particles, and the R U5 sequence allows successful reverse transcription of the template RNA in the host. Further HIV deletions can be done in the Packaging plasmid. They include the deletions of Tat, Rev and of the rev responsive element (RRE), but removal of these sequences lead to lower vector titers (Gasmi et al., 1999; Pacchia et al., 2001).



Figure 34. Plasmids used in transfections for production of lentivectors. Co-transfection of three plasmids are able to produce lentiviral vectors: packaging, transgene and envelope plasmids. See text for explanations. CMV: human cytomegalovirus immediate early promoter. Figure modified from (Zufferey et al., 1997).

The properties of the second generation lentiviral vectors were used to immortalize cells, with slight modifications (Salmon et al., 2000). For this purpose, a LoxP sequence was added in the R sequence at the 3' end of the transgene sequence. This allowed the insertion into the host genome of LoxP sites surrounding the transgene, and excision of the transgene cassette after Cre expression (Figure 35). At the same occasion, part of the HIV U3 sequence in the 3'

part of the Transgene plasmid was deleted, leading to a self inactivating lentiviral vector (SIN), which has the property not to give a functional viral promoter post reverse transcription (Dull et al., 1998; Miyoshi et al., 1998; Zufferey et al., 1998). After the immortalizing agent, an internal ribosomal entry site of the encephalomyocarditis virus (IRES) sequence was also inserted, with a following sequence from the thymidine kinase of herpes simplex virus type 1 (HSV1-TK). This ensured that the cells that would escape Cre-mediated excision could still be selectively killed after Acyclovir or Gancyclovir treatment (Salmon et al., 2000).



Figure 35. The lentiviral vector, the integrated transgene, and its excision. (1) Plasmids are transfected into 293T cells and lead to RNA species without the U3 part of the LTR. (2) RRE permits successful exit of the nucleus of non-spliced transcripts, while Ψ permits encapsidation of the transgenes into lentiviruses. (3) Once in the target cell, reverse transcription and integration lead to integration of the transgene in the genome, flanked by LoxP sites. (4) After expression of Cre, only the LoxP sites remain integrated in the genome, and R U5. Figure modified from (Salmon et al., 2000).

1.5 Why to immortalize human myoblasts?

Different cells can be immortalized for therapeutic purposes or for *in vitro* studies. We have chosen to immortalize myoblasts for two major reasons. First, before our work, no human cell line was reflecting the biology of real human myblasts. Second, we chose myoblasts as targets for immortalization because this cell type allows easily to study if resulting cells can still fully differentiate after immortalization, and immortalized cells were often reported to have problems of differentiation.

Numerous attempts have been done to immortalize human myoblasts (Corti et al., 2001; Di Donna et al., 2003; Miranda et al., 1983; Pincon-Raymond et al., 1991; Seigneurin-Venin et al., 2000; Simon et al., 1996; Tedesco et al., 1995; Webster et al., 1988). However, the resulting cell lines were often reported to behave very differently from the normal primary myoblasts. They often had tumorigenic properties or difficulties to differentiate. If immortalization was coupled with these properties, it was probably due to the methods of immortalization used in these articles, involving strong oncogenes or viral-derived genes.

Immortalizations with Ras were often reported to be coupled with induction of tumorigenesis (Hahn et al., 1999a; Kusakari et al., 2003) but also to modifications of cell cycle (Rajalingam et al., 2005). However, it is thought that only a tightly regulated cell cycle would allow the differentiation of a cell, even though this topic is still the subject of debate (Brown et al., 2003). At least, it is known that Ras and Bcl-2 may perturb the differentiation of memory B cells to antibody-producing B cells (Takahashi et al., 2005).

Viral genes can also, like oncogenes, lead to modifications of phenotypes and not only to immortalization. In fact, the purpose of the viral genes is not to give to researchers a good immortalized cell line but to modify the cells in a manner that the viruses they are encoded by can grow easier. We have previously discussed the immortalizations with Large T Antigen, which often led to aberrant karyotypes. In the specific case of myoblast immortalization, some viral proteins were already shown to perturb differentiation. For instance, Adenovirus E1A and T-Ag was shown to suppress myogenic differentiation of mouse myoblasts (Webster et

al., 1988). Moreover, T-Ag led to loss of contact inhibition, to anchorage-independent growth (Miranda et al., 1983), and to a strong tendency to apoptosis (Corti et al., 2001).

As, until now, most of the attempts to immortalize myoblasts were only half-successful, practically no human myoblast cell line with the basic properties of human primary myoblasts are used in laboratories. This means that human myoblasts have to be isolated from orthopedic surgery or diagnostic biopsies for different *in vitro* studies. Such primary cells have a limited replication potential, and repeated isolations of myoblasts must be performed. The satellite cells obtained from Duchenne patients are known to have even shorter lifespans and they can also be less easily obtained than normal primary myoblasts. Considering these facts, we wanted to attempt to immortalize human primary myoblasts, in such a way that these cells would keep their myogenic capacities after immortalization. We have done this, not only to obtain a human myoblast cell line which would be similar to primary cells, but also because myoblasts permit to study easily if the differentiation phenotype of these cells is the same after immortalization (Figure 36). For this purpose, we have used genes that might still allow differentiation of myoblasts after immortalization. They include *bmi-1*, *telomerase*, and *bcl-2*. We have already discussed previously the properties that these genes may have in immortalization processes. Now, we are going to talk more about myoblasts.



Figure 36. What happens after addition of oncogenes into primary cells? Are they immortalized? And what are their resulting phenotypes, also during differentiation?

1.6 Muscles and satellite cells: an overview

A number of specific reviews exist about the muscle, and because we can not discuss all the muscle-related issues, we will make an overview of the muscle physiology, particularly in our interest to immortalize control myoblasts, and myoblasts originating from patients suffering of Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy.

Muscles are derived from the mesodermal cells that are themselves derived from the somites. The myogenic precursor cells express the transcription factor Pax-3, the tyrosine kinase receptor c-Met, the transcriptional repressor msx1, and the transcription factor Lbx 1 but these precursors lack expression of the myogenic regulatory factors of the MyoD family (Hawke and Garry, 2001). Precursor cells are committed positively to the myogenic lineage by Noggin, Wnts, and Shh, while BMP4 has a negative effect (Figure 37). The committed cells finally upregulate MyoD and/or Myf5, the basic helix-loop-helix transcriptional activators of the myogenic regulatory factor family (MRF) and then can be termed myoblasts (Chargé and Rudnicki, 2004).



Figure 37. Signaling factors involved in embryonic skeletal muscle formation. *Wnts*, Sonic hedgehog (*Shh*) and *Noggin* induce (and BMP4 inhibits) the expression of the primary MRFs

(*Myf5* and *MyoD*) and commit the mesodermal somitic cells located in the dorsal part of the somite [dermomyotome (DM)] to the myogenic lineage. Commited myoblasts migrate laterally to form the myotome (MT), which eventually forms the skeletal musculature. *Pax3* promotes myogenesis in the lateral myotome. E, ectoderm; LP, lateral plate; SC, sclerotome; NC, notochord; NT, neural tube. Figure modified from (Chargé and Rudnicki, 2004).

Proliferating myoblasts withdraw from the cell cycle to become terminally differentiated myocytes that express the "late" MRFs, Myogenin and MRF4. These cells finally fuse to form a multinucleated syncytium, and mature into contracting muscle fibers. Only a subpopulation of myoblasts do not differentiate, and remain associated with the surface of the myofiber. They are the quiescent muscle satellite cells (Figure 38) (Chargé and Rudnicki, 2004). It is well established that the myogenic precursors derive from the multipotent mesodermal cells of the somite, but the origin of satellite cells is less well understood. It is currently proposed that satellite cells may originate from somitic or from endothelial cells. Nonetheless, it is known that Pax7 is responsible for the specification of progenitor cells to the satellite cell lineage. Quiescent and activated satellite cells both express *in vivo* Pax7 (Seale et al., 2000). Pax7 is closely related to Pax3, which is a key regulator of somatic myogenesis (Maroto et al., 1997; Tajbakhsh et al., 1997).



Figure 38. Pax3 expression in the lateral myotome promotes myogenesis. Pax3 expression in precursor cells contributes to myogenic cell expansion. Induction of MyoD and/or Myf5 commits cells to the myogenic lineage. After cell divisions, cells become quiescent myocytes, and upregulate the secondary MRFs (myogenin and MRF4). Finally, myocytes fuse and give rise to multinucleated myofibers. At a later embryogenic stage, some satellite cells give rise to myoblasts and promote fiber growth, while others remain associated with the myofibers in a quiescent undifferentiated state. It is known that Pax7 promotes the specification/expansion of the satellite cell population. The embryonic origin of the satellite cells still remains to be determined. Figure modified from (Chargé and Rudnicki, 2004).

The muscles are composed of a network of different myofibers, blood vessels, motor neuron, and extracellular tissue matrix. Muscle contraction is the result of a the sliding of a myosinrich thick filament over an actin-rich thin filament after neuronal activation. Myofibers types can be either slow-contracting/fatigue resistant or fast-contracting/non-fatigue-resistant. The fast-contracting fibres are needed for movement, and the slow fibres are required for posture maintenance. The relative amount of slow type I myosin heavy chain isoform determines the type of muscle (Figure 39). If a muscle is rich in myofibers expressing the slow type I myosin heavy chain isoform, the muscle is defined as a slow contracting muscle (Kameda et al., 1993).



Figure 39. The muscle, the myofiber, and satellite cells. A. Schematic view of a skeletal muscle. A skeletal muscle is composed of myofibers, which are multinucleated syncitia with post-mitotic nuclei placed at the periphery. Here, a slow contracting (e.g. soleus and not plantaris) muscle is shown. This muscle is rich in myofibers expressing the slow type I myosin heavy chain isoform (green). Myofibers not expressing the slow type I myosin heavy chain isoform are shown in yellow. B. One satellite cell on a myofiber bundle. The schema of the skeletal muscle was modified from (Chargé and Rudnicki, 2004). The picture of the satellite cell placed on a myofiber was given by Laurent Bernheim.

The satellite cells are defined by their characteristic position surrounding individual fibers (hence their name). They are located close to the myofibers, between the sarcolemma and the basal lamina. These quiescent cells do not express myogenic regulatory factors of the MyoD or MEF2 families or other known markers of terminal differentiation. Satellite cells can be found on all muscles. Nonetheless, higher numbers of satellite cells are found surrounding the slow muscle fibers if they are compared with the fast fibers within the same muscle. Ageing is associated with decreases in satellite cell numbers in rodents, but not in humans (Jejurikar and Kuzon, 2003).

1.6.1 Fusion of myoblasts

Satellite cells can be activated for post-natal growth, for repair of skeletal muscle, or in reaction to hypertrophic stimuli. In such circumstances, these cells will proliferate, will express the myogenic markers MyoD and/or Myf5 and can be termed myoblasts (Figure 38) (Black and Olson, 1998; Chargé and Rudnicki, 2004). Myogenic cells differentiate and can fuse to existing damaged fibers for repair. This has been demonstrating by radiolabeling experiments of satellite cells. Once activated, satellite cells become myoblasts, which can fuse to one another to form new myofibers. This process is very similar as muscular embryogenesis. The fusion event is a process that follows an ordered set of cellular events: recognition, adhesion, alignment, and membrane union. Then, myoblast fusion is a highly ordered process. This is to avoid that myoblasts do not fuse without proper activation, but also

to avoir that myoblasts would fuse with any cell type, wich would be disastrous for an organism. This is why if myoblasts are able to fuse between them to form multinucleated syncitia, they do not fuse with other cell types (Okazaki and Holtzer, 1965).

Different molecules regulate mammalian myoblast fusion. They are membrane proteins, extracellular secreted factors, or intracellular proteins (Figure 40). Until now, the events of fusion have been mainly studied *in vitro*, and relatively little is known about the process of myoblast fusion *in vivo*. This is largely due to the difficulties encountered when studying fusion in animals.

Recent experiments suggest that Kir2.1 channel activation is a required key early event that initiates myogenesis by turning on myogenin and MEF2 transcription factors via a hyperpolarization-activated Ca^{2+} -dependent pathway (Konig et al., 2004).

Calcium, calmodulin and $PGF_{2\alpha}$ act upstream of NFAT to induce skeletal muscle growth (Horsley and Pavlath, 2004). IL-4 is a crucial factor in muscle growth and controls the fusion of myoblasts with nascent myotubes in a pathway downstream of NFATC2 (Horsley et al., 2003).

Cell surface proteins have also been identified to be important for myoblast fusion. Particularly, myoblast fusion can be inhibited when myoblasts are treated with trypsin (Knudsen and Horwitz, 1977). Monoclonal antibodies can also be raised against fusing myoblasts (Greve and Gottlieb, 1982). Further studies have identified integrins as important cell surface proteins for fusion. They may influence alignment or fusion of secondary myoblasts with primary myotube, as seen with antibodies raised against the integrin VLA-4 or its counterreceptor VCAM-1 that inhibit myoblast fusion (Rosen et al., 1992).

Other molecules have been implicated in fusion. They include GRP94, ADAM12, calpain and caveolin-3. However, their role still remains unclear (Horsley and Pavlath, 2004). Among them, calpain likely leads to destabilization of the plasma membrane before membrane fusion (Horsley and Pavlath, 2004).

Molecule	Proposed function/activity	
Membrane proteins		
ADAM12 (meltrin α)	Metalloprotease	
Caveolin-3		
VLA-4 (α4 integrin)	Alignment via interaction with VCAM-1	
VCAM-1	Alignment via interaction with VLA-4	
β1 integrin	Extracellular matrix receptor	
Inward rectifying K^+ channels	Induction of intracellular Ca ⁺⁺ elevations	
T-type Ca ⁺⁺ channels	Induction of Ca ⁺⁺ influx	
GRP94	Interactions on the cell surface	
Extracellular/secreted factors		
Ca ⁺⁺	Regulation of extracellular protein activity	
Cathepsin B	Protease	
IL-4	Recruitement of myoblast fusion	
PGE1		
PGF2a	Activation of NFATC2 pathway	
Intracellular proteins		
Calmodulin	Cytoskelettal rearrangements, activation of signaling pathways	
Calpain	Protease destabilisation of sarcolemma	
FKHR	Regulation of gene expression	
Calpastatin	Inhibition of calpain	
NFATC2	Regulation of gene expression in nascent myotube	

Figure 40. Molecules that regulate mammalian myoblast fusion. FKHR: Forkhead in human rhabdomyosarcoma, VCAM: vascular cell adhesion molecule, VLA: very late antigen. Figure taken from (Horsley and Pavlath, 2004).

The early events differentiation events lead to activation of myoblasts transcription factors myogenin and MEF2, and myoblast terminal differentiation is characterized by upregulation of MRF4 (Figure 41) (Black and Olson, 1998; Chargé and Rudnicki, 2004; Cornelison and Wold, 1997).



Figure 41. Myoblast differentiation. Activated satellite cells are called myoblasts. They express MEF2A, and MyoD and/or Myf5. Differentiation and fusion leads to MEF2C and myogenin expression. Finally, muscle fibers express MRF4 and MEF2C, but also the muscle-specific proteins, such as Troponin T and MyHC. Figure elaborated with (Black and Olson, 1998; Chargé and Rudnicki, 2004; Cornelison and Wold, 1997).

1.6.2 Satellite cell markers and heterogeneity

Satellite cells are not only defined by their specific location on the myofibers. They also possess small heterochromatic nuclei compared to those of adjacent myofibers, and different markers, whose expression may vary during activation of the cell (Figure 42).

Satellite Cell Expression		ell Expression		
Molecular Markers	Quiescent	Proliferating	Experimental Protocol	
Cell surface				
M-cadherin	+/-	+	In vivo/in vitro	
Syndecan-3	+	+	In vivo/in vitro	
Syndecan-4	+	+	In vivo/in vitro	
c-met	+	+	In vivo/in vitro	
VCAM-1	+	+	In vivo	
NCAM	+	+	In vivo	
Glycoprotein Leu-19	+	+	In vivo/in vitro	
CD34	+/-	+/-	In vitro	
Cytoskeletal				
Desmin	-	+	In vivo/in vitro	
Transcription factors				
Pax7	+	+	In vivo/in vitro	
Myf5	+/-	+	In vivo/in vitro	
MyoD	-	+	In vivo/in vitro	
MNF	+	+	In vivo/in vitro	
MSTN	+	_/+	In vitro/in vivo	
IRF-2	+	+	In vivo	
Msx1	+	-	In vitro	

Figure 42. satellite cell markers. MSTN, myostatin; VCAM-1, vascular cell adhesion molecule-1; NCAM, neural cell adhesion molecule; MNF, myocyte nuclear factor; IRF-2, interferon regulatory factor-2. Figure taken from (Chargé and Rudnicki, 2004).

Analysis of satellite cell markers is complicated by the fact that these markers may vary during different phases of cell activation, and from cell to cell. Indeed, single-cell analyses of myogenic markers in satellite cells by multiplex RT-PCR have shown heterogeneities in this population (Cornelison and Wold, 1997). In this study, during the early time point of satellite cell activation, it was shown that either MyoD or myf5 were expressed. Then, myoblasts expressed both myf-5 and MyoD simultaneously. After cell cycle arrest, myogenin was expressed with MyoD and myf5. Ultimately, many cells expressed all four MRFs simultaneously (Figure 43). It has been suggested that MyoD and myogenin may be located in fast-twitch and slow-twitch adult myofibers, respectively, but a RT-PCR study on these fibers was not able to show such biases (Cornelison and Wold, 1997; Hawke and Garry, 2001).



Figure 43. Model of MRF coexpression during satellite cell activation. Figure redrawn from (Cornelison and Wold, 1997).

As seen with their differential expression of markers, different populations of satellite cells may exist. Differences in satellite cell population may also stem from their differential origin.

Discussions exist to know if satellite cells may derive from somitic or from endothelial cells (Chargé and Rudnicki, 2004). It has also been suggested that satellite cells might also derive in some circumstances from mesoangioblasts, which are vessel-associated stem cells, from neural stem cells, and from bone marrow cells (Chen and Goldhamer, 2003). Even in uninjured skeletal muscle, some satellite cells express the hematopoietic marker CD45. This specific subset of satellite cells have been shown to be poorly myogenic compared to CD45-negative cells. In the contrary, the CD45-positive subpopulation of cells has been shown to contribute to neo-vascularization in regenerating muscle, and the CD45-negative population does not seem to have this property (Chen and Goldhamer, 2003).

Some experiments also suggest that some myotubes might dedifferentiate to become satellite cells when placed in special circumstances. At least, it has been shown that terminally differentiated myotubes from C2C12 cells are capable to dedifferentiate and to form myoblasts when exposed to the urodele homeobox-containing transcriptional repressor Msx1 (Odelberg et al., 2000).

A subpopulation of satellite cells, termed side population (SP) cells can be identified using the DNA-binding dye Hoechst 33342 and dual-wavelength flow cytometric analysis (Hawke and Garry, 2001). These cells have the differential ability to export the Hoechst dye, and can adopt alternative fates in permissive environments. Only 100 SP cells are sufficient to reconstitute the entire bone marrow of a lethally irradiated mouse (Jackson et al., 1999). SP cells can also be isolated from the bone marrow of a normal mouse, and transplanted into an irradiated mdx mouse bone marrow. In such experiments, these cells have been shown to be able to reconstitute the bone marrow of mdx mice, but they could also be recruited from the bone marrow and participate in muscle repair (Gussoni et al., 1999). Some satellite cells can also differentiate into hematopoietic cells, adipocytes, chondrocytes, cardiomyocytes, and smooth muscle cells (Peng and Huard, 2004).

It is not only SP cells from the muscle that can contribute to the bone marrow reconstitution. Some experiments also suggest that bone marrow cells can also transdifferentiate to muscle cells, albeit at a low rate. In the murine bone marrow side population (mSP), most cells (92%) express Sca-1, whereas only 16% express CD45 consisting of both Sca-1+ (9.2%) and Sca-1- (6.8%). Both CD45+ and CD45- mSP cells can undergo myogenic conversion when

cocultured with myoblasts, but the myogenic potential of CD45- muscle-derived cells is higher after intramuscular injection (McKinney-Freeman et al., 2002).

However, even though circulating stem cells can regenerate skeletal muscle, some evidences indicate that resident stem cells are the cells primarily responsible for the regeneration or repair of local tissues (Polesskaya et al., 2003).

The satellite cell population is not only heterogenous. It has also been shown that satellite cells follow asymmetric division in vitro. For instance, Numb, a plasma membrane-associated cytoplasmic protein, is asymmetrically segregated within dividing satellite cells (Conboy and Rando, 2002). The asymmetric division of satellite cells has been mainly shown *in vitro* but it may be also important *in vivo* to ensure that a significant number of muscle stem cells remain on myofibers, even after some satellite cells have fused for the repair of muscles (Baroffio et al., 1996). Despite these properties, there is a decrease in satellite cell numbers in rodents with ageing. In the contrary, human satellite celle numbers do not decrease with age (Jejurikar and Kuzon, 2003).

1.6.3 Factors modulating satellite cell activity

Different factors can modulate satellite cell activity. These factors have been extensively studied either alone or in combination, with satellite cells isolated from animals. For this purpose, satellite cells have often been isoltated from young animals, because satellite cells are about 6 times more abundant in young animals (Hawke and Garry, 2001). However, these studies are to be put in the perspective that older satellite cells do not react as younger ones (Tatsumi et al., 1998). These factors can be grouped into two main subcategories: the growth-factors molecules and the cytokines. The growth-factors molecules include FGF, HGF, IGF-I, IGF-II, TGF-β, PDGF^{AA/AB}, PDGF^{BB} and EGF. The cytokines are IL-6 and LIF. All these molecules often have chemotactic properties, and positive effects on proliferation, but their effect on differentiation may vary (Figure 44). However, this list of factors playing a role in satellite cell activity is not exhaustive. For instance, testosterone and nitric oxide (NO) may

also play a role in satellite cell activity, as well as crushed muscle or platelet-derived extract (Hawke and Garry, 2001).

Factors affecting satellite cell activity					
Growth factor	Chemotactic Ability	Proliferation	Differentiation		
FGF	↑/NE	↑	Ļ		
HGF	↑	↑	\downarrow		
IGF-I		↑	↑		
IGF-II		↑			
TGF-β	↑	\downarrow/\uparrow	\downarrow/\uparrow		
PDGF ^{AA/AB}	NE	NE			
PDGF ^{BB}	↑/NE	↑			
EGF	NE	^*			
LIF	↑	↑/NE			
IL-6		↑			

Figure 44. Factors affecting satellite cell activity. A number of factors affect satellite cell proliferation, differentiation, and chemotaxis. NE, no effect. FBF, HGF, IGF, TGF, PDGF, and EGF, fibroblast, hepatocyte, insulin-like, transforming, platelet-derived, and endothelial growth factor, respectively. LIF, leukemia-inhibitory factor. * Stimulation of satellite cell proliferation in the presence of serum but no effect in serum-free medium. \uparrow and \downarrow , Increase or decrease in effect, respectively. Figure taken from (Hawke and Garry, 2001).

In vivo, it is thought that the activity of a satellite cell can be modulated in response to myotraumatic events, but also by the vasculature, the immune responses, the motor neurons, the surrounding satellite cells, and by growth factors, cytokines, hormones and autocrine factors (Figure 45).



Figure 45. Extracellular factors affecting satellite cell activity. Figure redrawn from (Hawke and Garry, 2001).

1.6.4 Muscle regeneration

A large variety of mouse strains exist to study muscle regeneration. However, regeneration differs between the varying mice strains that can be used (Figure 46). Even though these differences are not well understood, it seems that the genetic background may play a role. The differential expression of Pax7 isoforms, MyoD and FGF have been particularly correlated with efficiency of repair (Grounds, 1987; Grounds and McGeachie, 1989; Irintchev and Wernig, 1987; Mitchell et al., 1992; Roberts et al., 1997). However, targeted mutations of additional muscle genes have also been shown to be able to affect muscle regeneration in mice (Figure 46). They are reviewed elsewhere (Chargé and Rudnicki, 2004). One specific mutation is more interesting for us; it is mutations in the Dystrophin gene, causing Duchenne

Muscular Dystrophies in humans. We are going now to talk more in detail about this disease, among the other muscular dystrophies.

Targeted Mutation	Adult Muscle Phenotype	Muscle Regeneration Phenotype	Satellite Cell Phenotype (In Vitro)
	Transcription factors		
MyoD-/-	Minor alterations	Impaired	Increased proliferation Delayed differentiation
Pax7 ^{-/-}	Growth deficit, satellite cells absent	Deficient	No satellite cell
Slug ^{-/-}	Fairly normal	Impaired	ND
MNF ^{-/-}	Growth deficit	Impaired	Decreased proliferation Normal differentiation
	DGC components		
MCK (Cre)- dystroglycan (LoxP)	Increased degeneration without fibrosis or fat replacement, muscle mass increase	Efficient	ND
Dystrophin ^{-/-} (mdx)	Increased degeneration with fibrosis and fat replacement	Impaired in older mice	Normal proliferation
I-Sarcoglycan ^{-/-}	Increased degeneration with fibrosis and fat replacement	Impaired in older mice	ND
	Growth factors		
FGF-6 ^{-/-}	Fairly normal	Normal or Impaired	ND
LIF ^{-/-}	Normal	Impaired	ND
MSTN ^{-/-}	Muscle mass increase (hyperplasia and hypertrophy)	Improved	ND
	Others		
M-cadherin ^{-/-}	Normal	Normal	ND
Desmin ^{-/-}	Some degeneration	Delayed	ND

Figure 46. Targeted germline mutations in mice affecting muscle degeneration/regeneration process. MNF, myocyte nuclear factor; MCK, muscle creatine kinase; FGF, fibroblast growth factor; LIF, leukemia inhibitory factor; MSTN, myostatin; ND, not determined. Figure taken from (Chargé and Rudnicki, 2004).

1.7 Muscular dystrophies

1.7.1 General definition of muscular dystrophies

Muscular dystrophy describes a group of severe and progressive muscle-wasting diseases of genetic origin. These diseases are classified clinically in six groups by the distributions of muscle weaknesses (Figure 47) (Emery, 2002). However, similar locations of muscle weaknesses do not always reflect the same gene being affected. Gene mapping experiments have led to the identification of a number of genes being implicated in a particular clinically-defined muscle dystrophy. Although clinically similar diseases may be found, the mutated genes that are associated with these diseases may be located on different chromosomes (Figure 48) (Dalkilic and Kunkel, 2003; Emery, 2000). Particularly, limb-girdle muscular dystrophy is extremely heterogeneous in the genes that can be implicated (Laval and Bushby, 2004).



Figure 47. Distribution of predominant muscle weakness in different types of dystrophy, A, Duchenne-type and Becker-type; B, Emery-Dreifuss; C, limb-girdle; D, facioscapulohumeral; E, distal, F, oculopharyngeal. Shaded=affected areas. (Reproduced from *BMJ* 1998; **317**: 991–95).

Taken together, the muscular dystrophies are mapped until now to 29 different loci and they can give rise to 34 distinct disorders. Their mode of inheritance can also differ: they can be recessively X-linked, autosomal dominant, or autosomal recessive (Figure 48) (Dalkilic and Kunkel, 2003; Emery, 2000).

Disease	Mode of inheritance	Gene locus	Gene product
Duchenne/Becker muscular dystrop	hy XR	Xp21	Dystrophin
Emery-Dreifuss muscular dystrophy	Y XR	Xq28	Emerin
Emery-Dreifuss muscular dystrophy	AD/AR	1q11	Lamin A/C
Limb-girdle muscular dystrophy			
LGMD 1A	AD	5q22–q34	Myotilin
LGMD 1B	AD	1q11–21	Lamin A/C
LGMD 1C	AD	3p25	Caveolin-3
LGMD 1D	AD	6q22	
LGMD 1E	AD	7q	
LGMD 2A	AR	15q15	Calpain-3
LGMD 2B	AR	2p13	Dysferlin
LGMD 2C	AR	13q12	γ-Sarcoglycan
LGMD 2D	AR	17q12-q21	α-Sarcoglycan
LGMD 2E	AR	4q12	β-Sarcoglycan
LGMD 2F	AR	5q33–q34	δ-Sarcoglycan
LGMD 2G	AR	17q11–q12	Telethonin (TCAP)
LGMD 2H	AR	9q3–q34	TRIM32
LGMD 2I	AR	19q13.3	Fukutin-related protein
LGMD 2J	AR	2q	Titin
Congenital muscular dystrophy (CM	ID)		
CMD 1A	AR	6q22	Lamimin α2
CMD 1B	AR	1q	
CMD 1C	AR	19q	Fukutin related protein
Fukuyama CMD	AR	9q31–q33	Fukutin
α7 integrin congenital myopathy	AR	12q13 a7	Integrin
Muscle-eye-brain (MEB) disease	AR	1p32–p34	O-mannose β -1,2-N-acetyl-
			glucosaminyl transferase
Walker-Warburg syndrome	AR	9q	O-mannosyltransferase 1
Rigid spine CMD	AR	1p35–36	Selenoprotein N1
Bethlem myopathy/Ullrich syndrome	AD	21q22	Collagen VI a1
	AD	21q22	Collagen VI α2
	AD	2q37	Collagen VI α3
Distai muscular dystropny		0.12	Duoforlin
Tibial MD	AR	2p13	Dysteriin
I IDIAI MID	AD	2q	l iun
	AD	14q	
Facioscapulohumeral muscular dys	trophy AD	4q35	
Oculopharyngeal muscular dystropi	hy AD	14q11.2–q13	Poly A binding protein 2

Figure 48. Muscular dystrophies and gene locations.*AD, autosomal dominant; AR, autosomal recessive; LGMD, limb-girdle musclar dystrophy; XD, X-linked dominant; XR, X-linked recessive. *This table includes disorders which have been mapped to a chromosome. Figure modified from (Dalkilic and Kunkel, 2003; Emery, 2000).

Despite all the heterogeneities mentioned, most of these diseases seem to have one common determinant: they seem to be caused by loss of proteins involved in the structure of muscles. These structural proteins can be part of the linkage between the extracellular matrix and the actin cytoskeleton, or they can be located in the sarcomeric and in the nuclear structures (Figure 49) (Dalkilic and Kunkel, 2003; Emery, 2000). These structures may also be connected between them (Blake and Martin-Rendon, 2002).



Figure 49. Schematic view of the location of the proteins currently known to be involved in muscular dystrophies. Figure inspired from (Dalkilic and Kunkel, 2003; Emery, 2000).

We have mentioned the existence of a large number of muscular dystrophies discovered until now, but we will not talk extensively about all them. They are reviewed elsewhere (Dalkilic and Kunkel, 2003; Emery, 2000). We are going now to talk more in detail about one of these dystrophies, Duchenne muscular dystrophy, its animal models, and the therapeutic strategies currently aimed at the correction or at the improvement of the clinical features observed in this disease.
1.7.2. Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy (DMD)

Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy (DMD) is an X-linked recessive disorder affecting 1 in 3.500 live males at birth. About a third of cases occur as de novo mutations, in the dystrophin gene. Dystrophin is encoded by a 2.5 Mbp gene, which represents 0.1% of the genome, but only about 1% of this gene codes for the 86 exons of the Dystrophin protein (Muntoni et al., 2003). The fully processed transcript is only 14 kbp, and produces a 427 kDa protein, composed of 3685 amino acid residues. The large size of this gene contributes significantly to its high rates of mutations. Most dys mutations in DMD patients are large deletions or insertions that result in downstream codon reading frameshifts (58%) or small frameshift rearragements or point mutations (41%), and the remaining mutations are the results of duplication events. DMD is usually diagnosed at 4-5 years of age, on the basis of gait abnormalities. DMD patients experience severe and progressive loss of muscle mass and function. Typically, wheelchair use is necessary by the age of 8-10. When they are teenagers, patients are wheelchair bound. In the late teens or early twenties, the DMD patients usually die, because muscle degeneration occurs to such an extent that it finally leads to respiratory or cardiac failure. Nevertheless, with some specific mutations, some patients can have milder phenotypes of disease and can live longer. Then, these patients are often referred as to suffer from the milder Becker muscular dystrophy (BMD) (Muntoni et al., 2003). Mutations in the dystrophin can also cause another disease. It consists of the cardiomyopathy seen in DMD and in BMD, but without significant muscle disease. Then, this myopathy is referred to as X-linked dilated cardiomyopathy (XLDCM) (Lapidos et al., 2004).

1.7.3 Dystrophin

Dystrophin is a major component of the dystrophin-glycoprotein complex (DGC). Its function is to link the myofiber cytoskeleton to the extracellular matrix. Once this complex is disrupted, injury occurs during muscular contractions, and sarcolemmal damage finally leads to myofiber necrosis. Dystrophin has 4 domains: the N-terminal and parts of the helical-rod domain bind to actin whereas the C-terminal and a cysteine-rich domain distal to the rod domain form complexes with syntrophin and beta-dystroglycan, respectively (Figure 50) (Dalkilic and Kunkel, 2003; Emery, 2000). In myogenic cells, Dystrophin provides a crucial structural link between the extracellular matrix and the intracellular cytoskeleton. Dystrophin mutations occur in DMD and BMD, and cause in both diseases sarcolemmal instability, which leads to destabilization of the sarcolemmal dystrophin-associated complex, but a wide range of severity phenotypes are possible both in DMD and BMD. The genetic mutations that cause DMD or BMD are not fully understood, but it seems that the correct expression of the C-terminal part of dystrophin, and particularly the cysteine-rich domain (that binds βdystroglycan), often allowed by exon skipping or by non frame-shift mutations, is often leading to a partially functional dystrophin protein and to milder symptoms (Muntoni et al., 2003; Tidball and Wehling-Henricks, 2004). Nevertheless, exceptions exist to this rule (Muntoni et al., 2003). Some rare dystrophin mutations can also cause neither DMD nor BMD, but an almost exclusive cardiac disease in X-linked dilated cardiomyopathy. This rare disorder is caused by a cluster of mutations towards the 5' end of the gene, or by missense mutations that disrupt dystophin preferentially or exclusively in the cardiac muscle (Muntoni et al., 2003). Patients with mutations in the dystrophin gene have not only muscle problems, their mutations were also associated with lower IQ results (mean IQ of 82) and retina problems (reduction of the b-wave amplitude in the scotopic electroretinography) (Muntoni et al., 2003).



Figure 50. Schematic regions of *dystrophin* gene. 3 different promoters permit the expression of the 14-kb cDNA dystrophin in cardiac muscle, skeletal muscle, and the brain. This full-length 427 kDa form of Dystrophin includes a classical actin binding domain (ABD) at its N-terminus, and rod region composed of 24 spectrin repeats (blue square). The rod regions are

separated by 4 regions (ovals) to create flexible hinge regions in the rod. A second actin binding domain has been characterized in the rod region in spectrin repeats 11 through 17. The carboxy-terminus of dystrophin includes a cysteine-rich (CR) and carboxy-terminal (CT) domains that interact with the remainder of the DGC. Thre is existence of 4 promoters within the *dystophin* gene, which drive the expression of dystrophin short forms. These forms are devoid of the actin binding domain, and are differentially expressed. Dp260 is highly expressed in the retina, whereas Dp140 are expressed in the nervous system, and Dp71 is widely expressed in nearly all cell types.

1.7.4 Dystrophin deficiency and muscle degeneration

Skeletal muscle regeneration in adults is thought to occur thank to the myogenic satellite cells that are located in close association with mature muscle fibers. Under normal circumstances, satellite cells are quiescent, but in response to stress, they are activated, prompting multiple rounds of proliferation. Some satellite cells fuse with one another to form myotubes, whereas others serve as bridges between myofibers, aiding in their regeneration (Chargé and Rudnicki, 2004). In normal human muscles, the number of quiescent satellite cells essentially remains stable within adults over multiple cycles of injury and regeneration. However, the absolute number of satellite cells can decrease in case of pathologic situations, such as with Duchenne muscular dystrophy and with chronic muscle denervation, but also at the onset of advanced age or after atrophy secondary to deconditioning or immobilization. In dystrophic muscles, loss of dystrophin results in a mechanically weaker membrane that is more easily damaged during muscle contraction. In such a situation, there is probably an extensive satellite cell activation to repair damaged muscle, as seen with the rate of telomere loss in DMD patients that is 14 times greater than that observed in controls. Consequently, the proliferative potential of satellite cells decrease with age. For instance, it has been shown that a 9-year-old dystrophic patient has a satellite cell proliferative potential of one-third of age-matched controls (Jejurikar and Kuzon, 2003). After different cycles of degeneration-regeneration, regeneration gradually fails. This leads to degeneration of skeletal muscle fibers and connective tissue replacement. Degeneration is probably due in part to satellite cell depletion and their impaired proliferation, which lowers their ability to form new myofibers, or repair existing ones. As a result, in the individual, skeletal muscle contraction significantly worsens. It is currently not fully understood why there is satellite cell depletion and why they have diminished proliferation potential. However, it is assumed that senescence and apoptosis may play a role to explain this fact. (Jejurikar and Kuzon, 2003). Particularly, the host environment within dystrophic skeletal muscle may contribute to the impaired proliferative potential of satellite cells. In dystrophic patients, IGF may not be available to satellite cells because fibroblasts release increasing amounts of IGF binding proteins, and this may lead to senescence. Moreover, apoptosis may play a role in diminishing satellite cell numbers because DNA fragmentation has been seen in mdx mice, before senescence is observed (Jejurikar and Kuzon, 2003).

1.7.5 Therapeutic strategies for DMD

Gene correction of DMD muscles is probably a method of choice to correct DMD, as well as transplatations of stem cells or muscle precursor cells, but these approaches currently raise several issues.

Gene correction can be done either by introducing a functional dystrophin gene into the muscles of DMD patients, or by correcting the existing gene. Dystrophin can be added into muscles by viraly derived vectors, but its large size (14 kb) has hampered the introduction of the full gene into small viral capsids. Large adenoviral capsids can be used, but then the vectors are too large to cross the extracellular matrix that surrounds mature myofibres (van Deutekom and van Ommen, 2003). To circumvent this problem, it is only recently that special viral constructs have been designed to carry the full dystrophin cDNA (Goncalves et al., 2005). Nevertheless, it has been shown that dystrophin size can be shrunk and can still lead to a functional protein (Scott et al., 2002). Such engineered proteins have been put into viral vectors and have been able to correct dystrophin by overexpressing utrophin, which is a shorter homolog. In fact, utrophin is 80% identical to dystrophin in its cysteine-rich and C-

terminal domains, and these domains are knowon to bind to the dystrophin associated protein complex (DAPC), including the dystroglycans and syntrophins (Perkins and Davies, 2002). Replacement of dystrophin by utrophin can be interesting, because it has the benefit of not eliciting an immune response against a foreign gene. In this respect, it is better to replace dystrophin deficiency by utrophin than to try to correct DMD by adjunction of dystrophin, because this method has the risk that Dystrophin would be recognized as a foreign protein by the immune system of the patient. Other approaches have been attempted to correct muscular dystrophies, such as oligonucleotide-mediated therapy (Rando, 2002). In this case, the dystrophin gene is corrected by chimeric RNA/DNA oligonucleotides ("chimeraplasts") that repair point mutations.

All these approaches are nonetheless problematic to use in patients, because it is difficult for a viral vector to target all the muscles that can be afflicted in DMD patients. For this reason, other approaches have been used. For instance, stem or precursor cells isolated from DMD patients can be corrected *ex vivo* and transplanted back into DMD patients (Gregorevic and Chamberlain, 2003). Nevertheless, also with such a method, it is not a small task to allow correction of all muscles associated with DMD disease. Indeed, it has been shown that cell transplantation experiments often led to poor survival of the myoblasts immediately post transplantation (van Deutekom and van Ommen, 2003).

The use of viral vectors either in *in vivo* or *ex vivo* approaches should consider the integration of the foreign DNA. Particularly, the integration site of the transgene should not induce bystanding harmful proto-oncogenes, and for that, careful choice of viral vector should be made (Check, 2005).

Considering all the potential problems that are still associated with gene therapy of DMD, until now, only conventional drug treatments are clinically done with DMD patients. Such treatments do not correct the cause of DMD, but they attempt only to correct some of the different negative effects associated with this disease, and they are often associated with severe side-effects, as it will be discussed now.

Anabolic steroids are one of classes of drugs that have been used in hope to have a beneficial effect in the muscle mass of DMD patients. Nevertheless, their use was found to produce only minimal improvements in muscle functions, and was accompanied by androgenic side-effects

(they include priapism, acne, and growth of pubic hair). However, more recent studies have identified oxandrolone as an anabolic steroid candidate for DMD treatment, because it may protect muscle mass with minor androgenic side-effects (Tidball and Wehling-Henricks, 2004).

Growth hormones (GH) were used in the objective to maintain muscle mass and function of DMD patients, but they often produced opposite catabolic effects. These results suggested that GH inhibitors may reduced pathology of DMD, but the clinical trials that have been done subsequently have produced only slight improvements in muscle function (Cittadini et al., 2003). Nonetheless, Insulin-like Growth Factor-I (IGF-I) could be a candidate to protect DMD muscles, because it has been shown to be a potent anabolic agent that can increase muscle mass (Gregorevic et al., 2002). In *mdx* mice, this agent was also shown to reduce exercise-induced weakness (De Luca et al., 2003). However, despite these advantages, IGF-1 should be used with caution, because it has been shown to increase the proliferation and metastasis of cancer cells (Chan et al., 1998).

Beneficial effects could be produced by leukemia inhibitory factor (LIF). LIF is a potent mitogen, especially for undifferentiated cells, such as embryonic stem cells, hematopoietic stem cells and germ cells, but also for muscle cells (Barnard et al., 1994). Consequently, LIF treatment has therapeutic potential, but before this treatment is applied, side-effects of this drug should be better known.

Inhibition of calcium-dependent proteases has been suggested after it was noted that there was an influx of extracellular calcium into dystrophin-deficient muscles. β_2 -adrenergic agonists can increase calpastatin expression, which is an inhibitor of the calcium-dependent calpain proteases. These agonists were used in DMD boys and were shown to improve muscle function, but no significant difference was seen in muscle function tests, such as in the ability to climb stairs (Spencer et al., 1997).

The inhibition of the ubiquitin/proteasome system using MG-132 protease inhibitor has been shown to diminish pathology in mdx mice. This inhibitor has been shown to increase localization of the N-terminal portion of the Dystrophin protein at the membrane, by a mechanism that is still not completely understood (Bonuccelli et al., 2003).

Decreasing the inflammatory responses has also been attempted in DMD, because it has been shown that depletions of $CD4^+$ or $CD8^+$ T cells or macrophages significantly reduced the pathology in mdx mice (Spencer et al., 2001). Accordingly, immunosuppressants such as the glucocorticoid prednisone were shown to maintain muscle strength and function, and delayed disease progression (Yilmaz et al., 2004). However, prednisone was accompanied with sideeffects such as weight gain, suppression of growth, bone demineralization, cushingoid appearance, hirsutism, and behavioral changes that often prompted cessation of treatment. Nondaily dosing may reduce these adverse side-effects. However, additional research is needed to demonstrate the mode of action of prednisone. Indeed, even though prednisone is known as an immunosupressive drug, its benefic action in DMD may not be related to immunosuppressive effects. This is suggested by the fact the immunosuppressant azathioprine has not been shown to have the similar effects on DMD patients (Griggs et al., 1993). However, it is true that azathioprine is not an immunosuppressant per se. In fact, it is a purine analog that inhibits DNA synthesis. Therefore, the beneficial mode of action of prednisone in DMD may still be related to immunosuppressive effects. Nevertheless, it is known that prednisone has additional effects beneficial effects on DMD muscles, including the modulations of calcium homeostasis (Metzinger et al., 1995), of protein metabolism (Rifai et al., 1995), and of cell survival (Sklar and Brown, 1991).

Chinese herbal medecine has a beneficial effect in DMD therapy, and dhis effet is probably glucorticoid-dependent (Courdier-Fruh et al., 2003). However, such medecine may be potentially harmful in some cases, particularly if the glucocorticoid content is not measured in different herbal preparations.

For the treatment of DMD, modulation of the immune system has also been attempted with TNF- α or with nitric oxide. The rationale to treat DMD patients with NO stems from the fact DMD muscle release neuronal-type NO synthase (nNOS), the protein responsible to synthesize NO in skeletal muscle (Brenman et al., 1995). However, even though normalization of nitric oxide (NO) production in mdx muscles had benefic effects (Wehling et al., 2001), this approach has the risk of adverse side-effects, because NO plays a role in different physiologic systems that are unrelated to its function in muscles.

Myostatin, a negative regulator of muscle mass, could be a possibility to try to cure DMD. Indeed, anti-myostatin injections have already been shown to produce desirable effects in mdx muscles (Bogdanovich et al., 2002). Nevertheless, further experiments are required in this field before clinical trials are attempted in humans.

Consequently, currently, no efficient treatment (either by gene therapy by chemicals) exists for DMD, and there is still need of a lot of research on this disease and on putative therapies.

1.7.6 A dual high capacity hybrid Adeno/AAV vector

Recently, an interesting new vector has been designed for the transduction of dual expression units for the full-length form of dystrophin (Goncalves et al., 2005). It is a dual high capacity hybrid Adeno/AAV (hcAd/AAV) vector. This vector has the advantage to combine the capacity of AAV to integrate into the *AAVS1* locus, and the Adeno property to package large genes. It is constituted of the the Adeno capsids and packaging signal, but also of the AAV sequence required for integration in the *AAVS1* locus. A further addition in such vectors of the AAV ITR in the 3' of their sequence also allowed the formation of dual genomes with tail-to-tail organization (Goncalves et al., 2005).

The resulting vectors are constituted of the 5'Ad ITR, the 3'AAV ITR, and of the p5IEE (AAV integration efficiency element), which is necessary for integration in the *AAVS1* locus (Philpott et al., 2002a; Philpott et al., 2002b). All these elements can be located in a plasmid, and production of dual hcAd/AAV hybrid vectros can be done if this plasmid is transfected in producer cells, with a Helper Adeno virus (Ad.floxed ψ). With two plox sites around the Adeno packaging signal ψ , the encapsidation of the helper Adenovirus Ad.floxed ψ can be largely prevented, if their producer cells express Cre. In the contrary, dual Ad/AAV genomes can be packaged into Adenovirus capsids, because they contain the Adeno packaging signal ψ in their 5'AdenoITR.

The figure 51 summarizes the production of dual hcAd/AAV vectors, after transfection of Mss I-digested transgene plasmid in Cre-expressing cells, and after Helper Ad.floxed ψ infection.



Figure 51. Production of dual hcAd/AAV. Figure adapted from manuscript of (Goncalves et al., 2005).

The resulting vectors can integrate in chromosome 19 if Rep proteins are expressed in transduced cells (Goncalves et al., 2005). For this purpose, the AAV Rep78 and Rep68 proteins are able to interact with the p5IEE elements of incoming vectors and with the *AAV1* sequence of the host, and finally trigger integration in the *AAV1* locus (Chiorini et al., 1994; McCarty et al., 1994).

Two dystrophin cDNAs have already been introduced with CAG promoter into Adeno capsids, in a so-called dual high capacity adenovirus (hcAd) vectors. This allowed the highest expression until now of the full-length dystrophin in mdx mice (Gilbert et al., 2003; Gilbert et al., 2002). This is why our collaborators also used the same method. Another interst in

making expression units composed of two dystrophin cDNAs is their hability to be packaged in a good manner. Indeed, the maximal size of packaging of Adeno genome is ~36 kb but packaging of small fragments of DNA are not efficient and lead to genomic rearrangement. Experiments have concluded that genomes with 75% of the Adeno size (27.7 kb) are efficiently packaged (Parks and Graham, 1997). As said earlier, such expression units have allowed the transduction results of Dystrophin expression in fibers up to now. In fact, it allowed transduction of up to 42% of fibers in the tibialis anterior of mdx neonatal mice (Gilbert et al., 2003).

The hcAd/AAV vectors package dual tail-to-tail expression units. This is done by using one of the properties of AAV replication, which can result in tail-to-tail tandems, and not head-to-head dimers (Figure 52).



Figure 52. Model of AAV DNA replication. The 3'ITR of can form a hairpin structure and primes the synthesis of a complementary strand, leading to a ds monomer. If there is no cut at the terminal resolution site (trs), the 3'ITR AAV can once again form a hairpin structure, and prime synthesis, leading to a ds dimer, but also even to longer intermediates. Alternatively, if

is cut at the trs position, repair synthesis can occur, leading to a unit-length monomer duplex. Figure modified from (Hong et al., 1994).

The property of AAV to form long intermediates has been exploited in hcAd/AAV vectors, because they contain not only the 5' Ad ITR, but also the 3'AAV ITR. After transfrection of the shuttle plasmid, there is formation of dsmonomers. Then, two pathways have been postulated to lead to the formation of dual genomes in hcAd/AAV vectors (Figure 53).

The first pathway postulates that Holliday-like structures of AAV ITR are resolved by Rep78 and Rep68 or by cellular proteins to lead to dimer molecules that can be then propagated by replication from their Ad ITR.

The second pathway postulates that the 3'AAV ITR hairpin structure allows the priming for the formation of dimers, after strand displacement. Then, the 5' Ad ITR provides an origin of replication for the Ad DNA polymerase complex.



Figure 53. Tail-to-tail packaging of dual hcAd/AAV hybrid vectors. See text for details. Figure taken from (Goncalves et al., 2005).

1.7.7 Models of DMD, and their limitations

Different animal models of Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy already exist. Among them, there are notably mice models, dog models, feline models, but also non-mammalian models, such

as the zebrafish model and the C. elegans model. Despite the utility of animal models, the extent to which these models reproduce the DMD pathology seen in humans is variable.

The *mdx* mouse model of dystrophin deficiency is one of the most used models, because it has a small size and it is genetically and biochemically similar to human DMD. Nevertheless, in mice, null mutation of dystrophin causes a progressive pathology that begins at an old age, so that dystrophin-deficient mice live a nearly normal lifespan. On the contrary, in humans, null mutations produce a disease in early life, and evolution of pathology greatly reduces life expectancy.

The mild phenotype of dystrophin deficiency in mice has been attributed to expression in these animals of the homologous protein utrophin. For this reason, mice which are null for both dystrophin and utrophin (*mdx/utrn-/-*) have been generated. These mice have a more severe phenotype, comparable to DMD. Particularly, in contrast to *mdx*, *mdx/utrn-/-* mice exhibit growth retardation, weight loss, spinal curvature and joint contractures, early diaphragmatic pathology and premature death (Collins and Morgan, 2003). However, these *mdx/utrn-/-* mice are still not similar with DMD pathology seen in humans, mainly because of their size, and because the regulation of satellite cell number and activity is different in mice. For instance, rodent muscles have decreasing satellite cell population with increasing age, but not human skeletal muscles (Jejurikar and Kuzon, 2003). To circumvent these problems, other models have been used.

Spontaneous mutations of dystrophin, leading to X-linked muscular dystrophy, have been detected in several breeds of the domestic dog, including the Golden Retrivever, the Rottweiler, the German short-haired pointer, and a beagle model. Among these models, the golden retriever dystrophic (GRMD) dog model has been most extensively studied and best characterized. This model seems to be one of the nearest pathological counterpart of human DMD. Nevertheless, this model is not the most used one, because dogs are not ideal laboratory animals. Colonies of dogs are difficult to maintain, their genome is not manipulable, and they are highly sentient and emotive. In the cat model, dystrophin deficiency produces hypertrophic feline muscular dystrophy (HFMD), rather than atrophy and fibrosis seen in both DMD and GRMD. For this reason, this model is not widely used. However, this model has additional disadvantages, particularly because researchers do not

wish to practice experiments on a large, sentient and emotive animal, for economic and ethic reasons.

Both Zebrafish and *C. elegans* express a dystrophin homologue that interacts with other DGC proteins. Both these models have been also used, because they have a low complexity, and because they harbor less individual-related variations. *C. elegans* has also the property to be easily genetically manipulable. Nevertheless, the biology of these animals and their size, that are not similar than that of humans, have prevented their large use in study of DMD. Nevertheless, these models may be valuable tools for specific experiments.

Currently, *in vitro* models of DMD consist mainly of cells isolated from *mdx* mice, even though we have already discussed that the mdx cells do not completely reflect the biology of humans. No *in vitro* human model of DMD is largely used, because they do not exist, or because the few existing ones are thought not to be similar to DMD.

In an attempt to create such an *in vitro* human model for DMD, we have attempted to immortalize human myoblasts, either normal or of DMD origin.

CHAPTER 2: FIRST STUDY:

Lentiviral Immortalization of Myoblasts

2.1 GENERAL INTRODUCTION FOR THE FIRST STUDY

"Lentivector-Mediated Transfer of Bmi-1 and Telomerase in Muscle Satellite Cells Yields a Duchenne Myoblast Cell Line with Long-Term Genotypic and Phenotypic Stability"

HUMAN GENE THERAPY 14:1525–1533 (November 1, 2003)

Here, we are going to summarize the most important facts of this introduction in regard to our particular task of immortalization of myoblast. We are going also to discuss here why we have chosen to immortalize myoblasts, and why we have used some particular methods to reach this goal.

Normal primary cells do not have an infinite lifespan. Usually, they can divide about 30-50 times and they finally die after a crisis phase where they usually stop proliferating. Only rare cells (~1 in 10 million) can escape crisis and become immortal, but they often are associated with aberrant phenotypes. These facts imply that for getting large amounts of cells of a particular cell type, multiple isolations of primary cells have to be done, often from different donnors. However, for some goals, isolation of cells derived from different donors is not possible. This is the case if we want to work with a specific individual or to work with a specific genetic background. Then, cell lines have to be created, so that they should be as close as possible to their corresponding primary cells.

The human cellular models are more sought than murine ones, because researchers often want to pursue fundamental biological human studies and medical studies of human cells. Nevertheless, there are still very few human cell lines, whose properties are similar to primary cells. It is for such reasons that we have aimed to create a human cell line. Until now, a lot of the existing cell lines are derived from murine cells because murine cells are more easily immortalized than human cells. Nevertheless, these murine cell lines have often been reported to be genetically and phenotypically distinct from the normal primary cells, particularly from human primary cells. However, biomedical research often needs to work with models that are as close as possible to normal human cells. Fundamental researchers often like to get cells that are genetically and phenotypically as similar as possible to primary human cells. Because most cell human or murine lines have cancerous origin, they may not be in some circumstances the most relevant models. Indeed, these cancerous cell lines often have poorly known biochemical and genetic alterations, and they may therefore in some circumstances not be similar with some of the properties of the related primary cells. This is why we aimed to create a cell line with defined genetic elements, which would be able to trigger immortalization, but not tumorigenesis, of human cells.

At this point, we could have immortalized different human cell types. We have chosen to immortalize human primary myoblasts, for two major reasons. First, Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy (DMD) is one of the most devastating diseases: it touches 1 out of 3500 boys. A lot of basic research is still probably needed to find a cure to this neuromuscular disease, and having a proper human cellular model would be useful for this task. The second reason why we have chosen to immortalize myoblast was because we wanted to know if the immortalized cells could still differentiate. Indeed, after immortalization of different cell types, the resulting cells are often said to be very similar to their primary counterparts because they possess the same surface markers. Nevertheless, presence of some surface markers on a cell does not always mean that this cell is completely similar to primary cells. It does not mean, either, that this cell is still able to follow the specific tasks of a primary cell. This has been particularly obvious with cells that can differentiate: even if these cells were immortalized and were thought to be normal, they often had lowered or impaired differentiation properties. Among the cell types that can differentiate, myoblasts have a phenotype of differentiation that is easy to observe: they have the ability to fuse between them and to form multinucleated myotubes. With such visible phenomenon of differentiation, myoblasts become an interesting paradigm to test in a simple manner if immortalization still allows differentiation. Indeed, even if immortalization of myoblasts has already been attempted, their authors often recognized that the resulting cells had lower fusogenic properties compared to primary myoblasts.

If immortalized myoblasts were often reported to have low fusogenic properties, it was certainly due to the use of virus-derived immortalizing genes, because the functions of such genes are known to lead to immortalization but also to alter cellular functions, and to have mutagenic properties. For instance, TAg is known to perturb different pathways, but also to alter karyotypes, leading to translocations, and aneuploidy, with chromosome numbers often in the diploid range. TAg is a protein of the SV40 virus whose properties are to act in different pathways, especially with its two major different splicings referred to as Large T and small t. In this respect, Large T was reported to inhibit at least the p53 and RB pathways, whereas small t was reported to act on Phosphatase 2A. The action of these proteins on these anti-tumorigenic mechanisms has already been reported to allow immortalization, with strong oncogenes, or with chemical mutagenesis. However, these alternatives often led to massive genetic changes, which could even often not be mapped.

To circumvent these problems, we have used another approach. More precisely, we have attempted to find a method to immortalize myoblasts with defined and minimal genetic elements. This alternative way of immortalization would allow uncovering precisely what genes are useful for immortalization of myoblasts. This method would also be more appropriate to lead to cells with minor genetic and biochemical modifications.

For this purpose, what have used Telomerase, Bcl-2 and Bmi-1. These proteins were chosen, because they were already suspected to play a role in immortalization. In fact, they had already been described to have either anti-senescence or anti-apoptosis effects. We are going now to summarize briefly their known function(s).

First, Telomerase (hTERT) is the catalytic component of the human telomerase. This enzyme is able to replace the chromosome end repeats, which are eroded after multiple rounds of cellular divisions. Second, Bcl-2 has anti-apoptotic properties. Third, Bmi-1 is an oncogene regulating the tumor suppressors p16^{INK4a} and p19^{ARF}. Both these tumor suppressors originate from the same chromosomal locus, and they have been implicated in the senescence process.

At this point, we still had to define what vector we should use to deliver the immortalizing genes. We have chosen here to use the HIV-derived lentiviral vectors, because they have sufficiently large capacities to carry the genes of interest, but also because they can easily

transduce a small number of cells. This property was important in our case because some myoblasts with altered phenotypes are present only in small amounts. Another reason to use lentivectors was because of their integrational properties. Indeed, lentiviral vectors allow their transgenes to be inserted in the genome of host cells in open chromatin regions. This allows high level expression of the transgenes, in our case of the genes used for immortalization. All transgenes inserted into myoblasts were surrounded with plox sequences, so that these sequences could be removed after expression of Cre recombinase.

We would like to mention some of the previous attempts to immortalize human myoblasts. In the past, TAg has already been used together with telomerase, for the immortalization of human myoblasts. Nevertheless, as mentioned earlier, TAg immortalizations are known to be highly mutagenic, and to lead to karyotypes in the diploid range. Shortly before the publication of our results, it was also shown that telomerase alone was not sufficient to immortalize human myoblasts. We have confirmed these results, and we could demonstrate an alternative possibility for the immortalization of myoblasts. Here, we could show that Bmi-1 + Telomerase also allow immortalization of myoblasts. This finally led to a Duchenne immortalized cell line, with normal phenotypic and fusogenic properties. We are going now to present these results, which were published in the journal Human Gene Therapy.

2.2 RESULTS OF THE FIRST STUDY :

Cudré-Mauroux et al. 2003 Hum. Gene Ther. 14 :1525-1533

Lentivector-mediated expression of Bmi-1 and telomerase in muscle satellite cells yields a Duchenne myoblast cell line with full differentiation potential and long-term genotypic and phenotypic stability

> Running title: Conditionally immortalized DMD myoblasts

THIS VERSION WAS SUBMITTED TO HUMAN GENE THERAPY; REVISIONS WERE MADE AND CAN BE VIEWED AT:

http://www.liebertonline.com/doi/abs/10.1089/104303403322495034

Christophe Cudré-Mauroux¹, Teresa Occhiodoro-Scott¹, Stéphane König², Patrick Salmon¹, Laurent Bernheim², and Didier Trono^{1*}

¹ Department of Genetics and Microbiology and ² Physiology, Faculty of Medicine, University of Geneva, Geneva, Switzerland

* Corresponding author Department of Genetics and Microbiology, CMU, 1 rue Michel-Servet, 1211 Geneva 4, Switzerland Tel: +41 22 379 5720 Fax: +41 22 379 5702 E-mail: <u>didier.trono@medecine.unige.ch</u> Website: <u>www.tronolab.unige.ch</u>

ABSTRACT

Conditionally immortalized human cells are valuable substrates for basic biological studies, as well as for the production of specific proteins and for the creation of bioartificial organs. We previously demonstrated that the lentivector-mediated transduction of immortalizing genes into human primary cells is an efficient method for obtaining such cell lines. Here, we used human muscle satellite cells as model targets to examine the impact of the transduced genes on the genotypic and phenotypic characteristics of the immortalized cells. The most commonly used immortalizing gene, the SV40 large T antigen (T-Ag), was extremely efficient at inducing the continuous growth of primary myoblasts, but the resulting cells rapidly accumulated major chromosomal aberrations and exhibited profound phenotypic changes. In contrast, the constitutive expression of telomerase and Bmi-1 in satellite cells from a control individual and from a patient suffering from Duchenne muscular dystrophy yielded cell lines that remained diploid and conserved their growth factor-dependence for proliferation. Furthermore, the Duchenne-derived cell line exhibited all the phenotypic characteristics of its primary parent, including an ability to differentiate fully into myotubes when placed in proper culture conditions. It should constitute a useful reagent for a wide range of studies aimed at this disease.

OVERVIEW SUMMARY

The aim of this study was to generate conditionally immortalized human muscle cell lines. For this, we transduced satellite cells with lentiviral vectors expressing various immortalizing genes. We found that T-Ag is extremely efficient at immortalizing muscle cells, but induces a high degree of genetic instability that rapidly leads to chromosomal aberrations and profound phenotypic changes. In contrast, the constitutive expression of telomerase and Bmi-1 yielded myoblast cell lines with long term genotypic and phenotypic stability. A Duchenne cell line was obtained, which fully conserved the fusogenic ability of primary myoblasts. This cell line will be a useful cellular model for studies focusing on this form of muscular dystrophy. More broadly, this work provides important information on approaches aimed at generating phenotypically relevant cell lines from primary human tissue.

INTRODUCTION

The controllable expansion of human primary cells, be they early progenitors or differentiated effectors, represents an attractive means of producing large quantities of cells for experimental or therapeutic purposes. Through a process known as ex vivo immortalization, primary cells can be induced to grow indefinitely in vitro by genetic manipulation. Cell lines thereby obtained can be expanded, cloned, extensively characterized both in their immortalized and "de-immortalized" (i.e. after removal / silencing of the immortalizing genes) states, and used for analyses that range from basic physiology to proteomics, for the production of specific proteins and, in selected cases, for transplantation.

Classically, genes encoding for at least two types of proteins have been used to immortalize human cells. First, proteins that trigger entry into the cell cycle, e.g. growth promoters or cell cycle inducers. Prototypes of this category are the SV40 large T antigen, which acts through the binding of Rb and p53 (Ali and DeCaprio, 2001), and Bmi-1, which downregulates the p16 and p19Arf tumor suppressor genes encoded by the *ink4a* locus (Jacobs *et al.*, 1999). Second, anti-senescence factors such as telomerase (Greider and Blackburn, 1987), which prevents the progressive shortening of telomeres that occurs as the number of cell divisions augments.

We previously demonstrated that lentiviral vectors are convenient tools to introduce immortalizing genes into human primary cells, owing to their ability to mediate the stable integration and long term expression of transgenes in a wide variety of targets irrespective of their proliferative status (Salmon *et al.*, 2000). Furthermore, lentiviral vectors containing *loxP* sites into the vector long terminal repeats (LTR) allow for the Cre recombinase-mediated excision of the provirus, hence for the efficient de-immortalization of the expanded cell populations (Salmon *et al.*, 2000).

Here, we applied this technique to the immortalization of human primary myoblasts from either a control individual or a patient suffering from Duchenne muscular dystrophy (DMD). This disease results from mutations in the gene coding for dystrophin, a component of the dystrophin-glycoprotein multimolecular complex (DGC), which connects the cytoskeletal actin with the transmembrane protein β -dystroglycan and thereby plays an essential role in the function of skeletal muscles (Spence *et al.*, 2002). Molecularly, the muscular dystrophies are a heterogeneous group of disorders, some of which result from abnormalities in various components of the DGC. DMD is the most common type of muscular dystrophy affecting approximately 1 out of 3500 males. Patients with DMD present with a childhood onset progressive loss of muscle function and generally die by their early twenties as a result of either respiratory or cardiac failure (Emery, 2002).

Although naturally occurring or genetically engineered mouse models can be used for studying some aspects of the muscular dystrophies, there is a shortage of reagents for molecular analyses conducted at the cellular level, in areas ranging from physiology to gene therapy (Allamand and Campbell, 2000).

Myoblasts were previously immortalized by expressing proteins derived from adenovirus or polyomavirus SV40. However, immortalization often coincided with differentiation defects or other anomalies. Adenovirus E1A and SV40 large T antigen (T-Ag) suppressed myogenic differentiation of mouse myoblasts (Webster *et al.*, 1988). Moreover, T-Ag led to loss of contact inhibition, to anchorage independent growth (Miranda *et al.*, 1983), and to a strong tendency to apoptosis (Corti *et al.*, 2001). To circumvent these problems, T-Ag expression was restricted to undifferentiated cells (Pincon-Raymond *et al.*, 1991; Corti *et al.*, 2001) or used in mutated versions. Expression of a cytoplasmic form of T-Ag was reported to be fully compatible with the terminal differentiation of C2 cells, despite enabling their growth in semisolid medium (Tedesco *et al.*, 1995). The continuous growth of normal and Duchenne

human muscle cells was obtained with a temperature sensitive Large T antigen (Simon *et al.*, 1996), and Duchenne myoblasts were immortalized by co-expressing SV40 Large T and telomerase (Seigneurin-Venin *et al.*, 2000). The long-term genotypic and phenotypic stability of these cells, however, remains unestablished.

The present study tested different combinations of genes to immortalize primary human myoblasts. Our results indicate that, while T-Ag is extremely efficient at achieving this goal, it induces a high degree of genetic instability, which rapidly leads to chromosomal aberrations and profound phenotypic changes. In contrast, the constitutive expression of telomerase and Bmi-1 yielded myoblast cell lines devoid of these problems. Furthermore, a Duchenne muscle cell line was obtained, which fully and stably conserved the phenotypic characteristics of primary myoblasts.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Lentiviral vector production. LoxP-containing HIV-derived lentiviral vectors expressing the enhanced green fluorescent protein (GFP), SV 40 T-Ag, Bmi-1, human telomerase (hTERT), Bcl-2 and a nuclear localization signal-tagged form of the Cre recombinase (nls-Cre) from an internal human cytomegalovirus (CMV) immediate early promoter were previously described (Salmon *et al.*, 2000). Vector stocks were produced by transient transfection of 293T cells (Zufferey *et al.*, 1997), concentrated by ultracentrifugation and resuspended in X-VIVO medium (BioWhittaker). The GFP and nls-Cre vectors were titered on HeLa and HeLa-4.5 cells, respectively. HeLa-4.5 is a HeLa-derived clone that contains a single copy of a loxP-flanked, GFP-expressing lentivector provirus. Stocks of vectors expressing the immortalizing transgenes were evaluated by reverse transcriptase (RT) assay (Aiken and Trono, 1995).

Culture and transduction of primary myoblasts. Samples of human skeletal muscle were obtained during corrective orthopedic surgery or diagnostic biopsies, in accordance with the guidelines of the ethical commitee of Geneva University Hospital. Myoblast clonal cultures were prepared from satellite cells following dissociation of the muscle biopsies by manual cloning using a micropipette under a microscope. Cells were seeded individually in growth medium consisting of Ham's F10 (Gibco) supplemented with 15% fetal calf serum, bovine serum albumin (0.5 mg/ml), fetuin (0.5 mg/ml), EGF (10 ng/ml), dexamethasone (0.39 μ g/ml), insulin (0.18 mg/ml), creatine (1 mM), pyruvate (100 μ g/ml) and uridine (50 μ g/ml) (Baroffio *et al.*, 1995). Differentiation medium consisted of DMEM (Gibco) supplemented with bovine serum albumin (0.5 mg/ml), EGF (10 ng/ml), creatine (1 mM), pyruvate (100 μ g/ml) and uridine (50 μ g/ml) (Baroffio *et al.*, 1995). For transduction, 30% confluent

cultures of myoblasts were exposed to lentiviral vectors at a multiplicity of infection (MOI) of 0.5 to 1 (as determined on HeLa cells) for the GFP vector, and of 0.5 to 3 (as determined on HeLa-4.5 cells) for the nls-Cre vector. For the immortalizing vectors, amounts of particles with an RT content equal to that of an MOI 1 of GFP vector were used.

Protein analyses. Cells were either directly harvested in lysis buffer (1% triton X-100, 1mM aprotinin and phenylmethylsulphonyl –PMSF- in PBS) before pelleting nuclei by centrifugaion, or resuspended in one volume of TNE buffer (Tris pH 7.5 50 mM, NaCl 150 mM, EDTA 1 mM) and one volume of Laemmli Sample Buffer (BIORAD) before boiling for 3 min. Extracts containing 10 µg of protein (as determined with the BCA Protein assay, Pierce) were subjected to SDS-PAGE before transfer to PVDF transfer membranes (Polyscreen ; NEN Life Science). Membranes were blocked with T-TBS containing 5% non-fat milk and hybridized with the following primary antibodies: mouse monoclonal antibodies against SV40 large T antigen (Santa Cruz), Myogenin (clone F5D obtained from W.E. Wright), Desmin (clone D33, DAKO) or α-Tubulin (clone DM1A, Sigma), and rabbit polyclonal antibodies against human p16, MEF2 or Myf5 (Santa Cruz). After incubation for one hour with HRP-conjugated goat anti-mouse or rabbit antibodies (BIORAD), blots were extensively washed with T-TBS, and processed using ECL reagents and MP Hyperfilms (Amersham Pharmacia Biotech).

PCR amplifications. DNA was extracted using the DNeasy kit (Qiagen) and PCR amplifications were performed with the primers fwdCMV (5'-ATTTCCAAGTCTCCACCCCATT-3') and with revHBCL2 (5'-GCGGGATGCGGCTGGAT-3') or with the primers

fwdCMV and revBMI1 (5'-TAGGACAATACTTGCTGGTCTCCA-3').

Karyotypic analyses. Cells plated at 1/3 confluence 72 hours before analysis were processed with the Synchroset kit according to the manufacturer's instructions. For each of the 12 karyotypes analyzed, at least 3 different metaphase spreads were examined.

Fusion assays. For assaying the fusogenic ability of primary myoblasts and cells immortalized with Bmi-1 and hTERT, differentiation medium was substituted to growth medium at confluence. For T-Ag-expressing cells (which kept proliferating in differentiation medium), various levels of confluence (from 20 to 80%) were tested, and in some cases 0.3 mM aphidicolin (Sigma) was added to arrest the cells. At the time of analysis, nuclei were stained with 1 μ g/ml Hoechst 33342 for 10 min, cells were washed twice with PBS, and examined with a CCD camera mounted on an inverted microscope (Nikon Eclipse TE 30). The fusion index was determined every 8 hrs according to the following formula: F.I. = number of nuclei in fused myoblasts / total number of nuclei. For each time point, a mean of about 300 nuclei in three randomly chosen fields were counted.

Measurements of cell growth kinetics. The number of population doublings at each passage was defined as log N/log 2, where N is the number of cells harvested at confluence divided by the number of cells initially seeded. For analyzing growth in differentitiation medium, cells were periodically detached with Trypsin, counted, and replated using the trypsin inhibitor type I-S from Soybean (Sigma) to permit re-attachment in the absence of serum.

Cell cycle analyses. Cells were plated so as to be 50% confluent 3 days later at the time of analysis. Hoechst 33342 dye was added into the medium at a concentration of 1 μ g/ml, the cells were incubated at 37° C for 5 to 10 min, washed with PBS, detached with trypsin, fixed with paraformaldehyde 3.7%, and examined by FACS, using the CellQuest program for data analysis. For cell cycle analysis in DM, subconfluent cells were placed in DM, detached with trypsin, incubated in a buffer containing 0.03% saponin (Sigma), and stained with 20 μ M 7-amino-actinomycin D (7AAD) (Sigma). The cells were incubated at room temperature for 30

min, fixed with paraformaldehyde 3.7%, and examined by FACS, using the CellQuest program for data analysis.

Immunofluorescence. After 3 days in differentiation medium, cells were washed with PBS, fixed for 10 min with MeOH at –20 °C, washed 5 times with PBS, and incubated in PBS containing 1% BSA for 40 min at room temparature. Dystrophin-specific antibodies NCL-Dys1, NCL-Dys2, NCL-Dys3 (Novocastra, obtained from G. Pizzolato) were added at a dilution of 1:2, 1:100 and 1:40, respectively. After 40 min, cells were washed and anti-IgG Alexa-conjugated antibody was added at a dilution of 1:400 in PBS BSA 1% at room temperature; 30 min later, cells were washed and examineed with a Zeiss Axiocam epifluorescence microscope.

RESULTS

Lentivector-mediated conditional immortalization of human myoblasts. When satellite cells isolated from human muscle biopsies were exposed to a lentiviral vector expressing the green fluorescent protein (GFP) from the CMV promoter at a MOI of 1, levels of transduction of about 80% were observed, indicating a degree of sensitivity slightly higher than that of the HeLa cell standard (not illustrated). DNAs encoding the SV40 T-Ag, Bmi-1, telomerase (hTERT) or Bcl-2 were then introduced by lentivector-mediated transduction into satellite cells obtained from a 13 year-old boy, either alone or in combinations. Only cells engineered to express T-Ag, T-Ag + hTERT, Bmi-1 + hTERT, or T-Ag + Bmi-1 + hTERT + Bcl-2 escaped the crisis that occurred in control myoblasts at about 45 population doublings after transduction, corresponding to approximately 65 population doublings after initial isolation (Fig. 1). These cells have now been maintained in culture for more than two years, or more than 250 passages, and can thus be considered as immortalized. When examined by light microscopy, T-Ag-containing cells exhibited a rounder shape and a lower tendency to align regularly on the plate, compared to control or Bmi-1/hTERT immortalized myoblasts (Fig. 2). The lentiviral vectors used in these experiments results in integrants flanked by *loxP* sites, and as previously described for similarly immortalized liver endothelial cells (Salmon *et al.*, 2000), addition of Cre recombinase led to the rapid growth arrest of these cells (not illustrated). This demonstrated that their continuous proliferation was strictly dependent upon the presence of the immortalizing transgenes. From each population, at least 2 clones were randomly selected for further study. Expression of the appropriate exogenous proteins was verified by Western blotting with antibodies against T-Ag, p16 (a protein downregulated by Bmi-1), or by TRAP assay (which measures telomerase activity) (Fig. 3 and data not shown). Surprisingly, the highest TRAP score was found in cells tranduced with a vector expressing T-Ag but in which no exogenous hTERT had been introduced. Although it explained the robust and long-term growth of these cells, it suggested that some intercurrent event had occurred following T-Ag transduction.

Karyotypic analyses. Six months after transduction, karyotypic analyses were performed on randomly chosen clones. Seven out of seven T-Ag-containing clones (2 T-Ag only, 3 T-Ag + hTERT, 2 T-Ag + hTERT + Bmi-1 + Bcl-2) exhibited major karyotypic anomalies, including aneuploidy as well as chromosomal translocations and fragmentations, often in a near-triploid or -tetraploid background. One of these clones was analyzed twice, at six and seven months post-immortalization. While marked chromosomal aberrations were already detected the first time, numerous additional karyotypic changes had accumulated a month later. In contrast, five out of five clones immortalized with Bmi-1 and telomerase stably conserved the diploidy of control primary cells (Fig. 4).

Cell cycle analyses. T-Ag expression was associated with an increased proportion of the cells residing in the G_2/M phase of the cycle (Fig. 5). When Bmi-1/hTERT immortalized myoblasts were placed in growth factor-depleted differentiation medium, they stopped dividing and accumulated in the G_0/G_1 phase of the cycle like non-immortalized primary myoblasts. Once re-incubated in growth medium, they immediately resumed their proliferation (Fig. 6). In contrast, T-Ag-containing cells still underwent a few divisions in differentiation medium, before exhibiting a high rate of death (not illustrated).

In vivo tumorigenicity. The subcutaneous injection of 10^6 cells from two randomly chosen clones from each of the immortalized myoblasts populations did not lead to tumor development in nude mice after 11 weeks, while mice injected in parallel with HeLa cervical carcinoma cells exhibited prominent tumors in less than 4 weeks. The myoblast cell lines were thus not tumorigenic in this model, even when containing marked chromosomal abnormalities.

Immortalization of DMD myoblasts. Satellite cells purified from a muscle biopsy obtained from a seven year-old patient with Duchenne muscular dystrophy were transduced with lentiviral vectors expressing Bmi-1 or telomerase, alone or in combination. Only cells having received both vectors became immortalized, consistent with the results obtained with normal myoblasts. One clone was selected for further studies. The presence of the Bmi-1 and TERT transgenes was verified, and the karyotypic analyses revealed no abnormality (not illustrated). A light microscopic study of these cells demonstrated morphological features very close to that of control myoblasts, while indirect immunofluorescence confirmed their lack of dystrophin expression (Fig. 7).

Differentiation ability of immortalized myoblasts. Control, non-immortalized myoblasts rapidly fused and formed myotubes when exposed to differentiation medium. Similarly, the DMD myoblast cell line also stopped growing and exhibited extensive fusion activity in differentiation medium, albeit with kinetics that were slightly slower (Fig. 8). This correlated with a pattern of gene expression typical of myotube differentiation, with a downregulation of Myf5, and an upregulation of Mef2, Myogenin, and desmin (Fig. 9). In contrast, little fusion and no significant switch in the expression of muscle-specific genes were observed when clones obtained from wild-type muscle were placed in differentiation medium. This differentiation block was present irrespectively of the immortalizing cocktail used, and whether or not the cells were "de-immortalized" with Cre (Fig. 9).

DISCUSSION

In this study, the lentivector-mediated expression of SV-40 T-Ag, with or without TERT, and Bmi-1 + TERT in human muscle satellite cells yielded continuously growing human muscle cell lines. In contrast, TERT or Bcl-2, either alone or in combination, or Bmi-1 alone, were not sufficient to immortalize human myoblasts. T-Ag-containing or the Bmi-1/TERT immortalizing regimens had remarkably distinct genotypic and phenotypic consequences. Most strikingly, the introduction of SV40 large T into human muscle satellite cells led, over time, to a great degree of chromosomal instability. This correlated with the acquisition of novel phenotypic characteristics such as cell rounding, increased rates of progression into the G₂/M phase of the cycle, and serum- and growth factor-independent proliferation. We have noted a similar degree of phenotypic drift in human keratinocytes, retinal epithelial cells and endothelial cells transduced with T-Ag-expressing lentiviral vectors (unpublished results), suggesting that this viral protein can induce genetic instability in a wide variety of targets. Here, the high levels of activity exhibited by T-Ag-expressing cells in the TRAP assay in the absence of exogenous TERT likely reflected the T-Ag-mediated induction of endogenous telomerase (Foddis *et al.*, 2002; Yuan *et al.*, 2002).

The immortalizing capacity of T-Ag is generally attributed to its inhibitory association with p53, which relieves the cell cycle G_1 checkpoint (Zhu *et al.*, 1991). However, p53 also controls DNA repair and recombination in several ways, for instance by interfering with the RAD51 pathway (Saintigny and Lopez, 2002) and by associating with 53BP1, a transcriptional co-activator that participates in the formation of nuclear foci accumulating at the sites of double strand breaks (Schultz *et al.*, 2000). Relatedly, DNA repair by the

MRE11/RAD50/nibrin pathway is disturbed in the presence of T-Ag, which may lead to increased mutation rates (Lanson *et al.*, 2000; Digweed *et al.*, 2002). Noteworthy, in the present work, T-Ag-induced chromosomal changes were not prevented by co-expression of the catalytic subunit of telomerase, suggesting that this genetic instability was not simply a response to telomere attrition (Maser and DePinho, 2002).

In sharp contrast, we found that cells immortalized by expression of Bmi-1 and telomerase did not exhibit such chromosomal instability. Bmi-1 is a polycomb-group oncoprotein that acts as a negative regulator of the *ink4a-ARF* locus, which encodes the tumor suppressors p16 and p19arf (Jacobs *et al.*, 1999). p16 blocks cell cycle progression by inhibiting cyclin Ddependent kinases and thereby prevents the phosphorylation of Rb (Serrano *et al.*, 1993), whereas p19arf prevents the degradation and inactivation of p53 by binding to Mdm2 (Pomerantz *et al.*, 1998; Weber *et al.*, 1999). *bmi-1* ^{-/-} mice suffer from severe proliferation defects in both the hematopoietic system and brain, while Bmi-1 overproduction leads to lymphomas (Alkema *et al.*, 1997). In vitro, overexpression of Bmi-1 in MEFs was found to delay senescence and facilitate immortalization (Jacobs *et al.*, 1999).

Here, Bmi-1 alone could not immortalize human myoblasts, but in conjunction with temolerase it yielded continuously growing cell lines that exhibited three interesting properties. First, these cells displayed morphological features very close to those of primary myoblasts. Second, they were devoid of visible chromosomal aberrations and their genome apparently remained stable over a long period of time, suggesting that, in contrast to T-Ag, Bmi-1 is not by itself highly mutagenic. Third, the proliferation and arrest of Bmi-1/hTERT-immortalized cells remained fully controllable by addition or withdrawal of growth factors. Using the Bmi-1/TERT immortalizing cocktail, we obtained a Duchenne myoblast cell line that conserved many characteristics of primary muscle satellite cells, in particular a full ability

to differentiate into myotubes. In contrast, the wild-type myoblast immortalized clones
obtained in this study exhibited minimal differentiation ability, even though the starting material, a satellite cell clone isolated from the muscle biopsy of a 13 year old boy, could be induced to differentiate normally. The reasons for this limitation are unknown. Expression of Bmi-1 or TERT per se could not account for the differentiation block, since immortalized DMD cells expressing these genes readily formed myotubes. Furthermore, the fusogenic potential of the wild-type immortalized cells was not recovered after Cre-mediated excision of the immortalizing genes. It could therefore be that subtle mutations may have occurred in these cells, inactivating some critical master regulator of differentiation. Alternatively, muscle satellite cells may be heterogeneous in their ability to yield fusogenic myoblasts, and precursors with low fusion ability may be easier to immortalize. Future studies should address these possibilities, in particular by generating muscle satellite cell lines from a larger number of clones and from different donors. This will help determine whether the hereby-described immortalization protocol could be used broadly to obtain muscle cell lines from individuals suffering from other types of genetic disorders.

It remains that the hereby described DMD myoblast cell line will facilitate a wide range of studies directed at muscular dystrophy, whether they focus on the physiopathology of this disease, on the testing of drugs to improve the function or survival of dystrophin-defective muscle cells, or on the evaluation of genetic approaches for the treatment of this devastating illness.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank D. Wohlwend and C. Vieux for their help for FACS and karyotypic analyses, respectively. This work was supported by the Swiss National Science Foundation and the "Fondation Suisse pour la Recherche sur les Maladies Musculaires".

REFERENCES

- AIKEN, C., and TRONO, D. (1995). Nef stimulates human immunodeficiency virus type 1 proviral DNA synthesis. J Virol **69**, 5048-5056.
- ALI, S.H., and DECAPRIO, J.A. (2001). Cellular transformation by SV40 large T antigen: interaction with host proteins. Semin Cancer Biol **11**, 15-23.
- ALKEMA, M.J., JACOBS, H., VAN LOHUIZEN, M., and BERNS, A. (1997). Pertubation of B and T cell development and predisposition to lymphomagenesis in Emu Bmi1 transgenic mice require the Bmi1 RING finger. Oncogene **15**, 899-910.
- ALLAMAND, V., and CAMPBELL, K.P. (2000). Animal models for muscular dystrophy: valuable tools for the development of therapies. Hum Mol Genet **9**, 2459-2467.
- BAROFFIO, A., BOCHATON-PIALLAT, M.L., GABBIANI, G., and BADER, C.R. (1995).
 Heterogeneity in the progeny of single human muscle satellite cells. Differentiation
 59, 259-268.
- CORTI, S., SALANI, S., DEL BO, R., TORRENTE, Y., STRAZZER, S., BELICCHI, M., PAGANONI, S., LI, Z., COMI, G.P., BRESOLIN, N., PAULIN, D., and SCARLATO, G. (2001). T-antigen regulated expression reduces apoptosis of tagtransformed human myoblasts. Cell Mol Life Sci 58, 135-140.
- DIGWEED, M., DEMUTH, I., ROTHE, S., SCHOLZ, R., JORDAN, A., GROTZINGER, C., SCHINDLER, D., GROMPE, M., and SPERLING, K. (2002). SV40 large T-antigen disturbs the formation of nuclear DNA-repair foci containing MRE11. Oncogene 21, 4873-4878.
- EMERY, A.E. (2002). The muscular dystrophies. Lancet 359, 687-695.
- FODDIS, R., DE RIENZO, A., BROCCOLI, D., BOCCHETTA, M., STEKALA, E., RIZZO, P., TOSOLINI, A., GROBELNY, J.V., JHANWAR, S.C., PASS, H.I., TESTA, J.R., and CARBONE, M. (2002). SV40 infection induces telomerase activity in human mesothelial cells. Oncogene 21, 1434-1442.
- GREIDER, C.W., and BLACKBURN, E.H. (1987). The telomere terminal transferase of Tetrahymena is a ribonucleoprotein enzyme with two kinds of primer specificity. Cell 51, 887-898.

- JACOBS, J.J., KIEBOOM, K., MARINO, S., DEPINHO, R.A., and VAN LOHUIZEN, M. (1999). The oncogene and Polycomb-group gene bmi-1 regulates cell proliferation and senescence through the ink4a locus. Nature **397**, 164-168.
- LANSON, N.A., JR., EGELAND, D.B., ROYALS, B.A., and CLAYCOMB, W.C. (2000). The MRE11-NBS1-RAD50 pathway is perturbed in SV40 large T antigenimmortalized AT-1, AT-2 and HL-1 cardiomyocytes. Nucleic Acids Res 28, 2882-2892.
- MASER, R.S., and DEPINHO, R.A. (2002). Connecting chromosomes, crisis, and cancer. Science **297**, 565-569.
- MIRANDA, A.F., BABISS, L.E., and FISHER, P.B. (1983). Transformation of human skeletal muscle cells by simian virus 40. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A **80**, 6581-6585.
- PINCON-RAYMOND, M., VICART, P., BOIS, P., CHASSANDE, O., ROMEY, G., VARADI, G., LI, Z.L., LAZDUNSKI, M., RIEGER, F., and PAULIN, D. (1991). Conditional immortalization of normal and dysgenic mouse muscle cells by the SV40 large T antigen under the vimentin promoter control. Dev Biol 148, 517-528.
- POMERANTZ, J., SCHREIBER-AGUS, N., LIEGEOIS, N.J., SILVERMAN, A., ALLAND, L., CHIN, L., POTES, J., CHEN, K., ORLOW, I., LEE, H.W., CORDON-CARDO, C., and DEPINHO, R.A. (1998). The Ink4a tumor suppressor gene product, p19Arf, interacts with MDM2 and neutralizes MDM2's inhibition of p53. Cell 92, 713-723.
- SAINTIGNY, Y., and LOPEZ, B.S. (2002). Homologous recombination induced by replication inhibition, is stimulated by expression of mutant p53. Oncogene **21**, 488-492.
- SALMON, P., OBERHOLZER, J., OCCHIODORO, T., MOREL, P., LOU, J., and TRONO, D. (2000). Reversible immortalization of human primary cells by lentivector-mediated transfer of specific genes. Mol Ther 2, 404-414.
- SCHULTZ, L.B., CHEHAB, N.H., MALIKZAY, A., and HALAZONETIS, T.D. (2000). p53 binding protein 1 (53BP1) is an early participant in the cellular response to DNA double-strand breaks. J Cell Biol **151**, 1381-1390.
- SEIGNEURIN-VENIN, S., BERNARD, V., and TREMBLAY, J.P. (2000). Telomerase allows the immortalization of T antigen-positive DMD myoblasts: a new source of cells for gene transfer application. Gene Ther **7**, 619-623.
- SERRANO, M., HANNON, G.J., and BEACH, D. (1993). A new regulatory motif in cellcycle control causing specific inhibition of cyclin D/CDK4. Nature **366**, 704-707.

- SIMON, L.V., BEAUCHAMP, J.R., O'HARE, M., and OLSEN, I. (1996). Establishment of long-term myogenic cultures from patients with Duchenne muscular dystrophy by retroviral transduction of a temperature-sensitive SV40 large T antigen. Exp Cell Res 224, 264-271.
- SPENCE, H.J., CHEN, Y.J., and WINDER, S.J. (2002). Muscular dystrophies, the cytoskeleton and cell adhesion. Bioessays 24, 542-552.
- TEDESCO, D., CARUSO, M., FISCHER-FANTUZZI, L., and VESCO, C. (1995). The inhibition of cultured myoblast differentiation by the simian virus 40 large T antigen occurs after myogenin expression and Rb up-regulation and is not exerted by transformation-competent cytoplasmic mutants. J Virol **69**, 6947-6957.
- WEBER, J.D., TAYLOR, L.J., ROUSSEL, M.F., SHERR, C.J., and BAR-SAGI, D. (1999). Nucleolar Arf sequesters Mdm2 and activates p53. Nat Cell Biol **1**, 20-26.
- WEBSTER, K.A., MUSCAT, G.E., and KEDES, L. (1988). Adenovirus E1A products suppress myogenic differentiation and inhibit transcription from muscle-specific promoters. Nature 332, 553-557.
- YUAN, H., VELDMAN, T., RUNDELL, K., and SCHLEGEL, R. (2002). Simian Virus 40 Small Tumor Antigen Activates AKT and Telomerase and Induces Anchorage-Independent Growth of Human Epithelial Cells. J Virol 76, 10685-10691.
- ZHU, J.Y., ABATE, M., RICE, P.W., and COLE, C.N. (1991). The ability of simian virus 40 large T antigen to immortalize primary mouse embryo fibroblasts cosegregates with its ability to bind to p53. J Virol 65, 6872-6880.
- ZUFFEREY, R., NAGY, D., MANDEL, R.J., NALDINI, L., and TRONO, D. (1997). Multiply attenuated lentiviral vector achieves efficient gene delivery in vivo. Nat Biotechnol 15, 871-875.

FIGURE LEGENDS

FIG. 1. Proliferation curves of control and lentivector-transduced myoblasts.

Satellite cells isolated from a human muscle biopsy were transduced with the indicated lentiviral vectors and their growth was monitored by measuring population doublings. The four regimens indicated on the upper left side yielded immortalized cell lines.

FIG. 2. Phase contrast microscopy:

Cells immortalized with Bmi-1 + hTERT are elongated and regularly aligned, whereas T-Agcontaining cells are rounder and grow in disorderly fashion. Magnification 40x. Results are representative of more than ten clones from each population.

FIG. 3. Detection of immortalizing agents.

- (A) Western blotting of T-Ag and of p16 (downregulated by Bmi-1). Two representative clones are shown from each immortalized cell population.
- (B) PCR assays to detect Bcl-2 and Bmi-1 transgenes in the clones containing T-Ag + Bmi-1 + Bcl-2 + hTERT.
- (C) TRAP assay to detect telomerase activity.

Numbers correspond to cell clones indicated in lower right part.

MB = myoblasts; H.I. = heat inactivated.

FIG. 4. Karyotypic analyses.

While control primary myoblasts and (Bmi-1 + hTERT)-immortalized cells exhibit similarly diploid genomes, T-Ag-containing cells accumulate chromosomal abnormalities. The karyotype of cells immortalized with Bmi-1 + T-Ag + hTERT + Bcl-2 was similarly perturbed (not shown).

FIG. 5. Cell cycle analyses.

The DNA content of cells was determined by Hoechst staining and FACS analysis. The percentages indicate the fraction of cells in G_2/M for each population. The G_0/G_1 peak was set at the same value for all clones, even though T-Ag-containing clones had higher ploidies. Results are representative of more than three clones from each population.

FIG. 6. Proliferation in differentiation medium.

- (A)Proliferation of (Bmi-1 + hTERT)-immortalized clones is externally controllable.
 Cultures were consecutively incubated in growth and differentiation medium (GM and DM, respectively) as indicated, and cell numbers determined by counting. Results representative of more than 10 individual clones tested.
- (B) Cell cycle status of cells incubated for 7 days in differentiation medium, evaluated by staining their DNA with 7AAD followed by FACS analysis. The G_0/G_1 peak was set at the same value for all clones, even though T-Ag clones had higher ploidies. The percentages indicate the fraction of cells in G_2/M for each population.

FIG. 7. Dystrophin expression in control but not in the DMD immortalized myoblasts. Phase contrast microscopy (A-C, G-I) and indirect immunofluorescence (D-F, J-L) of control

primary myoblasts (A-F) and (Bmi-1 + TERT)-immortalized DMD muscle cells (G-L), using antibodies binding to the rod domain (Dys1), the N-terminus (Dys2) or the C-terminus (Dys3) of human dystrophin.

FIG. 8. Fusogenic potential of control and immortalized DMD myoblasts.

Differentiation medium was substituted to growth medium when cells reached confluence. Fusion indexes were calculated in three randomly chosen microscopic fields by dividing the number of nuclei in fused cells by the total number of nuclei.

FIG. 9. Differentiation-associated gene expression in myoblast cell lines.

Extracts from Duchenne (left) or wild-type (middle and right) myoblasts clones immortalized with indicated cocktails were subjected to Western blotting with indicated antibodies after incubation in growth medium (GM), in differentiation medium for 4 days without (DM) or with (Cre) prior de-immortalization with an adeno-Cre vector. Only the Duchenne clone exhibits the downregulation of Myf5 and induction of Mef2, Myogenin and Desmin that are typical of myotube differentiation.

FIGURES



FIG. 1



FIG. 2



FIG. 3

Primary MB							Bmi-1 + hTERT						
1<	25	10]])	Х	11	((1{)(
>)	<<	łr.	N	K	77	75	Ж	K	H	К	K	H	(
н	x	71		ij	ţţ.	15	11	68	Ņ		11	41	21
31 -	11		••	54 	1	!	15	5¢ -		84 7	u ,	?	:

T-Ag

T-Ag+hTERT

$>(^{\dagger})$	11	нк	1		ш	ю	2371	246	RII			196	WH
	÷7.	18				1.47	÷.					1	+
211	иď	-	18.00	(1)1	11	24	8662	224	8883	185	58	\$82¢	fage
. C.	38-	- 25	1.1		. *			- 18 -	1.	1.1			
111	**	126		***	1111	**	****	****	****		8893	4525	4145
33.8	851		111		11	***	****	52.9			nate	88	14
. *						1	367			1.1	0.00	 C) 	20

FIG. 4



FIG. 5



FIG. 6



FIG. 7



FIG. 8

	Duchenne	Wild-type							
	Bmi-1 + hTERT	Bmi-1 + hTERT	T-Ag + hTERT						
MEF2	GM DM CRE	GM DM CR	E GM DM CRE						
Myogenin									
Myf5			-						
Desmin	~	•							
α-Tubulin									

FIG. 9

2.3 CONCLUSION OF THE FIRST STUDY

In this article, we have demonstrated the feasability of lentiviral immortalization of myoblasts with bmi-1 and hTERT. This finally resulted in a new human cell line originating from a Duchenne patient, with long-term normal genotypic and phenotypic properties.

We have used combinations of lentivectors coding for TAg, Bmi-1, hTERT and Bcl-2 for the immortalization of human primary myoblasts. Different combinations of transgenes allowed immortalization of human primary myoblasts. They include bmi-1 + hTERT, TAg, TAg + hTERT, TAg, TAg + hTERT, TAg, TAg + hTERT, *hTERT* and *bmi-1* + TAg + *Bcl-2* + *hTERT*. Thus, the minimal cocktails of transgenes leading to immortalization were either TAg alone, or bmi-1 + hTERT. Nonetheless, the immortalization with Bmi-1 and hTERT were shown to be respectful of the phenotype of primary cells than TAg-containing immortalization. Indeed, cells immortalized with TAg or TAg + hTERT or with Bmi-1 + TAg + Bcl-2 + hTERT had larger cell shape, increased cell proliferation, unusual growth in differentiation medium, and altered differentiation in differentiation medium, once these cells were compared to the normal primary cells. This was not the case for cells immortalized with Bmi-1 and hTERT, which were shown to have normal cell shape and proliferation in growth medium and also normal growth arrest and differentiation when placed in differentiation medium. Moreover, and in the contrary to TAgcontaining cells, the cells immortalized with Bmi-1 and hTERT are karyotipically stable. All the cell lines that were tested here were non-tumorigenic after subcutaneous injection into nude mice. Even the TAg-immortalized cells were non-tumorigenic, although ongoing genetic and phenotypic changes were shown to occur in these cells. Nevertheless, it is probable that the karyotipic instability of TAg-immortalized cells might trigger sufficient mutations to lead to tumorigenesis, particularly if the cells are placed in a propper selective environment.

All these results suggest that the cells immortalized with Bmi-1 + hTERT may be used as cell lines, or for encapsidation purposes, because they are very similar to the primary cells.

However, most of the immortalized myoblasts were shown to have low and decreasing fusogenic capacities with time. We found also the evidence that both fusing and non-fusing clones existed. Even though this may seem intriguing, this fact might be explained from the

choice of the satellite cells we have been picked up in the beginning or our experiments, but also by the differentiation that these cells may have *in vitro*.

The satellite cell pool in Duchenne patients may be very different than the satellite cell pools in normal patients. Then, we may have picked in Duchenne patient the rare satellite cells that can be immortalized and can still retain long-term fusogenic properties. Different long-term fusogenic properties might also be derived from the heterogeneity of satellite cell population. Indeed, it is know that satellite cells are a heterogeneous population of cells, differing notably in their surface markers. This population is notably composed of side-populations cells and stem cells, and they may differ in their proliferative and differentiation capacities, both *in vitro* and *in vivo* (Bachrach et al., 2004; Jankowski and Huard, 2004).

The *in vivo* differences of the satellite cell population still not reflect the extent of differentiation properties of this cell population. Indeed, it has been noticed that a single clone of satellite cells can lead *in vitro* to different myoblast types. For instance, it is well known that the clonal culture of one single satellite cell can lead *in vitro* to a heterogeneous population of cells, with 70% of differentiation-prone cells. Among the non-fusing myoblasts, some small cells can resume proliferation and can lead once again to fusing and non-fusing myoblasts. This notably suggests that there is *in vitro* the presence of stem cells among the population of non-fusing myoblasts (Baroffio et al., 1996).

The pre-cited evidences show that there is not only heterogenity of satellite cell pool, but also heterogenity of cells obtained from one single satellite cell. This may explain why we did not obtain a clone of normal myobasts immortalized with Bmi-1 and hTERT with long-term fusogenic properties. Then, probably that a large number of isolation procedures of satellite cells from normal donnors and different immortalizations procedures may help in the obtention of a normal clone of myoblast. However, this clone would not be isogenic compared to our obtained Duchenne clone.

A Duchenne cell line could be obtained in this study. It was shown to be phenotypically very similar to the normal primary myoblasts. Particularly, it has normal cell shape and proliferation properties compared to normal primary myoblasts. This cell line is also able to stop proliferating, to align, and to fuse, once placed in differentiation medium. Moreover, the fusion index of this cell line is about 70%, which is similar to the one found in normal primary cells. After more than one year in culture, the fusion index did not decrease, and the cells were not observed to acquire aberrant properties, in contrary to the TAg-immortalized cells. It was also verified that this cell line was not expressing Dystrophin. The obtained cell line was further analysed for expression of surface markers. It was shown that this cell line was expressing Myf5, one marker associated with normal myoblasts. These cells was also able to upregulate the differentiation markers that are associated with differentiation, including Mef2, Desmin and Myogenin. Only one difference could be noted between this cell line and normal primary myobasts: a slightly delayed speed of differentiation. Indeed, wheras normal maximum fusion was reached after 48 hours of differentiation, similar differentiaion of the Duchenne cell line was only observed after 64 hours. Delayed differentiation might be attributed either to the Duchenne phenotype, or to the immortalization itself. We believe it might be associated with the Duchenne phenotype, but only a control cell line with the same genetic background could prove this point. For this, a new cell line with normal genetic background had to be generated.

For *in vitro* studies, the obtention of a new cell line containing dystrophin, and isogenic compared to our Duchenne cell is interesting. This is why, in the next article, the introduction into our Duchenne cell line of Dystrophin was pursued. The purpose of this work was not only to obtain a control for our Duchenne cell line, but also to find one method to correct Dystrophin deficiency in these cells. This was done as one of the first steps before thinking to correct Dystophin deficiency in Duchenne patients.

CHAPTER 3: SECOND STUDY:

Complementation of Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy Muscle Cells by Dual High-Capacity Hybrid Viral Vectors

3.1 GENERAL INTRODUCTION FOR THE SECOND STUDY

After obtention of a new human Duchenne cell line, it was possible to study the correction of the human Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy *in vitro*. So, we aimed to generate dystrophin-positive cell lines, with the same genetic background as our previously described human Duchenne cell line.

Three main limitations have to be overcome to allow gene therapy in muscles. First, a convenient vehicle has to be chosen to carry the transgene. Second, the genetic material has to enter into muscle-derived cells. Finally, the transgene has to be able to be expressed in the long-term.

Different methods of delivery of dystrophin cDNA have been used in attempts to correct DMD. For instance, injection of plasmids has already been attempted even in one clinical trial (Romero et al., 2004). However, such method is thought to be difficult to use for gene therapy purposes throughout a whole body. Indeed, it might be difficult for a genetic material to be directed to all the muscles that might suffer from DMD. This is why gene therapy of DMD is often attempted on precursor cells, which then may divide and fuse with existing fibers. However, it is not sufficient to be able to target such cells. For instance, Adeno vectors can transduce both dividing and non-dividing cells, but they do not allow integration into the host genome, and usually remain episomal, like most plasmids. This was not convenient for correction of progenitor muscular cells, because the episomal transgene is not duplicated after serial divisions of these cells, and becomes probably diluted in the resulting population of cells (Moisset et al., 1998). In fact, only the vectors that can integrate transgenes are thought to be successful candidates for attempts of DMD therapy. For this purpose, the vectors derived from the Adeno Associated Virus, but also the lentiviral vectors, have been methods of choice.

AAV and Lentiviruses have the property to insert genes into the genome of cells, which is thought to be important for the long-term expression of a gene in dividing cells, specially in immunocompetent animals (Greelish et al., 1999; Harper et al., 2002). However, these two viruses have different integration methods. Lentiviruses integrate in gene-rich regions of the host genome, and AAVs integrate into the chromosome 19. Lentiviral integration in gene-rich regions allows high level expression of a transgene. In the contrary, AAV is also is able to insert its genome into a specified locus of chromosome 19, *AAVS1* (Kotin et al., 1991). This feature would be particularly interesting to express a transgene without eventuality to cause severe damage to the host genome.



Figure 54 "Advantages" of different viruses, and fabrication of the hybrid vector hcAd/AAV.

Despite its property to integrate in a very specific location, AAV has a limited packaging capacity. This is also the case for lentiviruses, but not for Adenoviruses. Nevertheless, for correction of DMD, a sufficient packaging size is needed. Dystrophin is the largest gene known in nature, spanning over 2.4 Mb in the human genome. Its cDNA measures 14 kb, and very few viral-derived vehicles allow the delivery of such a large size of genetic informations. For instance, despite their utility in other protocols lentiviral vectors do not allow the

packaging of large cDNAs. This is why only truncated versions of the dytrophin cDNA (called microdystrophins) can be packaged into lentiviral vectors (Bachrach et al., 2004). However, it is suspected that the microdystrophins are not able to restore muscle strength, even though they may stop ongoing muscle injury (Harper et al., 2002). To circumvent these problems, a hybrid vector was designed, with the property of AAV to integrate in AAVS1, and the property of Adenovirus to have high packaging capacities (Figure 54). This vector was also designed to have the capacity to package two dystrophin expression units. The resulting hybdid vector was named dual high capacity Adenovirus/Adeno-Associated Virus (dual hcAd/AAV) vector. In target cells, additional expression of Rep proteins was shown to lead to insertion of the expression units of this vector into the AAVI locus of chromosome 19 (Goncalves et al., 2005). In the following article, a further modification has been done in the fiber used by this vector, to permit better entry into muscular cells. For this purpose, the vector was modified to harbor part of the Ad 50 fibers, and not the conventional Ad5 fibers. This finally allowed complementation of our Duchenne cell line with dystrophin cDNA and led to correction of the DMD phenotype in vitro, as shown by restoration of the Dystrophinassociated β -Dystroglycan Complex.

3.2 RESULTS OF THE SECOND STUDY

Efficient Genetic Complementation of Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy Muscle Cells by Retargeted Dual High-Capacity Hybrid Viral Vectors Encoding Full-Length Dystrophin

Manuel A.F.V. Gonçalves,^{1,*} Maarten Holkers,¹ Christophe Cudré-Mauroux,² Gijsbert P. van Nierop,¹ Shoshan Knaän-Shanzer,¹ Dinko Valerio,¹ and Antoine A.F. de Vries¹

¹Gene Therapy Section, Department of Molecular Cell Biology, Leiden University Medical Center, Leiden, the Netherlands

²Department of Genetics and Microbiology, University of Geneva, Geneva, Switzerland

Intended Journal: Molecular Therapy

^{*}To whom correspondence and reprint requests should be addressed at the Department of Molecular Cell Biology, Leiden University Medical Center, Wassenaarseweg 72, 2333 AL Leiden, the Netherlands. Fax: +31-71-5276180. E-mail: m.goncalves@lumc.nl

Duchenne muscular dystrophy (DMD), a progressive muscle-wasting disease, is caused by mutations in the *dystrophin* gene, making it amenable to gene- or cell-based therapies. Another possible treatment entails the combination of both principles by transplantation of autologous myogenic cells after their genetic complementation. This approach requires efficient and stable transduction of these cells with recombinant dystrophin genes. Recently, we generated a dual high-capacity (hc) adenovirus (Ad)-adeno-associated virus (AAV) hybrid vector that can be used to deliver two full-length human dystrophin-encoding modules into target cells. Furthermore, we showed that hybrid vector transduction of human cells containing AAV Rep proteins leads to the insertion of foreign DNA into the AAVS1 locus on chromosome 19. Here, we focused on improving hybrid vector entry into muscle cells from DMD patients. After having verified that these cells barely express the Coxsackie B and Ad receptor (CAR), which constitutes the primary attachment molecule for Ad serotype 5 (Ad5) fibers, we equipped dual hcAd/AAV hybrid vector particles with Ad serotype 50 fiber domains to achieve CAR-independent uptake. These retargeted vectors much more efficiently complemented the genetic defect of dystrophin-defective myoblasts and myotubes than their isogenic counterparts with conventional Ad5 fibers. Importantly, the accumulation of βdystroglycan along the membranes of vector-treated DMD myotubes pointed to the proper assembly of dystrophin-associated glycoprotein complexes.

Key words: high-capacity; hybrid vector; adenovirus; adeno-associated virus; retargeting; human muscle cells; duchenne muscular dystrophy; full-length dystrophin;

CAR; CD46

INTRODUCTION

Duchenne muscular dystrophy (DMD) is a recessive genetic disorder caused by mutations in the *circa* 2.5-megabase X-linked *dystrophin* gene. Knowledge about the precise roles of the various proteins encoded by *dystrophin* is incomplete. However, it is recognized that the 3,685-amino acid isoform of the dystrophin protein (Dp427m) plays a key structural function in muscle fibers by connecting the intracellular cytoskeleton to the extracellular matrix via its association with a cluster of proteins in the sarcolemma called the dystrophin-associated glycoprotein complex (DGC) (Blake et al., 2002 [1]). In dystrophin-defective muscle tissue the absence of this linkage leads to sarcolemmal disruption followed by necrosis of muscle fibers. The damaged multinucleated fibers of DMD patients are initially repaired by fusion of myoblasts derived from resident muscle-committed progenitor cells called satellite cells. After exhaustion of these progenitors, functional muscle is substituted by adipose and connective tissues. This muscle wasting process is irreversible and inevitably ends in early death. Although the development of a therapy for DMD is fiercely pursued, there is currently no efficacious treatment available to prevent the disease or halt its progression.

A possible route to DMD therapy consists of combining gene- and cell-based approaches via the *ex vivo* introduction of corrective genetic information into dystrophin-defective myogenic cells followed by their autologous transplantation. The application of the patient's own cells will reduce the risk of implant rejection and may preclude the need for stringent immune suppression regimens. Experiments aiming at stable phenotypic rescue of dystrophin-defective myogenic cells ex *vivo* used herpes simplex virus amplicon vectors in combination with fluorescence-activated cell sorting and G418 selection of transduced mouse myoblasts (Bujold et al., 2002 [2]) or lentivirus vectors to insert foreign DNA in so-called side population cells isolated from murine muscle (Bachrach et al., 2004 [3]). This resulted in

stable transduction of target cells, most likely through non-targeted host cell DNA integration, with a fully functional full-length dystrophin-coding sequence (Bujold et al., 2002 [2]) or with a truncated version of it (Bachrach et al., 2004 [3]). A non-viral procedure based on electroporation of myogenic cells with plasmids encoding a dystrophin fusion protein and the ϕ C31 integrase followed by G418 selection has also been explored (Quenneville et al., 2004 [4]). Although in the latter study site-specific chromosomal insertion of the full-length dystrophin-coding sequence was demonstrated, the cell mortality was high and the absolute transduction efficiency was low. Further improvements in gene delivery systems are warranted to achieve, simultaneously, efficient transduction of myogenic cells and targeted chromosomal integration of the full-length dystrophin-coding sequence with a dystrophin-coding sequence to reduce the risk of insertional oncogenesis. Accordingly, we are developing a so-called dual high-capacity (hc) adenovirus (Ad)–adeno-associated virus (AAV) hybrid vector that can deliver two full-length human dystrophin-encoding expression units and can achieve maintenance of the foreign genetic information in the host cell by targeted integration into its chromosomal DNA (Gonçalves et al., 2005 [5]).

In this study, we sought to increase the efficiency of dual hcAd/AAV hybrid vector entry into muscle cells from DMD patients to improve the extent of phenotypic correction. We found that the primary cellular attachment molecule for Ad serotype 5 (Ad5), the Coxsackie B and Ad receptor (CAR) (Bergelson et al., 1997 [6]; Tomko et al., 1997 [7]), is barely detectable on the surface of DMD myoblasts, whereas CD46, recently shown to be a receptor for the CAR-independent species B Ads (Segerman et al., 2003 [8]; Gaggar et al., 2003 [9]), is abundantly expressed at the plasma membrane of these cells. Moreover, the cell surface amounts of CAR and CD46 in DMD myoblasts correlated very well with the transducibility of these cells by early region 1 (E1)-deleted Ad5 vectors carrying either Ad5 fibers or chimeric fibers with shaft and knob domains from the species B Ad serotype 50 (Ad50). These results provided a strong rationale to endow dual hcAd/AAV hybrid vectors encoding full-length human dystrophin with the same fiber chimeras. Hence, a new helper Ad5 vector encoding fibers consisting of basal shaft sequences from Ad5 and distal shaft and knob motifs from Ad50 was constructed. This new recombinant helper Ad was subsequently used to generate dual hcAd/AAV hybrid vector particles carrying the chimeric fibers. The rescue and propagation of these dual hcAd/AAV hybrid vector particles was as good as that of isogenic particles displaying conventional Ad5 fibers. Importantly, the tropism-modified dual hcAd/AAV hybrid vectors were far more efficient at complementing the genetic defect in DMD muscle cells than their isogenic, Ad5 fiber-bearing counterparts. Transduction of DMD muscle cells with retargeted dual hcAd/AAV hybrid vectors encoding full-length human dystrophin caused redistribution of β -dystroglycan, a key component of the DGC, to its normal location along the plasma membrane.

RESULTS

Surface Expression Levels of CAR and CD46 on DMD Myoblasts

For mice it has been shown that *CAR* expression is down regulated in the course of skeletal muscle cell maturation (Nalbantoglu et al., 1999 [10]). This phenomenon may, at least partially, explain the inefficient Ad5-mediated gene transfer into adult muscle cells both *in vitro* and *in vivo*. Indeed, Ad5 vectors much more efficiently transduced mature skeletal muscle fibers of CAR transgenic mice than those of non-transgenic control animals (Nalbantoglu et al., 2001 [11]). Ad vectors containing fiber motifs that bind receptors other than CAR have the potential to effectively by-pass the CAR-dependent entry route. Ad serotypes from species B do not bind CAR but, alternatively, can utilize CD46 as a receptor (Segerman et al., 2003 [8]; Gaggar et al., 2003 [9]). Therefore, cells that express CD46 on their surface can be regarded as potential targets for genetic modification by Ad5 vectors carrying fiber domains from species B Ads.

To evaluate plasma membrane expression of CAR and CD46 in myoblasts isolated from DMD patients, primary and *TERT*- and *Bmi*-1-immortalized cells (Cudré-Mauroux et al., 2003 [12]) were labeled with CAR- and CD46-specific monoclonal antibodies (MAbs) and subjected to flow cytometrical analyses. Human epithelial cervical carcinoma cells (HeLa) served as positive controls for anti-CAR and anti-CD46 immunoreactivity. The results depicted in Fig. 1 clearly reveal that CAR is barely detectable on the surface of dystrophindefective human myoblasts as shown by the virtually complete overlap of the histograms of cell cultures incubated with the CAR-specific MAb and of cells labeled with the control MAb. On the contrary, DMD myoblasts incubated with the anti-CD46 MAb yielded histograms with a strong rightward shift as compared to those corresponding to control cultures, demonstrating that the large majority of these cells have significant amounts of CD46 on their surface (Fig. 1).

Gene Transfer to DMD Muscle Cells by Replication-Defective Ad5 Vectors Displaying Ad50 Fiber Domains is Superior to that by Conventional Ad5 Vectors Subsequently, we investigated whether a direct correlation exists between CAR and CD46

surface levels and the permissiveness of DMD myoblasts to E1-deleted Ad5 vectors carrying fiber shaft and knob domains from either CAR-dependent (i.e., Ad5) or CAR-independent (i.e., Ad50) serotypes. To this end, these cells were transduced with the unmodified Ad5 vector or with the fiber-modified Ad5F50 vector at different multiplicities of infection (MOIs). Both vector types harbored the same *EGFP* expression unit to monitor and accurately quantify relative gene transfer activities. Both direct fluorescence microscopy (Fig. 2A) and flow cytometry (Fig. 2B) were performed. Fluorescence microscopy revealed that gene delivery into DMD myoblasts by the fiber-modified Ad5F50 vectors is much more efficient than that achieved by conventional Ad5 vectors (Fig. 2A). Flow cytometry data are presented both as the frequency of transgene-expressing cells (Fig. 2B, upper graph) and as the average amount of EGFP per cell (Fig. 2B, lower graph). The latter parameter is expressed in terms of mean fluorescence intensity (MFI) values. The flow cytometrical analyses showed that at 10 infectious units (IU) per cell of Ad5F50 vector, virtually all cells expressed the transgene (Fig. 2B, upper graph). When the same vector was applied at 1 and 3 IU per cell circa 40 and 80% of the myoblasts became EGFP-positive, respectively. Approximately 30-fold higher dosages were necessary to achieve similar frequencies of EGFP-expressing cells with the control Ad5 vector (Fig. 2B, upper graph). Moreover, at every MOI, the loads of reporter protein per cell were consistently higher in cells infected with Ad5F50 than those in Ad5 vector-transduced cells. In fact, there was a clear vector dose-related increase in MFI values

in cells incubated with Ad5F50 but much less so in cells exposed to the Ad5 vector (Fig. 2B, lower graph). This indicates that few DNA copies of the latter vector reached the nuclei of DMD myoblasts and suggests that Ad5 vector particles enter these cells through low-affinity interactions with non-specific attachment molecules. Finally, the chimeric fiber-bearing Ad5F50 vector also clearly outperformed the Ad5 vector in inducing foreign DNA expression in differentiated DMD myotubes (Fig. 2C, compare the second with the fourth row). These data are in accordance with previous human myoblast transduction experiments using a luciferase-encoding E1-deleted Ad vector carrying Ad50 fiber domains (Havenga et al., 2002 [13]). In addition, they demonstrate for the first time the superiority of this type of vectors over unmodified Ad5 vectors in transducing differentiated human myotubes.

Generation of Dual hcAd/AAV Hybrid Vectors Displaying Ad50 Fiber Domains is as Efficient as that of Ad5 Fiber-Bearing Dual hcAd/AAV Hybrid Vectors

The previous data provided a strong rationale to alter the tropism of full-length human dystrophin-encoding dual hcAd/AAV hybrid vectors by exchanging the Ad5 fiber domains for those of Ad50. To this end, we constructed the E1-deleted Ad helper vector Ad.floxed Ψ .F50 to produce dual hcAd/AAV hybrid vectors with Ad50 fiber domains (dual hcAd/AAV.F50 vectors) instead of conventional Ad5 fibers (Fig. 3A). Three types of hybrid vector shuttle plasmids were used in combination with either Ad.floxed Ψ .F50 or the standard E1-deleted helper Ad vector Ad.floxed Ψ according to the scheme shown in Fig. 3B. The pAd/AAV.EGFP shuttle construct (Fig. 3B) was used to monitor and compare the rescue and propagation profiles of hybrid vector particles using each type of helper Ad vector. Preparations of the EGFP-encoding dual hcAd/AAV.F50 and dual hcAd/AAV vectors had, after four passages, titres of 1.2×10^9 and 1.6×10^9 HeLa cell-transducing units (HTU) per ml,

respectively, as determined by endpoint titration using flow cytometry as readout. We thus conclude that dual hcAd/AAV.F50 hybrid vectors can be produced with similar efficiencies as their isogenic counterparts carrying Ad5 fibers.

Structure of Genomes Packaged in Conventional and Fiber-Modified Dual hcAd/AAV Hybrid Vector Particles

Previous experiments showed that dual hcAd/AAV hybrid vector genomes consist of tail-totail dimers. Experimental evidence pointed to a dimerization process that involves the progression of the Ad DNA replication complex through the AAV inverted terminal repeat (ITR) hairpin structure as opposed to intermolecular recombination between two hybrid vector monomers at the AAV ITRs (Gonçalves et al., 2005 [5]). The use of Ad.floxed \P.F50 as helper was expected to change neither this process nor the structure of the packaged hybrid vector DNA. Nonetheless, we decided to confirm this postulate and to investigate the stability of dual hcAd/AAV.F50 hybrid vector genomes upon serial propagation. To this end, producer cells were transfected with the hybrid vector shuttle plasmid pAd/AAV.eDYS and subsequently infected with either Ad.floxed Ψ .F50 or Ad.floxed Ψ according to the scheme depicted in Fig. 3A. After four rounds of propagation, DNA was extracted from purified hybrid vector particles, digested with HincII and subjected to Southern blot analysis with a mixture of two vector-specific probes. The autoradiograph shown in Fig. 4A demonstrates that, regardless of the recombinant helper Ad used, packaged hybrid vector DNA consists of tail-to-tail dimers (Fig. 4B). This structural organization together with the absence of any other DNA forms confirm previous experiments (Gonçalves et al., 2005 [5]) and show that hybrid vector genomes propagated with the aid of Ad.floxed Y.F50 are as stable as those amplified with the support of Ad.floxed Ψ .

Transfer of the Full-Length Human Dystrophin-Coding Sequence into DMD Myoblasts by Dual hcAd/AAV Hybrid Vectors Displaying Ad50 Fiber Domains is Superior to that by Conventional Dual hcAd/AAV Hybrid Vectors

Next, we evaluated the gene transfer levels in DMD myoblasts transduced with unmodified or fiber-modified dual hcAd/AAV.F50 hybrid vectors. To this end, we made use of hybrid vectors encoding a fusion product between EGFP and the full-length human dystrophin protein (eDYS). This combination allowed straightforward and accurate quantification of recombinant *dystrophin* transfer and expression in target cells. At 1, 3 and 10 HTU per cell, the average percentages of dystrophin-positive DMD myoblasts were 112-, 54- and 18-fold higher for the tropism-modified vectors than for the control vectors (Fig. 5). These results show that the highly efficient transduction of human myoblasts by fiber-modified E1-deleted Ad vectors carrying reporter genes can be extended to dual hcAd/AAV.F50 hybrid vectors encoding therapeutic proteins.

Genetic Complementation of DMD Muscle Cells by Dual hcAd/AAV Hybrid Vectors Displaying Ad50 Fiber Domains

To test the capacity of dual hcAd/AAV.F50 hybrid vectors to deliver to and express in DMD muscle cells the full-length human dystrophin-coding sequence, two stocks of dual hcAd/AAV.F50 hybrid vectors encoding both DsRed and the human dystrophin protein were generated with the aid of Ad.floxed Ψ .F50 (Fig. 3A). These vector preparations had titers of
1.4×10^9 and 3.2×10^9 HTU per ml as determined by limiting dilution assays and DsRedbased flow cytometry performed 48 h post-infection. Fiber-modified hybrid vectors expressing two different transgenes can thus be produced equally well as those encoding a single gene product.

Next, DMD myoblasts were incubated with the two-gene-containing fiber-modified hybrid vector particles at an MOI of 30 HTU per cell. Mock-transduced cultures served as a control in these experiments. The DMD myoblasts were either kept under growth conditions or were induced differentiate myotubes. Direct fluorescence to into microscopy and immunofluorescence staining of mock-infected myoblasts (Figs. 6A, B and C) and myotubes (Figs. 6G, H and I) showed neither DsRed- nor dystrophin-specific signals, respectively. The same assays applied to cells exposed to the dual hcAd/AAV.F50 hybrid vector revealed robust and widespread synthesis of DsRed and dystrophin proteins in myotubes (Figs. 6K, L, M, N, O and P) as well as in their precursor cells (Figs. 6D, E and F). Although in the majority of cells and syncytia both signals could be simultaneously detected, their intracellular distribution differed (Figs. 6F, M and P). DsRed permeated the nuclei and was more homogeneously distributed throughout the cytoplasm than dystrophin. In fact, accumulation of dystrophy along the plasma membrane of DMD myotubes was observed indicating correct localization of the protein (see arrowheads in Figs. 6N, O and P and in the corresponding insets). Importantly, neither the vector itself nor the encoded products blocked myotube differentiation since both mock- and vector-transduced DMD myoblasts could form large multinucleated myotubes as evidenced by staining with the nuclear dye Hoechst 33342 and a skeletal myosin heavy chain (skMHC) type II-specific MAb (Fig. 6J). Taking all data together, we conclude that moderate MOIs of dual hcAd/AAV.F50 hybrid vectors suffice to effectively complement the genetic defect of myoblasts and myotubes from DMD patients. The ability of dual hcAd/AAV.F50 hybrid vectors to also direct synthesis of full-length human dystrophin in differentiated, non-dividing, dystrophin-defective muscle cells was clearly established after adding the two-gene-encoding dual hcAd/AAV hybrid vector at an MOI of 30 HTU per cell to DMD myotube cultures and performing dystrophin immunocytochemistry (Figs. 6Q, R, S, T, U and V).

The absence of dystrophin prevents the proper assembly of the DGC at the sarcolemma of muscle cells (Blake et al., 2002 [1]). An essential element of a functional membrane-associated DGC is the type I transmembrane protein β -dystroglycan. We therefore asked whether recombinant dystrophin synthesis directed by dual hcAd/AAV.F50 hybrid vectors resulted in rescue of DGC assembly by examining the distribution of β -dystroglycan in mock-infected (Figs. 7A, C, E and G) and vector-treated (Figs. 7B, D, F and H) DMD myotubes. Immunofluorescence microscopy revealed that in mock-infected DMD myotubes the β -dystroglycan staining was rather weak and diffuse (Figs. 7 C and G) whereas in genetically modified DMD myotubes it was stronger and more structured (Figs. 7D and H). Indeed, in vector- but not in mock-transduced DMD myotubes β -dystroglycan-specific staining lining the plasma membrane could clearly be discerned suggesting normal DGC formation (see arrowheads in Fig. 7H).

DISCUSSION

To guide the development of dystrophin-encoding dual hcAd/AAV hybrid vectors for the effective genetic complementation of DMD myoblasts, we analyzed the expression of attachment receptors for human Ads on the surface of these therapeutically relevant muscle precursor cells. The plasma membranes of DMD myoblasts were found to contain hardly any CAR and significant amounts of CD46, which can serve as receptors for Ad5 and Ad50, respectively (Bergelson et al., 1997 [6]; Tomko et al., 1997 [7]; Segerman et al., 2003 [8]; Gaggar et al., 2003 [9]). These data were consistent with the outcome of transduction experiments of DMD myoblasts using E1-deleted Ad5 vectors displaying unmodified fibers or chimeric fibers carrying shaft and knob sequences from Ad50. Dystrophin-defective myotubes were also much more efficiently transduced by the fiber-modified than by conventional Ad5 vectors. These results were subsequently translated into a context involving dual hcAd/AAV hybrid vectors encoding the 427-kDa muscle-specific isoform of the human dystrophin protein. Flow cytometry and immunofluorescence microscopy revealed that a tropism-modified version of dual hcAd/AAV hybrid vectors corrected very efficiently the genetic defect of DMD muscle cells resulting in the clustering of both the recombinant dystrophin and the endogenous β-dystroglycan proteins along the plasma membrane of myotubes. The relocation of β -dystroglycan to the periphery of myotubes is in accordance with previous results obtained in humans where the presence of the complete dystrophin protein was shown to be important for stable membrane integration of this DGC component (Helliwell et al., 1994 [14]).

An important aspect of the present study is the use of human instead of rodent muscle cells. So far, the vast majority of studies on Ad-based gene transfer to skeletal muscle precursor cells deployed surrogate murine systems such as those based on the mouse myoblast cell line C2C12 and on primary myoblasts isolated from the DMD mouse model *mdx*. Although these systems are undoubtedly useful they cannot accurately mimic human cell-specific parameters. For instance, the molecular composition and expression levels of cellular receptors and co-receptors engaged by *Adenoviridae* members may differ between human and rodent cells.

Early region-deleted Ad vectors are of limited use for DMD gene therapy because they cannot accommodate the full-length human dystrophin-coding sequence and encode immunogenic viral gene products. For these reasons, attention has been directed to hcAd vectors, which do not encode viral gene products and can induce the synthesis of the complete, and thus fully functional, dystrophin protein (Kochanek et al., 2001 [15]). However, hitherto hcAd vectors have mostly been based on Ad5, which uses CAR to enter cells. Hence, these vectors do not transduce muscle cells efficiently. Redirecting hcAd vectors to alternative cell surface molecules is an attractive approach to by-pass the CAR dependency. By using capsid-modified helper Ad vectors carrying an RGD peptide or a polyhistidine stretch in the HI loop of the fiber knob, Biermann and coworkers altered the tropism of hcAd vectors (Biermann et al., 2004 [16]). More recently, Bramson and colleagues generated hcAd particles incorporating RGD or polylysine sequences into the same fiber loop (Bramson et al., 2004 [17]). These authors demonstrated that vectors with the polylysine-modified knobs yielded 12- and 21-fold higher reporter gene activities in mouse C2C12 myoblasts and myotubes, respectively, than control vectors. The effect of the latter fiber modification on the gene transfer activity in skeletal muscle was less pronounced. Another genetic method to alter the tropism of hcAd vectors consists of endowing them with fibers derived from alternative Ad serotypes. Using hcAd vectors displaying Ad serotype 35 fiber domains, Balamotis and colleagues showed efficient transduction of human cancer and blood cell types with reporter genes (Balamotis et al., 2004 [18]). To by-pass the CAR dependency, we provided dual hcAd/AAV hybrid vector particles with Ad50 fiber domains. In side-by-side rescue and propagation experiments, fiber-modified and control vectors encoding different heterologous DNA combinations including recombinant *dystrophin* expression units reached comparable titers. Moreover, we demonstrated that two-gene-encoding dual hcAd/AAV hybrid vectors particles can be produced as good as single-gene-encoding versions. This feature can be exploited to, for instance, combine full-length human dystrophin synthesis with expression of myogenic or cell survival genes to enhance muscle regeneration or preserve myoblast survival after transplantation, respectively.

The very efficient genetic complementation of dystrophin-defective human muscle cells by tropism-modified dual hcAd/AAV hybrid vectors encoding the complete human dystrophin protein constitute an important step towards an autologous cell therapy for DMD. Potentially useful target cells for DMD cell therapy are satellite cells and their myoblast progeny (Skuk and Tremblay, 2003 [19]) but also recently isolated and characterized stem cells that have the capacity to differentiate into or fuse with muscle cells (Cossu and Sampaolesi, 2004 [20]). Stable transduction of these myogenic cells is best accomplished through targeted host DNA integration to minimize positional effects on therapeutic gene expression and to dispel the emergence of insertional oncogenesis. Conventional hcAd vectors do not fulfill this requirement. Dual hcAd/AAV hybrid vectors, on the other hand, can stably transduce human cells through AAV Rep-mediated site-specific insertion of foreign DNA into the host cell genome (Gonçalves et al., 2005 [5]). Ongoing research in our laboratory focuses on the development of methods to introduce and express in cells with myogenic potential AAV Rep activities in a transient manner.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Recombinant DNA. The construction of the hybrid vector shuttle plasmids pAd/AAV.EGFP and pAd/AAV.eDYS has been detailed elsewhere (Gonçalves et al., 2005 [5]). The DsRed- and human dystrophin-encoding construct pAd/AAV.DsRed.DYS was made by insertion of a human *UbiC* promoter fragment into the unique *NruI* site of the hybrid vector shuttle plasmid pAd/AAV.eDYS (Gonçalves et al., 2005 [5]). The *NruI* recognition sequence precedes the *dystrophin* ORF and lies immediately downstream of the simian virus 40 pA of the *DsRed* expression unit. The *UbiC* promoter fragment was amplified from plasmid pUbCR#1 (Nenoi et al., 1996 [21]) (a kind gift from M. Nenoi) by polymerase chain reaction using the Platinum Taq DNA polymerase High Fidelity enzyme mixture (Invitrogen) together with primers hUbiCR (5'-CGTAAGCTTGTCTAACAAAAAGCCAAAAACGG-3') and M13F (5'-GACGTTGTAAAACGACGGCCAGT-3'). The amplified DNA was digested with *Hind*III (Fermentas) and blunt-ended with the large fragment of *Escherichia coli* DNA polymerase I (Fermentas) and the resulting 2,2-kb product was ligated to *Nru*-linearized and shrimp alkaline phosphatase-treated pAd/AAV.DsRed.

Cells. HeLa (American Type Culture Collection) and 911 (Fallaux et al., 1996 [22]) cells were kept in Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium (DMEM) (Invitrogen) supplemented with 5% fetal bovine serum (FBS) (Invitrogen). For the production of dual hcAd/AAV hybrid vectors we used Per.tTA.Cre76 cells. These Ad5 *E1-* and bacteriophage P1 *cre-*expressing cells were cultured as detailed before (Gonçalves et al., 2002 [23]). Cultures of primary DMD myoblasts were kindly provided by P.A. 't Hoen. The growth and differentiation conditions for the *TERT-* and *Bmil-*immortalized DMD myoblasts have been described elsewhere (Cudré-Mauroux et al., 2003 [12]). These cells have been shown to maintain a diploid

karyotype and the ability to form myotubes upon extensive subculturing (Cudré-Mauroux et al., 2003 [12]). Importantly, cultures of *TERT*- and *BmiI*-immortalized DMD myoblasts are devoid of fibroblasts. In contrast, primary myoblast cultures are often contaminated with fibroblasts, which tend to outgrow the muscle progenitor cells and may confound interpretation of gene transfer experiments. Their human origin together with the features mentioned above makes cultures of the immortalized dystrophin-defective myoblasts an excellent *ex vivo* model to test strategies aiming at the rescue of dystrophin synthesis.

Immunophenotyping. The expression of CAR and CD46 on the surface of HeLa cells and of DMD myoblasts was determined by flow cytometry. Aliquots of each cell type were incubated with MAbs directed against CAR (Hsu et al., 1988 [24]) or CD46 (Becton Dickinson). The CAR-specific MAb is of the IgG1 isotype and was isolated from cell line RmcB, whereas the anti-CD46 antibody is of the IgG2a isotype and was derived from hybridoma E4.3. The CD46-specific MAb was coupled to the fluorescein isothiocyanate (FITC) fluorochrome, allowing direct detection. The CAR-specific MAb was detected with a secondary FITC-conjugated goat anti-mouse antibody (Becton Dickinson). This secondary antibody was added to the cells immediately after the addition of the primary CAR-specific MAb. As controls for non-specific binding, we used either fluorescently labeled isotype-matched MAbs specific for a non-human antigen (negative control for CD46 staining) (Becton Dickinson) or incubated the cells exclusively with the FITC-labeled secondary antibody (negative control for CAR staining). After a 30-min incubation at 4°C the cells were washed with phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) containing 0.5% bovine serum albumin (Sigma-Aldrich) and were analyzed directly using a FACSort flow cytometer (Becton

Dickinson). Typically, 10,000 events were acquired and the data were stored in list mode files and processed using CellQuest Software (Becton Dickinson).

Replication-defective Ad vectors with the E1 deleted. The production and titration of the E1-deleted Ad vectors Ad5 and Ad5F50 have been described previously (Knaän-Shanzer et al., 2001 [25]). The number of virus particles (VP) per ml was determined using the spectrophotometric method described by Maizel and colleagues (Maizel et al., 1968 [26]). The number of IU per ml was determined by TCID₅₀ assays using the E1-complementing 911 cells (Fallaux et al., 1996 [22]). The VP/IU ratios of the Ad5 and Ad5F50 vector stocks were 11 and 5, respectively. Details about the generation and characterization of the helper Ad vector Ad.floxed Ψ have been specified elsewhere (Gonçalves et al. 2002 [23]). The fiber-modified recombinant helper Ad Ad.floxed Ψ .F50 was produced in the same manner has Ad.floxed Ψ except that the shuttle plasmid pAd.floxed Ψ (Gonçalves et al., 2002 [23]) was transfected together with cosmid pWE/Ad.Afl-rITR.pac.RFib50 instead of pWE/Ad.Afl-rITR.pac.RFib55 (Knaän-Shanzer et al., 2001 [25]).

Production of dual hcAd/AAV hybrid vectors. Dual hcAd/AAV hybrid vector stocks were obtained as previously described (Gonçalves et al., 2005 [5]). Titres were determined through limiting dilutions on HeLa indicator cells followed by flow cytometry (Gonçalves et al., 2005 [5]).

Vector DNA extraction and Southern blot analysis. The extraction, purification and Southern blot analysis of dual hcAd/AAV hybrid vector DNA have been specified elsewhere (Gonçalves et al., 2005 [5]).

Transduction conditions. Gene transfer into DMD myoblasts by the EGFP-encoding Ad5 and A5F50 vectors was tested as follows. One hundred thousand immortalized DMD myoblasts were seeded in triplicate in wells of 24-well plates (Greiner). The next day, the cells were incubated for 3 h at 37°C either with Ad5 or Ad5F50 vector particles at 1, 3, 10, 30 and 100 IU per cell. Both direct fluorescence microscopy and flow cytometry were performed at 48 h post-infection. Gene transfer into DMD myoblasts by dual hcAd/AAV hybrid vectors was carried out as follows. Immortalized DMD myoblasts were seeded at a density of 3.3×10^5 cells per well of 6-well plates (Greiner). After overnight incubation in a humidified air-5% CO₂ atmosphere, the cells were transduced with the DsRed- and dystrophin-encoding dual hcAd/AAV.F50 hybrid vector at 30 HTU per cell for 3 h at 37°C. The next day, infected and mock-infected cultures were either exposed to myotube differentiation medium and cultured in a 10% CO₂ atmosphere or were maintained in normal growth medium in a 5% CO₂ atmosphere. Direct fluorescence microscopy (to visualize DsRed) and immunofluorescence microscopy following staining with dystrophin- or skMHC type II-specific MAbs were performed at 6 days post-infection.

DMD myotube formation was induced by culturing 1.2×10^6 immortalized DMD myoblasts in wells of 6-well plates (Greiner) for 5 to 6 days in differentiation medium in a 10% CO₂ atmosphere. The resulting DMD myotube cultures were exposed for 3 h to Ad5, Ad5F50 or the dual hcAd/AAV.F50 hybrid vector encoding both DsRed and dystrophin. The Ad5 and Ad5F50 vectors were applied at an MOI of 100 IU per cell, whereas the dual hcAd/AAV.F50 hybrid vector was used at an MOI of 30 HTU per cell. These dosages were calculated on the basis of the number of myoblasts present immediately prior to the start of the differentiation process. Mock-transduced cultures provided negative controls for (immuno)fluorescence microscopy.

Dystrophin, β-dystroglycan and skMHC type II immunostaining. Dystrophin was detected using NCL-DYS2 (Novocastra), a carboxy terminus-specific MAb of the IgG1 isotype together with the Alexa Fluor 488 goat anti-mouse IgG1 secondary antibody (Molecular Probes). These primary and secondary antibodies were diluted 40- and 500-fold, respectively, in PBS containing 10 mM glycine and 5% FBS. The presence of fast-twitch skMHC was investigated with the aid of the IgG1 molecules secreted by hybridoma MY-32 (Sigma) in combination with the Alexa Fluor 568 goat anti-mouse IgG1 secondary antibody (Molecular Probes). These primary and secondary antibodies were used at dilutions of 1:200 and 1:500, respectively. The β-dystroglycan immunofluorescence assays were performed with a 50-fold dilution of the IgG1 MAb NCL-b-DG (Novocastra) and the aforementioned Alexa Fluor 488 antibody. Except for the use of other antibodies, a reduction in the concentration of Triton-X to 0.1% (vol/vol) and the fixation with 10% formalin for 30 min, the protocol of Gonçalves et al. (2005) [5] was followed.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The authors are indebted to Jeffrey Bergelson (Children's Hospital of Philadelphia, Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, United States of America), Jacques Tremblay (Human Genetic Research Unit, Laval University Hospital Center, Sainte-Foy, Quebec, Canada) and Mitsuru Nenoi (Radiation Hazards Research Group, National Institute of Radiological Sciences, Chiba, Japan), for donating the CAR-specific MAb and the plasmids pDysE and pUbCR#1, respectively. We also thank Peter-Bram 't Hoen and Annemieke Aartsma-Rus (Department of Human Clinical Genetics, Leiden University Medical Center, Leiden, the Netherlands) for providing the primary DMD myoblast cultures and the β -dystroglycan-specific MAb, respectively. Part of this research was funded by the Dutch Prinses Beatrix Fonds for neuromuscular diseases (research grant MAR04-0222).

REFERENCES

- Blake, D.J., Weir, A., Newey, S.E., and Davies, K.E. (2002). Function and genetics of dystrophin and dystrophin-related proteins in muscle. *Physiol. Rev.* 82: 291-329.
- 2. Bujold, M., *et al.* (2002). Autotransplantation in *mdx* mice of *mdx* myoblasts genetically corrected by an HSV-1 amplicon vector. *Cell Transplant.* 11: 759-767.
- Bachrach, E., *et al.* (2004). Systemic delivery of human microdystrophin to regenerating mouse dystrophic muscle by muscle progenitor cells. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 101: 3581-3586.
- Quenneville, S.P., *et al.* (2004). Nucleofection of muscle-derived stem cells and myoblasts with φC31 integrase: stable expression of a full-length-dystrophin fusion gene by human myoblasts. *Mol. Ther.* 10: 679-687.
- Gonçalves, M.A.F.V., *et al.* (2005). Transfer of the full-length dystrophin-coding sequence into muscle cells by a dual high-capacity hybrid viral vector with sitespecific integration ability. *J. Virol.* 79: 3146-3162.
- 6. Bergelson, J.M., *et al.* (1997). Isolation of a common receptor for Coxsackie B viruses and adenoviruses 2 and 5. *Science* 275: 1320-1323.
- Tomko, R.P., Xu, R., and Philipson, L. (1997). HCAR and MCAR: the human and mouse cellular receptors for subgroup C and group B coxsackieviruses. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 94: 3352-3356.
- Segerman, A., Atkinson, J.P., Marttila, M., Dennerquist, V., Wadell, G., and Arnberg, N. (2003). Adenovirus type 11 uses CD46 as a cellular receptor. *J. Virol.* 77: 9183-9191.

- Gaggar, A., Shayakhmetov, D.M., and Lieber, A. (2003). CD46 is a cellular receptor for group B adenoviruses. *Nat. Med.* 9: 1408-1412.
- 10. Nalbantoglu, J., Pari, G., Karpati, G., and Holland, P.C. (1999). Expression of the primary Coxsackie and adenovirus receptor is downregulated during skeletal muscle maturation and limits the efficacy of adenovirus-mediated gene delivery to muscle cells. *Hum. Gene Ther.* 10: 1009-1019.
- Nalbantoglu, J., Larochelle, N., Wolf, E., Karpati, G., Lochmuller, H., and Holland, P.C. (2001). Muscle-specific overexpression of the adenovirus primary receptor CAR overcomes low efficiency of gene transfer to mature skeletal muscle. *J. Virol.* 75: 4276-4282.
- Cudré-Mauroux, C., Occhiodoro, T., König, S., Salmon, P., Bernheim, L., and Trono, D. (2003). Lentivector-mediated transfer of Bmi-1 and telomerase in muscle satellite cells yields a Duchenne myoblast cell line with long-term genotypic and phenotypic stability. *Hum. Gene Ther.* 14: 1525-1533.
- Havenga, M.J., *et al.* (2002). Exploiting the natural diversity in adenovirus tropism for therapy and prevention of disease. *J. Virol.* 76: 4612-4620.
- Helliwell, T.R., Ngyen, T.M., and Morris, G.E. (1994). Expression of the 43 kDa dystrophin-associated glycoprotein in human neuromuscular disease. *Neuromuscul. Disord.* 4: 101-113.
- 15. Kochanek, S., Schiedner, G., and Volpers, C. (2001). High-capacity "gutless" adenoviral vectors. *Curr. Opin. Mol. Ther.* 3: 454-463.
- Biermann, V., *et al.* (2001). Targeting of high-capacity adenoviral vectors. *Hum. Gene Ther.* 12: 1757-1769.

- Bramson, J.L., *et al.* (2004). Helper-dependent adenoviral vectors containing modified fiber for improved transduction of developing and mature cells. *Hum. Gene Ther.* 15: 179-188.
- Balomotis, M.A., Huang, K., and Mitani, K. (2004). Efficient delivery and stable gene expression in a hematopoietic cell line using a chimeric serotype 35 fiber pseudotyped helper-dependent adenoviral vector. *Virology* 324: 229-237.
- 19. Skuk, D., and Tremblay, J.P. (2003). Myoblast transplantation: the current status of a potential therapeutic tool for myopathies. *J. Muscle Res. Cell Motil.* 24: 285-300.
- Cossu, G., and Sampaolesi, M. (2004). New therapy for muscular dystrophy: cautious optimism. *Trends Mol. Med.* 10: 516-520.
- Nenoi, M., *et al.* (1996). Heterogeneous structure of the polyubiquitin gene UbC of HeLa S3 cells. *Gene* 175: 179-185.
- 22. Fallaux, F.J., *et al.* (1996). Characterization of 911: a new helper cell line for the titration and propagation of early region 1-deleted adenoviral vectors. *Hum. Gene Ther.* 7: 215-222.
- 23. Gonçalves, M.A.F.V., *et al.* (2002). Efficient generation and amplification of high-capacity adeno-associated virus/adenovirus hybrid vectors. *J. Virol.* 76: 10734-10744.
- 24. Hsu, K.H., Lonberg-Holm, K., Alstein, B., and Crowell, R.L. (1988). A monoclonal antibody specific for the cellular receptor for the group B coxsackieviruses. *J. Virol.* 62: 1647-1652.
- 25. Knaän-Shanzer, S., van der Velde, I., Havenga, M.J., Lemckert, A.A., de Vries, A.A.F., and Valerio, D. (2001). Highly efficient targeted transduction of undifferentiated human hematopoietic cells by adenoviral vectors displaying fiber knobs of subgroup B. *Hum. Gene Ther.* 12: 1989-2005.

26. Maizel, J.V. Jr., White, D.O., and Scharff, M.D. (1968). The polypeptides of adenovirus. I. Evidence for multiple protein components in the virion and a comparison of types 2, 7A, and 12. *Virology* 36: 115-125.

LEGENDS

FIG. 1. Analysis of the expression of CAR and CD46 on the surface of DMD myoblasts. Presented are histograms of flow cytometry data from HeLa cells (upper panels) and from representative primary (middle panels) and immortalized (lower panels) DMD myoblasts stained with antibodies directed against CAR (left panels) and CD46 (right panels). The black lines represent background fluorescence of samples incubated with control antibodies.

FIG. 2. Comparative analysis of the transduction of (A, B) DMD myoblasts and (C) myotubes by Ad5 or Ad5F50 vectors encoding EGFP using (A, C) direct fluorescence microscopy and (B) flow cytometry. The flow cytometry data are presented as the frequency of EGFP-positive cells (upper graph) and their MFI values (lower graph). Target cells were incubated with each vector for 3 h at the indicated dosages and analyzed at 48 h post-infection.

FIG. 3. Strategy used to retarget dual hcAd/AAV hybrid vectors. (A) The genome of the E1deleted (Δ E1) helper Ad vector Ad.floxed Ψ .F50 differs from the Ad.floxed Ψ DNA in that the Ad5 sequence encoding most of the shaft and the complete knob domain is substituted by homologous sequences derived from Ad50. In both helper Ad vectors, the packaging elements (Ψ) are framed by a direct repeat of bacteriophage P1 loxP sites (solid triangles). This construction allows negative selection against the assembly of helper Ad particles in bacteriophage P1 cre-expressing cells. In hybrid vector shuttle plasmids, the eukaryotic foreign DNA is flanked at one end by the 5' Ad5 sequence encompassing the Ad origin of DNA replication and packaging signal (shaded box designated Ad.ITR/ Ψ) plus the AAV

integration efficiency element (solid circle labeled p5IEE) and at the other end by an AAV ITR (solid oval designated AAV.ITR). The β -lactamase (amp) and the prokaryotic origin of replication (ori) are also indicated. Rescue of the hybrid vector DNA into Ad capsids is initiated by releasing it from the plasmid backbone at the indicated restriction enzyme recognition sites (RE) and transfecting the digestion products into Per.tTA.Cre76 cells. These cells are subsequently infected with Ad.floxed Ψ .F50 to supply in trans all Ad DNA replication activities and Ad structural proteins (among these the chimeric fiber proteins) needed for the amplification and packaging of the dual hcAd/AAV hybrid vector DNA, respectively. Replication- and packaging-competent tail-to-tail dimers are assembled from input monomers due to Ad-dependent DNA replication in concert with AAV ITR-mediated dimerization (Goncalves et al., 2005 [5]). The resulting hybrid vector particles display on their surface Ad50 fiber domains and can be amplified by serial propagation in Ad.floxed YF50-infected producer cells. (B) In the present study, hybrid vector shuttle plasmids containing three different combinations of foreign DNA were used. Construct pAd/AAV.EGFP has an expression unit consisting of the human elongation factor 1α (EF1 α) gene promoter (open box with broken arrow), the EGFP open reading frame (ORF) (solid box) and the human growth hormone gene polyadenylation signal (pA) (arrowhead). In this construct the human dystrophin-coding sequence is used as stuffer DNA (open box). Plasmid pAd/AAV.eDYS contains an expression module that encodes a fusion product (eDYS) between the EGFP (solid box) and full-length human dystrophin (open box). This sequence is framed by the EF1 α gene promoter (open box with broken arrow) and the rabbit β -globin gene pA (arrowhead). Construct pAd/AAV.DsRed.DYS harbors two transcription units. The first of these units consist of the EF1 α gene promoter (open box with broken arrow), the DsRed ORF (shaded box) and the simian virus 40 pA (arrowhead). The second expression

cassette is composed of the human *ubiquitin C* (*UbiC*) promoter (solid box with broken arrow), the full-length human dystrophin-coding sequence (open box) and the rabbit β -globin gene pA (arrowhead).

FIG. 4. (A) Structural characterization of dual hcAd/AAV hybrid vector genomes packaged in Ad5 capsids (F5) or in Ad5 capsids with fiber shaft and knob sequences derived from Ad50 (F50). DNA extracted from purified hybrid vector particles obtained after four rounds of propagation on Per.tTA.Cre76 cells infected with Ad.floxed Ψ (right lane) or with Ad.floxed Ψ .F50 (middle lane) was digested with *Hinc*II, subjected to agarose gel electrophoresis and analyzed by Southern blot hybridisation with a mixture of probes 6563 and 2832. Lane M, GeneRuler DNA Ladder Mix molecular weight marker (Fermentas). (B) *Hinc*II restriction map of dimeric hybrid vector molecules with a tail-to-tail genomic organization. Solid bars represent DNA probes 6563 and 2832 drawn in relation to their target DNA sequences. Numerals correspond to restriction DNA fragment sizes in kilobases.

FIG. 5. Comparative analysis of the transduction of DMD myoblasts by unmodified (F5) or fiber-modified (F50) dual hcAd/AAV hybrid vectors encoding eDYS. Target cells were incubated for 3 h with the specified vector dosages. At 72 h post-infection, the percentages of dystrophin-positive cells were determined by flow cytometry using the amino-terminal EGFP tag of eDYS for detection. Mock-infected myoblasts were used to establish background fluorescence.

FIG. 6. Genetic complementation of DMD muscle cells by fiber-modified dual hcAd/AAV hybrid vectors. DMD myoblasts were either mock-infected (A, B, C) or incubated with a dual hcAd/AAV.F50 hybrid vector coding for DsRed and dystrophin at 30 HTU per cell (D, E, F).

Direct (A, D) and indirect (B, E) fluorescence microscopy were performed after culturing the myoblasts for 6 days in growth medium. DsRed- and dystrophin-specific signals were also merged (C, F). DMD myotubes differentiated from mock-infected (G, H, I, J) or from dual hcAd/AAV.F50 hybrid vector-transduced myoblasts (K, L, M, N, O, P) were analyzed at 6 days post-infection by direct fluorescence microscopy (G, K, N) and by immunofluorescence microscopy following staining with MAbs directed against dystrophin (H, L, O) or skMHC type II (J). In panels I, M and P, the DsRed- and dystrophin-specific signals were merged. Differentiated DMD myotubes were also directly transduced with the two-gene-containing dual hcAd/AAV.F50 hybrid vector at 30 HTU per cell and analyzed by direct (Q, T) and indirect (R, U) fluorescence microscopy at 32 h post-infection. DsRed- and dystrophin-specific signals were also merged (S, V). The nuclei in each of the DMD myotube cultures were stained with the blue-emitting fluorochrome Hoechst 33342.

FIG. 7. Rescue of β -dystroglycan membrane association in DMD myotubes following transduction with fiber-modified dual hcAd/AAV hybrid vectors coding for DsRed and full-length human dystrophin. Differentiated DMD myotubes were either mock-infected (A, C, E and G) or transduced with the two-gene-containing dual hcAd/AAV.F50 hybrid vector at 30 HTU per cell (B, D, F and H) and analyzed at 32 h post-infection by direct fluorescence microscopy (A, B, E and F) and by immunofluorescence microscopy using a MAb specific for β -dystroglycan (C, D, G and H). The arrowheads in panel H point to β -dystroglycan accumulation along the plasma membrane of hybrid vector-treated DMD myotubes. Nuclei were stained with the blue-emitting fluorochrome Hoechst 33342.



FIG. 1



FIG. 2



FIG. 3



А



202







FIG. 6



FIG. 7

3.3 CONCLUSION OF THE SECOND STUDY

In an attempt to improve delivery of dual hc Ad/AAV vectors in DMD muscle cells, surface labelings of these cells were done with antibodies directed against CAR and CD46, which are, respectively, receptors for the Ad5 and Ad50 fibers. It was found that CAR is poorly expressed at the surface of DMD muscle cell. In the contrary, CD46 is well expressed on DMD muscle cells. Similar observations could be done with human DMD myotubes. Consequently, the envelope of the dual hc Ad/AAV vectors were modified to bind to CD46. This was done by modifying the Helper Adenovirus used for production of the vectors. Briefly, the sequences of the Ad5 Heloper Adenovirus were replaced by those of the Ad50 Virus, which are able to bind to CD46.

The newly designed Ad50 fibers dual hc Ad/AAV vector could be produced at similar efficiency as the former Ad5 fibers dual hc Ad/AAV vectors, and it was used for complementation of dystrophin in our human DMD cell line. This resulted in a high transduction of these cells, at rates highly superior of that of the former control dual hc Ad/AAV vector. This suggested that high transduction levels can be done in myoblasts with Adeno vectors surrounded of fibre 50 proteins. The resulting complemented DMD muscle cells were characterized. It was controlled that dystrophin was present in these cells, but not in mock-transfected cultures. When the complemented cells were induced for differentiation, not only Dystrophin could be seen in myotubes, but also modifications in the Dystroglycan Complex were observed. Particularly, after complementation of dystrophin, DMD myotubes were found to have membrane-positioning of β -dystroglycan. In the contrary, the staining of uncomplemented DMD muscles for β -dystroglycan was weak and diffuse. This suggested that Dystrophin cDNAs brought by dual hc Ad/AAV vectors were able to correct the phenotype of DMD *in vitro*. Indeed, sufficient amounts of Dystrophin are known to contribute to the formation of a proper DGC complex at the sarcolemma of muscle cells (Blake et al., 2002).

These experiments proved the value of the newly designed Ad50 fibers dual hc Ad/AAV particles to correct our DMD immortalized cell line with Dystrophin. As a result, these

experiments also showed the value of our Duchenne cell line for the study of the *in vitro* correction of the DMD phenotype. Until now, most of the time, only the murine cell line C2C12 was used for studies of DMD. However, it is known that muscle cells from human or mice have different regulation mechanisms. Then, our human Duchenne cell line permits a new way to study DMD. Particularly, it allows studying DMD in a human system, without to have to extract cells from human Duchenne muscle biopsies.

Thus, this article has demonstrated the potentiality of our Duchenne cell line for cell studies, particularly for studies aiming at the correction of the human Duchenne phenotype. It has also demonstrated that fibre 50 dual hc Ad/AAV vectors may be a tool of choice for correction of DMD. However, additional experiments are needed to prove the utility of these vectors in other systems, and particularly *in vivo*. Before that, ongoing research in the laboratory of our collaborators is aiming at expressing AAV Rep proteins in a transient manner in host cells. This would allow to have specific integration of the transgenes in the *AAVI* locus, but without to express the Rep proteins when they are not needed.

CHAPTER 4: GENERAL CONCLUSIONS

Aiming at the fabrication of a model for Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy, the articles presented in this thesis have shown, first, the generation of a new human DMD cell line which has normal phenotypic properties, and second, complementation of this cell line with Dystrophin, to obtain a normal muscle cell line with the same genetic background as our Duchenne cell line.

We could obtain a DMD cell line after addition of different oncogenes into human primary DMD myoblasts. Lentiviral vectors were used for these immortalization purposes. We have used these vectors because they have sufficient packaging capacities and because they have integrational properties that allow long term expression of a transgene in dividing cells. After addition of different cocktails of lentivectors containing the transgenes TAg, Bmi-1, hTERT and Bcl-2, we found that myoblasts immortalized with Bmi-1 and hTERT were superior to other immortalized cells. Not only these cells had normal shapes and proliferation capacities as compared to the primary myoblasts, they also had normal growth arrest and differentiation once placed in differentiation medium. Additional experiments have verified that these cells had a normal karyotype, and this was not the case for cells immortalized with TAg, or with TAg + hTERT. None of the cell lines tested here was shown to be tumorigenic in nude mice. This does not mean, however, that these cell lines may not acquire carcinogenic properties. Particularly, we think that the unstable karyotype of TAg-immortalized cells might be particularly able to trigger the mutations that are necessary to lead to carcinogenesis. In the contrary, it has been shown that Bmi-1 + hTERT immortalized cells have stable karyotypes. This may suggest that these cells have normal anti-tumorigenic properties, and, therefore, these cells may be largely protected from the acquisition and perpetuation of mutations leading to tumorigenesis.

In our study, a Duchenne cell line was obtained, after immortalization with Bmi-1 and telomerase. The resulting cell line was able to fuse at normal rates, and has been observed to conserve the normal phenotypic properties of myoblasts even after more than one year in

culture. We believe that this cell line will be useful for sudies aiming to correct DMD in gene therapy purposes, but also to test various drugs for DMD.

In the second article, we show that the DMD immortalized cell line could be complemented with Dystrophin, to lead to a new human normal muscle cell line, with the same genetic background as our Duchenne cell line. For this purpose, an existing dual high capacity Ad/AAV vector was used. Lentiviral vectors and AAV vectors alone are not able to carry the full-length cDNA of dystrophin, which is the longest human gene currently known. However, the AAV capacities to integrate in the *AAV1* locus of chromosme 19 could be exploited here, as well as the Adenovirus vector property to package very large transgenes. So, a dual hc Ad/AAV vector was used. This vector was further modified to target a receptor abundantly found on myoblast cells. Indeed, the existing dual hc Ad/AAV were dependint upon their Ad5 fibre for entry, and then dependant upon presence of CAR receptors on target cells. However, it was shown that CAR receptors are not abundantly distributed on myoblast cells, but CD46 receptors were. For this reason, the Adeno Helper virus used to produce dual hc Ad/AAV vectors were modified to be surrounded by the part of the Ad50 fibre which can bind to CD46. The resulting pseudotyped vector was shown to be as efficiently produced as the control vector from which it originated.

The dual Dys hc Ad/AAV vectror was used for transduction of our Duchenne cell line that was immortalized with Bmi-1 and hTERT. This led to correction of the DMD phenotype *in vitro*, with correct expression of dystrophin at the plasma membrane, in the contrary of control mock-transduced DMD myotubes. Because relocalization of beta-dystroglycan was also observed at the plasma membrane, this suggests that our DMD cell line could be complemented with Dystrophin to allow formation of a functional DGC complex.

Currently, our collaborators aim to express Rep proteins in a transient manner in myotubes, to still ensure that the transgenes are introduced into the *AAV1* locus, but also to prevent the cells from the danger associated with the ongoing expression of these viral genes. However, even if Rep transient expression if achieved, this might not be sufficient to ensure that no mistaken integration occurs outside of the *AAV1* locus. For this reason, we are going now to talk about the long-term perspectives linked to find a cure to DMD. We are also going to talk more broadly about immortalization purposes.

4.1 Long-term perspectives

After the immortalization of myoblats with Bmi-1 and hTERT, new cell lines have been established in our laboratory with these same transgenes, but all cell types could not be immortalized with this regimen of oncogenes. Therefore, still additional research should be pursued before we are able to immortalize all cell types. Immortalization of additional cell types will enable not only to obtain new cell lines, but also cell lines with therapeutic purposes. For instance, obtention of a hepatic cell line is of importance to help to cure liver-related diseases. Moreover, obtention of pancreatic beta cells would be useful in attempts to cure Type I diabetes. However, obtention of immortalized cells does not mean that all diseases can be easily corrected.

For instance, if a Duchenne phenotype has been corrected *in vitro*, some people might think that there is only one step to cross to correct the DMD phenotype in patients. However, *in vivo* correction of DMD is still a long-term goal. Moreover, even though immortalized cells could be used for this purpose, it could be better and easier to use other types of cells, which could be used with less genetic modifications.

This is why, until now, *in vivo* correction of DMD is envisaged through transplantation of cells that can finally express dystrophin. These cells may be stem cells, satellite cells or progenitor muscular cells. Nonetheless, the problem, until now, is that the transplantated cells have poor survival capacities and only a small fraction of them cells contribute to muscle regeneration. These limitations have to be overcome before to envisage *in vivo* correction of DMD in patients.

Before any clinical trials are begun with gene therapy, different possible adverse effects should be considered. They relate to the correction of the muscle cells before transplantation. Indeed, it is often viral-derived vectors that are used to correct in the long-term genetic defects, in our case Dystrophin deficiency. Nevertheless, these vectors may integrate in

regions where there are tumor suppressors or oncogenes, which may knock down some tumor suppressors or enhance the expression of oncogenes.

In the second article presented here, a strategy has been proposed to insert dystrophin into the *AAV1* locus of chromosome 19. However, it is probable that this technique can not avoid insertional mutagenesis because of mistakenly integrations outside of the *AAV1* locus. Thus, this adverse possibility remains to be investigated.

To ensure proper integration, it may be an interesting to try to achieve a targeted integration in the exact region to be corrected. This has already been attempted with rAAV, but at the moment only 1 targeted integration occurs for 10 non-targeted integrations (Chamberlain et al., 2004). Adenoviral vectors have also been recently used for this purpose, but they are also not yet very efficient for targeted integration (Ohbayashi et al., 2005).

Despite the current difficulty to reach targeted integration, it is desirable that such a method is made available. Indeed, this may be a very adequate mechanism for gene therapy purposes. However, random transgene integration in different areas of the genome may also be beneficial. However, it remains to be defined where exactly the integrations are not detrimental for the host. Once this is known, it will be able to test (by PCR methods) all the integration events in a gene therapy experiment, before to transplant the modified cells into a host. In fact, it is probable that in the long-term, only cells with properly defined insertional events will be suitable for transplantation into hosts. Until this is achieved, before to begin a gene therapy experiment, it should be at least ensured that the risk associated with gene therapy purposes should be lower than the risk associated with the disease.

5. REFERENCES

Adams, J. M., Harris, A. W., Pinkert, C. A., Corcoran, L. M., Alexander, W. S., Cory, S., Palmiter, R. D., and Brinster, R. L. (1985). The c-myc oncogene driven by immunoglobulin enhancers induces lymphoid malignancy in transgenic mice. Nature *318*, 533-538.

Alani, R. M., Young, A. Z., and Shifflett, C. B. (2001). Id1 regulation of cellular senescence through transcriptional repression of p16/Ink4a. PNAS *98*, 7812-7816.

Algarra, I., Garcia-Lora, A., Cabrera, T., Ruiz-Cabello, F., and Garrido, F. (2004). The selection of tumor variants with altered expression of classical and nonclassical MHC class I molecules: implications for tumor immune escape. Cancer Immunol Immunother *53*, 904-910.

Al-Hajj, M., Wicha, M. S., Benito-Hernandez, A., Morrison, S. J., and Clarke, M. F. (2003). From the Cover: Prospective identification of tumorigenic breast cancer cells. PNAS *100*, 3983-3988.

Ali, S. H., and DeCaprio, J. A. (2001). Cellular transformation by SV40 large T antigen: interaction with host proteins. Seminars in Cancer Biology *11*, 15-23.

Alkema, M. J., Jacobs, H., van Lohuizen, M., and Berns, A. (1997). Pertubation of B and T cell development and predisposition to lymphomagenesis in Emu Bmi1 transgenic mice require the Bmi1 RING finger. Oncogene *15*, 899-910.

Andres, V. (2004). Unexpected Proatherogenic Properties of p21: Beyond Cell Cycle Control? Circulation *110*, 3749-3752.

Artandi, S. E., and DePinho, R. A. (2000). A critical role for telomeres in suppressing and facilitating carcinogenesis. Current Opinion in Genetics & Development *10*, 39-46.

Atadja, P., Wong, H., Garkavtsev, I., Veillette, C., and Riabowol, K. (1995). Increased Activity of p53 in Senescing Fibroblasts. PNAS *92*, 8348-8352.

Ausserlechner, M. J., Obexer, P., Wiegers, G. J., Hartmann, B. L., Geley, S., and Kofler, R. (2001). The Cell Cycle Inhibitor p16INK4A Sensitizes Lymphoblastic Leukemia Cells to Apoptosis by Physiologic Glucocorticoid Levels. J Biol Chem 276, 10984-10989.

Avantaggiati, M. L., Carbone, M., Graessmann, A., Nakatani, Y., Howard, B., and Levine, A. S. (1996). The SV40 large T antigen and adenovirus E1a oncoproteins interact with distinct isoforms of the transcriptional co-activator, p300. Embo J *15*, 2236-2248.

Bachrach, E., Li, S., Perez, A. L., Schienda, J., Liadaki, K., Volinski, J., Flint, A., Chamberlain, J., and Kunkel, L. M. (2004). Systemic delivery of human microdystrophin to regenerating mouse dystrophic muscle by muscle progenitor cells. PNAS *101*, 3581-3586.

Barclay, W. W., Woodruff, R. D., Hall, M. C., and Cramer, S. D. (2005). A System for Studying Epithelial-Stromal Interactions Reveals Distinct Inductive Abilities of Stromal Cells from Benign Prostatic Hyperplasia and Prostate Cancer. Endocrinology *146*, 13-18.

Barnard, W., Bower, J., Brown, M. A., Murphy, M., and Austin, L. (1994). Leukemia inhibitory factor (LIF) infusion stimulates skeletal muscle regeneration after injury: Injured muscle expresses lif mRNA. Journal of the Neurological Sciences *123*, 108-113.

Baroffio, A., Hamann, M., Bernheim, L., Bochaton-Piallat, M.-L., Gabbiani, G., and Bader, C. R. (1996). Identification of self-renewing myoblasts in the progeny of single human muscle satellite cells. Differentiation *60*, 47-57.

Baylin, S., and Bestor, T. H. (2002). Altered methylation patterns in cancer cell genomes: cause or consequence? Cancer Cell *1*, 299-305.

Bea, S., Tort, F., Pinyol, M., Puig, X., Hernandez, L., Hernandez, S., Fernandez, P. L., van Lohuizen, M., Colomer, D., and Campo, E. (2001). BMI-1 Gene Amplification and Overexpression in Hematological Malignancies Occur Mainly in Mantle Cell Lymphomas. Cancer Res *61*, 2409-2412.

Beausejour, C. M., Krtolica, A., Galimi, F., Narita, M., Lowe, S. W., Yaswen, P., and Campisi, J. (2003). Reversal of human cellular senescence: roles of the p53 and p16 pathways. EMBO J 22, 4212-4222.

Belcher, R. J. (1971). Chromosome analysis of abnormal cells. Nature 231, 387-388.

Biessmann, H., Valgeirsdottir, K., Lofsky, A., Chin, C., Ginther, B., Levis, R. W., and Pardue, M.-L. (1992). HeT-A, a transposable element specifically involved in 'healing' broken chromosome ends in Drosophila melanogaster. MOL CELL BIOL *12*, 3910-3918.

Bishop, J. M. (1985). Viral oncogenes. Cell 42, 23-38.

Bissell, M. J., and Radisky, D. (2001). Putting tumours in context. Nat Rev Cancer 1, 46-54.

Black, B. L., and Olson, E. N. (1998). TRANSCRIPTIONAL CONTROL OF MUSCLE DEVELOPMENT BY MYOCYTE ENHANCER FACTOR-2 (MEF2) PROTEINS. Annual Review of Cell and Developmental Biology *14*, 167-196.

Blackburn, E. H. (2001). Switching and signaling at the telomere. Cell 106, 661-673.

Blake, D. J., and Martin-Rendon, E. (2002). Intermediate Filaments and the Function of the Dystrophin-Protein Complex. Trends in Cardiovascular Medicine *12*, 224-228.

Blake, D. J., Weir, A., Newey, S. E., and Davies, K. E. (2002). Function and Genetics of Dystrophin and Dystrophin-Related Proteins in Muscle. Physiol Rev 82, 291-329.

Blasco, M. A. (2002). Telomerase beyond telomeres. Nat Rev Cancer 2, 627-633.

Bodnar, A. G., Ouellette, M., Frolkis, M., Holt, S. E., Chiu, C. P., Morin, G. B., Harley, C. B., Shay, J. W., Lichtsteiner, S., and Wright, W. E. (1998a). Extension of life-span by introduction of telomerase into normal human cells. Science *279*, 349-352.

Bodnar, A. G., Ouellette, M., Frolkis, M., Holt, S. E., Chiu, C.-P., Morin, G. B., Harley, C.B., Shay, J. W., Lichtsteiner, S., and Wright, W. E. (1998b). Extension of life-span by introduction of telomerase into normal human cells. Science 279, 349-352.

Bogdanovich, S., Krag, T. O. B., Barton, E. R., Morris, L. D., Whittemore, L.-A., Ahima, R. S., and Khurana, T. S. (2002). Functional improvement of dystrophic muscle by myostatin blockade. *420*, 418-421.

Bohr, V. A., and Dianov, G. L. (1999). Oxidative DNA damage processing in nuclear and mitochondrial DNA. Biochimie *81*, 155-160.

Bonuccelli, G., Sotgia, F., Schubert, W., Park, D. S., Frank, P. G., Woodman, S. E., Insabato, L., Cammer, M., Minetti, C., and Lisanti, M. P. (2003). Proteasome Inhibitor (MG-132) Treatment of mdx Mice Rescues the Expression and Membrane Localization of Dystrophin and Dystrophin-Associated Proteins. Am J Pathol *163*, 1663-1675.

Boyapati, A., Wilson, M., Yu, J., and Rundell, K. (2003). SV40 17KT antigen complements dnaj mutations in large T antigen to restore transformation of primary human fibroblasts. Virology *315*, 148-158.

Brenman, J. E., Chao, D. S., Xia, H., Aldape, K., and Bredt, D. S. (1995). Nitric oxide synthase complexed with dystrophin and absent from skeletal muscle sarcolemma in Duchenne muscular dystrophy. Cell *82*, 743-752.

Brenner, A. J., Stampfer, M. R., and Aldaz, C. M. (1998). Increased p16 expression with first senescence arrest in human mammary epithelial cells and extended growth capacity with p16 inactivation. Oncogene *17*, 199-205.

Broccoli, D., Young, J. W., and De Lange, T. (1995). Telomerase activity in normal and malignant hematopoietic cells. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America *92*, 9082-9086.

Brookes, S., Rowe, J., Ruas, M., Llanos, S., Clark, P. A., Lomax, M., James, M. C., Vatcheva, R., Bates, S., Vousden, K. H., *et al.* (2002). INK4a-deficient human diploid fibroblasts are resistant to RAS-induced senescence. Embo J *21*, 2936-2945.

Brown, D. R., Deb, S., Munoz, R. M., Subler, M. A., and Deb, S. P. (1993). The tumor suppressor p53 and the oncoprotein simian virus 40 T antigen bind to overlapping domains on the MDM2 protein. Molecular and Cellular Biology *13*, 6849-6857.

Brown, G., Hughes, P. J., and Michell, R. H. (2003). Cell differentiation and proliferation-simultaneous but independent? Exp Cell Res *291*, 282-288.

Bryan, T. M., and Cech, T. R. (1999). Telomerase and the maintenance of chromosome ends. Current Opinion in Cell Biology *11*, 318-324.
Bryan, T. M., Englezou, A., Dalla-Pozza, L., Dunham, M. A., and Reddel, R. R. (1997). Evidence for an alternative mechanism for maintaining telomere length in human tumors and tumor-derived cell lines. Nature Medicine *3*, 1271-1274.

Bryan, T. M., Englezou, A., Gupta, J., Bacchetti, S., and Reddel, R. R. (1995). Telomere elongation in immortal human cells without detectable telomerase activity. EMBO Journal *14*, 4240-4248.

Campisi, J. (2001). Cellular senescence as a tumor-suppressor mechanism. Trends Cell Biol *11*, S27-31.

Campisi, J., Kim, S.-h., Lim, C.-S., and Rubio, M. (2001). Cellular senescence, cancer and aging: the telomere connection. Experimental Gerontology *36*, 1619-1637.

Cao, Y., Li, H., Deb, S., and Liu, J. P. (2002). TERT regulates cell survival independent of telomerase enzymatic activity. Oncogene *21*, 3130-3138.

Cerone, M. A., Londoo-Vallejo, J. A., and Bacchetti, S. (2001). Telomere maintenance by telomerase and by recombination can coexist in human cells. Human Molecular Genetics *10*, 1945-1952.

Chamberlain, J. R., Schwarze, U., Wang, P.-R., Hirata, R. K., Hankenson, K. D., Pace, J. M., Underwood, R. A., Song, K. M., Sussman, M., Byers, P. H., and Russell, D. W. (2004). Gene Targeting in Stem Cells from Individuals with Osteogenesis Imperfecta. Science *303*, 1198-1201.

Chan, J. M., Stampfer, M. J., Giovannucci, E., Gann, P. H., Ma, J., Wilkinson, P., Hennekens,C. H., and Pollak, M. (1998). Plasma Insulin-Like Growth Factor-I and Prostate Cancer Risk:A Prospective Study. Science 279, 563-566.

Chan, S. W., and Blackburn, E. H. (2002). New ways not to make ends meet: telomerase, DNA damage proteins and heterochromatin. Oncogene *21*, 553-563.

Chargé, S. B. P., and Rudnicki, M. A. (2004). Cellular and Molecular Regulation of Muscle Regeneration. Physiol Rev 84, 209-238.

Check, E. (2005). Gene therapy put on hold as third child develops cancer. Nature 433, 561.

Chen, J., and Goldhamer, D. (2003). Skeletal muscle stem cells. Reproductive Biology and Endocrinology *1*, 101.

Chen, Q., Fischer, A., Reagan, J., Yan, L., and Ames, B. (1995). Oxidative DNA Damage and Senescence of Human Diploid Fibroblast Cells. PNAS *92*, 4337-4341.

Chin, L., Pomerantz, J., Polsky, D., Jacobson, M., Cohen, C., Cordon-Cardo, C., Horner II, J. W., and DePinho, R. A. (1997). Cooperative effects of INK4a and ras in melanoma susceptibility in vivo. Genes and Development *11*, 2822-2834.

Chiorini, J. A., Weitzman, M. D., Owens, R. A., Urcelay, E., Safer, B., and Kotin, R. M. (1994). Biologically active Rep proteins of adeno-associated virus type 2 produced as fusion proteins in Escherichia coli. J Virol *68*, 797-804.

Choi, Y., Lee, I., and Ross, S. R. (1988). Requirement for the simian virus 40 small tumor antigen in tumorigenesis in transgenic mice. MOL CELL BIOL 8, 3382-3390.

Cicala, C., Pompetti, F., Nguyen, P., Dixon, K., Levine, A. S., and Carbone, M. (1992). SV40 small t deletion mutants preferentially transform mononuclear phagocytes and B lymphocytes in vivo. Virology *190*, 475-479.

Cirone, P., Bourgeois, J. M., Shen, F., and Chang, P. L. (2004). Combined immunotherapy and antiangiogenic therapy of cancer with microencapsulated cells. Hum Gene Ther *15*, 945-959.

Cittadini, A., Ines Comi, L., Longobardi, S., Rocco Petretta, V., Casaburi, C., Passamano, L., Merola, B., Durante-Mangoni, E., Sacca, L., and Politano, L. (2003). A preliminary randomized study of growth hormone administration in Becker and Duchenne muscular dystrophies. Eur Heart J 24, 664-672.

Classon, M., and Harlow, E. (2002). The retinoblastoma tumour suppressor in development and cancer. Nat Rev Cancer 2, 910-917.

Cleveland, J. L., and Sherr, C. J. (2004). Antagonism of Myc functions by Arf. Cancer Cell *6*, 309-311.

Collins, C. A., and Morgan, J. E. (2003). Duchenne's muscular dystrophy: animal models used to investigate pathogenesis and develop therapeutic strategies. Int J Exp Pathol *84*, 165-172.

Collins, C. J., and Sedivy, J. M. (2003). Involvement of the INK4a/Arf gene locus in senescence. Aging Cell 2, 145-150.

Conboy, I. M., and Rando, T. A. (2002). The regulation of Notch signaling controls satellite cell activation and cell fate determination in postnatal myogenesis. Dev Cell *3*, 397-409.

Conzen, S., Snay, C., and Cole, C. (1997). Identification of a novel antiapoptotic functional domain in simian virus 40 large T antigen. J Virol *71*, 4536-4543.

Cooper, G. M. (1983). Transforming genes of neoplasms. Prog Nucleic Acid Res Mol Biol 29, 273-277.

Cornelison, D. D. W., and Wold, B. J. (1997). Single-Cell Analysis of Regulatory Gene Expression in Quiescent and Activated Mouse Skeletal Muscle Satellite Cells. Developmental Biology *191*, 270-283.

Corti, S., Salani, S., Del Bo, R., Torrente, Y., Strazzer, S., Belicchi, M., Paganoni, S., Li, Z., Comi, G. P., Bresolin, N., *et al.* (2001). T-antigen regulated expression reduces apoptosis of tag-transformed human myoblasts. Cell Mol Life Sci *58*, 135-140.

Cory, S., and Adams, J. M. (1988). Transgenic mice and oncogenesis. Annu Rev Immunol 6, 25-48.

Cory, S., Huang, D. C., and Adams, J. M. (2003). The Bcl-2 family: roles in cell survival and oncogenesis. Oncogene 22, 8590-8607.

Counter, C., Avilion, A., LeFeuvre, C., Stewart, N., Greider, C., Harley, C., and Bacchetti, S. (1992a). Telomere shortening associated with chromosome instability is arrested in immortal cells which express telomerase activity. EMBO J *11*, 1921-1929.

Counter, C. M., Avilion, A. A., Lefeuvre, C. E., Stewart, N. G., Greider, C. W., Harley, C. B., and Bacchetti, S. (1992b). Telomere shortening associated with chromosome instability is arrested in immortal cells which express telomerase activity. EMBO J *11*, 1921-1929.

Counter, C. M., Avilion, A. A., LeFeuvre, C. E., Stewart, N. G., Greider, C. W., Harley, C. B., and Bacchetti, S. (1992c). Telomere shortening associated with chromosome instability is arrested in immortal cells which express telomerase activity. Embo J *11*, 1921-1929.

Counter, C. M., Botelho, F. M., Wang, P., Harley, C. B., and Bacchetti, S. (1994). Stabilization of short telomeres and telomerase activity accompany immortalization of Epstein-Barr virus-transformed human B lymphocytes. Journal of Virology *68*, 3410-3414.

Counter, C. M., Gupta, J., Harley, C. B., Leber, B., and Bacchetti, S. (1995). Telomerase activity in normal leukocytes and in hematologic malignancies. Blood *85*, 2315-2320.

Courdier-Fruh, I., Barman, L., Wettstein, P., and Meier, T. (2003). Detection of glucocorticoid-like activity in traditional Chinese medicine used for the treatment of Duchenne muscular dystrophy. Neuromuscular Disorders *13*, 699-704.

Dalkilic, I., and Kunkel, L. M. (2003). Muscular dystrophies: genes to pathogenesis. Current Opinion in Genetics & Development *13*, 231-238.

Dannenberg, J.-H., van Rossum, A., Schuijff, L., and te Riele, H. (2000). Ablation of the Retinoblastoma gene family deregulates G1 control causing immortalization and increased cell turnover under growth-restricting conditions. Genes Dev *14*, 3051-3064.

De Lange, T. (2002). Protection of mammalian telomeres. Oncogene 21, 532-540.

De Luca, A., Pierno, S., Liantonio, A., Cetrone, M., Camerino, C., Fraysse, B., Mirabella, M., Servidei, S., Ruegg, U. T., and Conte Camerino, D. (2003). Enhanced Dystrophic Progression in mdx Mice by Exercise and Beneficial Effects of Taurine and Insulin-Like Growth Factor-1. J Pharmacol Exp Ther *304*, 453-463.

DeCaprio, J. A., Ludlow, J. W., Figge, J., Shew, J.-Y., Huang, C.-M., Lee, W.-H., Marsilio, E., Paucha, E., and Livingston, D. M. (1988). SV40 large tumor antigen forms a specific complex with the product of the retinoblastoma susceptibility gene. Cell *54*, 275-283.

DePinho, R. A., and Jacks, T. (2001). Introduction. Seminars in Cancer Biology 11, 175-176.

Di Donna, S., Mamchaoui, K., Cooper, R. N., Seigneurin-Venin, S., Tremblay, J., Butler-Browne, G. S., and Mouly, V. (2003). Telomerase Can Extend the Proliferative Capacity of Human Myoblasts, but Does Not Lead to Their Immortalization. Mol Cancer Res *1*, 643-653.

Dickson, M. A., Hahn, W. C., Ino, Y., Ronfard, V., Wu, J. Y., Weinberg, R. A., Louis, D. N., Li, F. P., and Rheinwald, J. G. (2000). Human Keratinocytes That Express hTERT and Also Bypass a p16INK4a-Enforced Mechanism That Limits Life Span Become Immortal yet Retain Normal Growth and Differentiation Characteristics. Mol Cell Biol *20*, 1436-1447.

Dimri, G. P., Itahana, K., Acosta, M., and Campisi, J. (2000). Regulation of a Senescence Checkpoint Response by the E2F1 Transcription Factor and p14ARF Tumor Suppressor. Mol Cell Biol *20*, 273-285.

Dimri, G. P., Martinez, J. L., Jacobs, J. J., Keblusek, P., Itahana, K., Van Lohuizen, M., Campisi, J., Wazer, D. E., and Band, V. (2002). The Bmi-1 oncogene induces telomerase activity and immortalizes human mammary epithelial cells. Cancer Res *62*, 4736-4745.

Dirac, A. M. G., and Bernards, R. (2003). Reversal of Senescence in Mouse Fibroblasts through Lentiviral Suppression of p53. J Biol Chem 278, 11731-11734.

Drayton, S., and Peters, G. (2002). Immortalisation and transformation revisited. Current Opinion in Genetics & Development *12*, 98-104.

Dull, T., Zufferey, R., Kelly, M., Mandel, R. J., Nguyen, M., Trono, D., and Naldini, L. (1998). A Third-Generation Lentivirus Vector with a Conditional Packaging System. J Virol 72, 8463-8471.

Dyson, N. (1998). The regulation of E2F by pRB-family proteins. Genes Dev 12, 2245-2262.

Dyson, N., Buchkovich, K., Whyte, P., and Harlow, E. (1989). The cellular 107K protein that binds to adenovirus E1A also associates with the large T antigens of SV40 and JC virus. Cell *58*, 249-255.

Eckner, R., Ludlow, J. W., Lill, N. L., Oldread, E., Arany, Z., Modjtahedi, N., DeCaprio, J. A., Livingston, D. M., and Morgan, J. A. (1996). Association of p300 and CBP with simian virus 40 large T antigen. Molecular and Cellular Biology *16*, 3454-3464.

Elledge, S. J. (1996). Cell Cycle Checkpoints: Preventing an Identity Crisis. Science 274, 1664-1672.

Emery, A. E. H. (2000). Emery-Dreifuss muscular dystrophy - a 40 year retrospective. Neuromuscular Disorders *10*, 228-232.

Emery, A. E. H. (2002). The muscular dystrophies. The Lancet 359, 687-695.

Espejel, S., and Blasco, M. A. (2002). Identification of telomere-dependent "senescence-like" arrest in mouse embryonic fibroblasts. Exp Cell Res 276, 242-248.

Espejel, S., Franco, S., Rodriguez-Perales, S., Bouffler, S. D., Cigudosa, J. C., and Blasco, M. A. (2002). Mammalian Ku86 mediates chromosomal fusions and apoptosis caused by critically short telomeres. Embo J *21*, 2207-2219.

Friend, S. H., Bernards, R., Rogelj, S., and et, a. (1986). A human DNA segment with properties of the gene that predisposes to retinoblastoma and osteosarcoma. NATURE *323*, 643-646.

Garcia-Lora, A., Algarra, I., Collado, A., and Garrido, F. (2003). Tumour immunology, vaccination and escape strategies. Eur J Immunogenet *30*, 177-183.

Gasmi, M., Glynn, J., Jin, M.-J., Jolly, D. J., Yee, J.-K., and Chen, S.-T. (1999). Requirements for Efficient Production and Transduction of Human Immunodeficiency Virus Type 1-Based Vectors. J Virol 73, 1828-1834.

Gey, G. O., Coffman, W. D., and Kubicek, M. T. (1952). Tissue culture studies of the proliferative capacity of cervical carcinoma and normal epithelium. Cancer Research *12*, 264-265.

Gilbert, R., Dudley, R. W. R., Liu, A.-B., Petrof, B. J., Nalbantoglu, J., and Karpati, G. (2003). Prolonged dystrophin expression and functional correction of mdx mouse muscle following gene transfer with a helper-dependent (gutted) adenovirus-encoding murine dystrophin. Hum Mol Genet *12*, 1287-1299.

Gilbert, R., Liu, A., Petrof, B., Nalbantoglu, J., and Karpati, G. (2002). Improved performance of a fully gutted adenovirus vector containing two full-length dystrophin cDNAs regulated by a strong promoter. Mol Ther *6*, 501-509.

Gire, V., and Wynford-Thomas, D. (1998). Reinitiation of DNA Synthesis and Cell Division in Senescent Human Fibroblasts by Microinjection of Anti-p53 Antibodies. Mol Cell Biol *18*, 1611-1621.

Gisselsson, D., Jonson, T., Petersen, A., Strombeck, B., Dal Cin, P., Hoglund, M., Mitelman, F., Mertens, F., and Mandahl, N. (2001). Telomere dysfunction triggers extensive DNA fragmentation and evolution of complex chromosome abnormalities in human malignant tumors. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America *98*, 12683-12688.

Goncalves, M. A. F. V., van Nierop, G. P., Tijssen, M. R., Lefesvre, P., Knaan-Shanzer, S., van der Velde, I., van Bekkum, D. W., Valerio, D., and de Vries, A. A. F. (2005). Transfer of the Full-Length Dystrophin-Coding Sequence into Muscle Cells by a Dual High-Capacity Hybrid Viral Vector with Site-Specific Integration Ability. J Virol *79*, 3146-3162.

Gonzalez-Suarez, E., Samper, E., Ramirez, A., Flores, J. M., Martin-Caballero, J., Jorcano, J. L., and Blasco, M. A. (2001). Increased epidermal tumors and increased skin wound healing in transgenic mice overexpressing the catalytic subunit of telomerase, mTERT, in basal keratinocytes. Embo J *20*, 2619-2630.

Goodrich, D. W., Wang, N. P., Qian, Y. W., Lee, E. Y., and Lee, W. H. (1991). The retinoblastoma gene product regulates progression through the G1 phase of the cell cycle. Cell *67*, 293-302.

Gorbunova, V., Seluanov, A., and Pereira-Smith, O. M. (2002). Expression of Human Telomerase (hTERT) Does Not Prevent Stress-induced Senescence in Normal Human Fibroblasts but Protects the Cells from Stress-induced Apoptosis and Necrosis. J Biol Chem 277, 38540-38549.

Goytisolo, F. A., and Blasco, M. A. (2002). Many ways to telomere dysfunction: in vivo studies using mouse models. Oncogene *21*, 584-591.

Greelish, J. P., Su, L. T., Lankford, E. B., Burkman, J. M., Chen, H., Konig, S. K., Mercier, I. M., Desjardins, P. R., Mitchell, M. A., Zheng, X. G., *et al.* (1999). Stable restoration of the sarcoglycan complex in dystrophic muscle perfused with histamine and a recombinant adeno-associated viral vector. Nat Med *5*, 439-443.

Gregorevic, P., and Chamberlain, J. S. (2003). Gene therapy for muscular dystrophy - a review of promising progress. Expert Opin Biol Ther *3*, 803-814.

Gregorevic, P., Plant, D. R., Leeding, K. S., Bach, L. A., and Lynch, G. S. (2002). Improved Contractile Function of the mdx Dystrophic Mouse Diaphragm Muscle after Insulin-Like Growth Factor-I Administration. Am J Pathol *161*, 2263-2272.

Greider, C. W., and Blackburn, E. H. (1985). Identification of a specific telomere terminal transferase activity in tetrahymena extracts. Cell *43*, 405-413.

Greve, J. M., and Gottlieb, D. I. (1982). Monoclonal antibodies which alter the morphology of cultured chick myogenic cells. J Cell Biochem *18*, 221-229.

Griggs, R., Moxley, R., 3d, Mendell, J., Fenichel, G., Brooke, M., Pestronk, A., Miller, J., Cwik, V., Pandya, S., and Robison, J. (1993). Duchenne dystrophy: randomized, controlled trial of prednisone (18 months) and azathioprine (12 months). Neurology *43*, 520-527.

Grobelny, J. V., Kulp-McEliece, M., and Broccoli, D. (2001). Effects of reconstitution of telomerase activity on telomere maintenance by the alternative lengthening of telomeres (ALT) pathway. Human Molecular Genetics *10*, 1953-1961.

Grounds, M. D. (1987). Phagocytosis of necrotic muscle in muscle isografts is influenced by the strain, age, and sex of host mice. J Pathol *153*, 71-82.

Grounds, M. D., and McGeachie, J. K. (1989). A comparison of muscle precursor replication in crush-injured skeletal muscle of Swiss and BALBc mice. Cell Tissue Res *255*, 385-391.

Gussoni, E., Soneoka, Y., Strickland, C. D., Buzney, E. A., Khan, M. K., Flint, A. F., Kunkel, L. M., and Mulligan, R. C. (1999). Dystrophin expression in the mdx mouse restored by stem cell transplantation. Nature *401*, 390-394.

Hackett, J. A., Feldser, D. M., and Greider, C. W. (2001). Telomere Dysfunction Increases Mutation Rate and Genomic Instability. Cell *106*, 275-286.

Hahn, W. C., Counter, C. M., Lundberg, A. S., Beijersbergen, R. L., Brooks, M. W., and Weinberg, R. A. (1999a). Creation of human tumour cells with defined genetic elements. Nature *400*, 464-468.

Hahn, W. C., Dessain, S. K., Brooks, M. W., King, J. E., Elenbaas, B., Sabatini, D. M., DeCaprio, J. A., and Weinberg, R. A. (2002). Enumeration of the simian virus 40 early region elements necessary for human cell transformation. Molecular and Cellular Biology *22*, 2111-2123.

Hahn, W. C., Stewart, S. A., Brooks, M. W., York, S. G., Eaton, E., Kurachi, A., Beijersbergen, R. L., Knoll, J. H., Meyerson, M., and Weinberg, R. A. (1999b). Inhibition of telomerase limits the growth of human cancer cells. Nat Med *5*, 1164-1170.

Hahn, W. C., Stewart, S. A., Brooks, M. W., York, S. G., Eaton, E., Kurachi, A., Beijersbergen, R. L., Knoll, J. H. M., Meyerson, M., and Weinberg, R. A. (1999c). Inhibition of telomerase limits the growth of human cancer cells. Nature Medicine *5*, 1164-1170.

Hahn, W. C., and Weinberg, R. A. (2002). Modelling the molecular circuitry of cancer. Nat Rev Cancer 2, 331-341.

Hakem, R., and Mak, T. W. (2001). ANIMAL MODELS OF TUMOR-SUPPRESSOR GENES. Annual Review of Genetics *35*, 209-241.

Hakim, F. T., Flomerfelt, F. A., Boyiadzis, M., and Gress, R. E. (2004). Aging, immunity and cancer. Current Opinion in Immunology *16*, 151-156.

Hanahan, D., and Weinberg, R. A. (2000). The Hallmarks of Cancer. Cell 100, 57-70.

Hara, E., Tsurui, H., Shinozaki, A., Nakada, S., and Oda, K. (1991). Cooperative effect of antisense-Rb and antisense-p53 oligomers on the extension of life span in human diploid fibroblasts, TIG-1. Biochem Biophys Res Commun *179*, 528-534.

Harley, C. B., Futcher, A. B., and Greider, C. W. (1990a). Telomeres shorten during ageing of human fibroblasts. NATURE *345*, 458-460.

Harley, C. B., Futcher, A. B., and Greider, C. W. (1990b). Telomeres shorten during ageing of human fibroblasts. Nature *345*, 458-460.

Harper, S. Q., Hauser, M. A., DelloRusso, C., Duan, D., Crawford, R. W., Phelps, S. F., Harper, H. A., Robinson, A. S., Engelhardt, J. F., Brooks, S. V., and Chamberlain, J. S. (2002). Modular flexibility of dystrophin: implications for gene therapy of Duchenne muscular dystrophy. Nat Med 8, 253-261.

Harris, H. (2004). Tumour suppression: putting on the brakes. Nature 427, 201.

Harvey, M., Sands, A. T., Weiss, R. S., Hegi, M. E., Wiseman, R. W., Pantazis, P., Giovanella, B. C., Tainsky, M. A., Bradley, A., and Donehower, L. A. (1993). In vitro growth characteristics of embryo fibroblasts isolated from p53-deficient mice. Oncogene *8*, 2457-2467.

Hastie, N. D., Dempster, M., Dunlop, M. G., Thompson, A. M., Green, D. K., and Allshire, R.C. (1990). Telomere reduction in human colorectal carcinoma and with ageing. NATURE 346, 866-868.

Haupt, Y., Bath, M. L., Harris, A. W., and Adams, J. M. (1993). bmi-1 transgene induces lymphomas and collaborates with myc in tumorigenesis. Oncogene *8*, 3161-3164.

Hawke, T. J., and Garry, D. J. (2001). Myogenic satellite cells: physiology to molecular biology. J Appl Physiol *91*, 534-551.

Hayflick, L., and Moorhead, P. S. (1961). The serial cultivation of human diploid cell strains. Exp Cell Res 25, 585-621.

Hayward, N. K. (2003). Genetics of melanoma predisposition. Oncogene 22, 3053-3062.

Heiser, D., Labi, V., Erlacher, M., and Villunger, A. (2004). The Bcl-2 protein family and its role in the development of neoplastic disease. Experimental Gerontology *39*, 1125-1135.

Henning, W., Rohaly, G., Kolzau, T., Knipschild, U., Maacke, H., and Deppert, W. (1997). MDM2 is a target of simian virus 40 in cellular transformation and during lytic infection. Journal of Virology *71*, 7609-7618. Henson, J. D., Neumann, A. A., Yeager, T. R., and Reddel, R. R. (2002). Alternative lengthening of telomeres in mammalian cells. Oncogene *21*, 598-610.

Herbert, B. S., Wright, W. E., and Shay, J. W. (2002). p16(INK4a) inactivation is not required to immortalize human mammary epithelial cells. Oncogene *21*, 7897-7900.

Herbig, U., Jobling, W. A., Chen, B. P. C., Chen, D. J., and Sedivy, J. M. (2004). Telomere Shortening Triggers Senescence of Human Cells through a Pathway Involving ATM, p53, and p21CIP1, but Not p16INK4a. Molecular Cell *14*, 501-513.

Herrera, E., Martinez-A, C., and Blasco, M. A. (2000). Impaired germinal center reaction in mice with short telomeres. EMBO Journal *19*, 472-481.

Hinds, P. W., Mittnacht, S., Dulic, V., Arnold, A., Reed, S. I., and Weinberg, R. A. (1992). Regulation of retinoblastoma protein functions by ectopic expression of human cyclins. Cell *70*, 993-1006.

Hipfner, D. R., and Cohen, S. M. (2004). Connecting proliferation and apoptosis in development and disease. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol *5*, 805-815.

Hiyama, K., Hirai, Y., Kyoizumi, S., Akiyama, M., Hiyama, E., Piatyszek, M. A., Shay, J.W., Ishioka, S., and Yamakido, M. (1995). Activation of telomerase in human lymphocytes and hematopoietic progenitor cells. Journal of Immunology *155*, 3711-3715.

Hong, G., Ward, P., and Berns, K. I. (1994). Intermediates of adeno-associated virus DNA replication in vitro. J Virol *68*, 2011-2015.

Horsley, V., Jansen, K. M., Mills, S. T., and Pavlath, G. K. (2003). IL-4 Acts as a Myoblast Recruitment Factor during Mammalian Muscle Growth. Cell *113*, 483-494.

Horsley, V., and Pavlath, G. K. (2004). Forming a Multinucleated Cell: Molecules That Regulate Myoblast Fusion.

Hunter, T. (1991). Cooperation between oncogenes. Cell 64, 249-270.

Huot, T. J., Rowe, J., Harland, M., Drayton, S., Brookes, S., Gooptu, C., Purkis, P., Fried, M., Bataille, V., Hara, E., *et al.* (2002). Biallelic Mutations in p16INK4a Confer Resistance to

Ras- and Ets-Induced Senescence in Human Diploid Fibroblasts. Mol Cell Biol 22, 8135-8143.

Irintchev, A., and Wernig, A. (1987). Muscle damage and repair in voluntarily running mice: strain and muscle differences. Cell Tissue Res 249, 509-521.

Itahana, K., Dimri, G., and Campisi, J. (2001). Regulation of cellular senescence by p53. Eur J Biochem 268, 2784-2791.

Itahana, K., Zou, Y., Itahana, Y., Martinez, J.-L., Beausejour, C., Jacobs, J. J. L., van Lohuizen, M., Band, V., Campisi, J., and Dimri, G. P. (2003). Control of the Replicative Life Span of Human Fibroblasts by p16 and the Polycomb Protein Bmi-1. Mol Cell Biol *23*, 389-401.

Jacks, T., and Weinberg, R. A. (2002). Taking the study of cancer cell survival to a new dimension. Cell 111, 923-925.

Jackson, K. A., Mi, T., and Goodell, M. A. (1999). From the Cover: Hematopoietic potential of stem cells isolated from murine skeletal muscle. PNAS *96*, 14482-14486.

Jacobs, J. J., Kieboom, K., Marino, S., DePinho, R. A., and van Lohuizen, M. (1999a). The oncogene and Polycomb-group gene bmi-1 regulates cell proliferation and senescence through the ink4a locus. Nature *397*, 164-168.

Jacobs, T. W., Byrne, C., Colditz, G., Connolly, J. L., and Schnitt, S. J. (1999b). Radial scars in benign breast-biopsy specimens and the risk of breast cancer. New England Journal of Medicine *340*, 430-436.

Jacobsen, K., Groth, A., and Willumsen, B. M. (2002). Ras-inducible immortalized fibroblasts: focus formation without cell cycle deregulation. Oncogene *21*, 3058-3067.

Jankowski, R. J., and Huard, J. (2004). Establishing reliable criteria for isolating myogenic cell fractions with stem cell properties and enhanced regenerative capacity. Blood Cells, Molecules, and Diseases *32*, 24-33.

Janssens, V., Goris, J., and Van Hoof, C. (2005). PP2A: the expected tumor suppressor. Current Opinion in Genetics & Development *15*, 34-41. Jejurikar, S. S., and Kuzon, W. M., Jr. (2003). Satellite cell depletion in degenerative skeletal muscle. Apoptosis *8*, 573-578.

Jiang, D., Srinivasan, A., Lozano, G., and Robbins, P. D. (1993). SV40 T antigen abrogates p53-mediated transcriptional activity. Oncogene *8*, 2805-2812.

Johnson, D. G., Schwarz, J. K., Cress, W. D., and Nevins, J. R. (1993). Expression of transcription factor E2F1 induces quiescent cells to enter S phase. Nature *365*, 349-352.

Kameda, N., Kobayashi, T., Park-Matsumoto, Y. C., Tsukagoshi, H., and Shimizu, T. (1993). Developmental studies of the expression of myosin heavy chain isoforms in cultured human muscle aneurally and innervated with fetal rat spinal cord. J Neurol Sci *114*, 85-98.

Kamijo, T., Weber, J. D., Zambetti, G., Zindy, F., Roussel, M. F., and Sherr, C. J. (1998). Functional and physical interactions of the ARF tumor suppressor with p53 and Mdm2. PNAS *95*, 8292-8297.

Kamijo, T., Zindy, F., Roussel, M. F., Quelle, D. E., Downing, J. R., Ashmun, R. A., Grosveld, G., and Sherr, C. J. (1997). Tumor suppression at the mouse INK4a locus mediated by the alternative reading frame product p19ARF. Cell *91*, 649-659.

Kelley, W. L., and Georgopoulos, C. (1997). The T/t common exon of simian virus 40, JC, and BK polyomavirus T antigens can functionally replace the J-domain of the Escherichia coli DnaJ molecular chaperone. PNAS *94*, 3679-3684.

Kierstead, T. D., and Tevethia, M. J. (1993). Association of p53 binding and immortalization of primary C57BL/6 mouse embryo fibroblasts by using simian virus 40 T-antigen mutants bearing internal overlapping deletion mutations. Journal of Virology *67*, 1817-1829.

Kinzler, K. W., and Vogelstein, B. (1996). Lessons from hereditary colorectal cancer. Cell 87, 159-170.

Kiyono, T., Foster, S. A., Koop, J. I., McDougall, J. K., Galloway, D. A., and Klingelhutz, A. J. (1998). Both Rb/p16INK4a inactivation and telomerase activity are required to immortalize human epithelial cells. Nature *396*, 84-88.

Knudsen, K. A., and Horwitz, A. F. (1977). Tandem events in myoblast fusion. Dev Biol 58, 328-338.

Knudson, A. G. (2001). Two genetic hits (more or less) to cancer. Nat Rev Cancer 1, 157-162.

Ko, L. J., and Prives, C. (1996). p53: Puzzle and paradigm. Genes and Development 10, 1054-1072.

Konig, S., Hinard, V., Arnaudeau, S., Holzer, N., Potter, G., Bader, C. R., and Bernheim, L. (2004). Membrane Hyperpolarization Triggers Myogenin and Myocyte Enhancer Factor-2 Expression during Human Myoblast Differentiation. J Biol Chem 279, 28187-28196.

Korgaonkar, C., Zhao, L., Modestou, M., and Quelle, D. E. (2002). ARF Function Does Not Require p53 Stabilization or Mdm2 Relocalization. Mol Cell Biol 22, 196-206.

Kotin, R. M., Menninger, J. C., Ward, D. C., and Berns, K. I. (1991). Mapping and direct visualization of a region-specific viral DNA integration site on chromosome 19q13-qter. Genomics *10*, 831-834.

Krishnamurthy, J., Torrice, C., Ramsey, M. R., Kovalev, G. I., Al-Regaiey, K., Su, L., and Sharpless, N. E. (2004). Ink4a/Arf expression is a biomarker of aging. J Clin Invest *114*, 1299-1307.

Kuo, M.-L., den Besten, W., Bertwistle, D., Roussel, M. F., and Sherr, C. J. (2004). N-terminal polyubiquitination and degradation of the Arf tumor suppressor. Genes Dev 18, 1862-1874.

Kusakari, T., Kariya, M., Mandai, M., Tsuruta, Y., Hamid, A. A., Fukuhara, K., Nanbu, K., Takakura, K., and Fujii, S. (2003). C-erbB-2 or mutant Ha-ras induced malignant transformation of immortalized human ovarian surface epithelial cells in vitro. Br J Cancer *89*, 2293-2298.

Lagresle, C., Gardie, B., Eyquem, S., Fasseu, M., Vieville, J.-C., Pla, M., Sigaux, F., and Bories, J.-C. (2002). Transgenic Expression of the p16INK4a Cyclin-Dependent Kinase

Inhibitor Leads to Enhanced Apoptosis and Differentiation Arrest of CD4-CD8- Immature Thymocytes. J Immunol *168*, 2325-2331.

Land, H., Parada, L. F., and Weinberg, R. A. (1983). Tumorigenic conversion of primary embryo fibroblasts requires at least two cooperating oncogenes. Nature *304*, 596-602.

Lapidos, K. A., Kakkar, R., and McNally, E. M. (2004). The Dystrophin Glycoprotein Complex: Signaling Strength and Integrity for the Sarcolemma. Circ Res *94*, 1023-1031.

Lapidot, T., Sirard, C., Vormoor, J., Murdoch, B., Hoang, T., Caceres-Cortes, J., Minden, M., Paterson, B., Caligiuri, M. A., and Dick, J. E. (1994). A cell initiating human acute myeloid leukaemia after transplantation into SCID mice. Nature *367*, 645-648.

Laval, S. H., and Bushby, K. M. D. (2004). Limb-girdle muscular dystrophies - from genetics to molecular pathology. Neuropathol Appl Neurobiol *30*, 91-105.

Lee, H. W., Blasco, M. A., Gottlieb, G. J., Horner, J. W., 2nd, Greider, C. W., and DePinho, R. A. (1998). Essential role of mouse telomerase in highly proliferative organs. Nature *392*, 569-574.

Lengauer, C., Kinzler, K. W., and Vogelstein, B. (1998). Genetic instabilities in human cancers. Nature *396*, 643-649.

Lill, N. L., Tevethia, M. J., Eckner, R., Livingston, D. M., and Modjtahedi, N. (1997). p300 Family members associate with the carboxyl terminus of simian virus 40 large tumor antigen. Journal of Virology *71*, 129-137.

Loeb, L. A. (2001). A Mutator Phenotype in Cancer. Cancer Res 61, 3230-3239.

Lowe, S. W., Ruley, H. E., Jacks, T., and Housman, D. E. (1993). p53-dependent apoptosis modulates the cytotoxicity of anticancer agents. Cell *74*, 957-967.

Lowe, S. W., and Sherr, C. J. (2003). Tumor suppression by Ink4a-Arf: progress and puzzles. Current Opinion in Genetics & Development *13*, 77-83.

Malmberg, K.-J., Schaffer, M., Ringden, O., Remberger, M., and Ljunggren, H.-G. (2005). KIR-ligand mismatch in allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation. Molecular Immunology *42*, 531-534.

Malumbres, M., and Barbacid, M. (2001). To cycle or not to cycle: a critical decision in cancer. Nat Rev Cancer 1, 222-231.

Maroto, M., Reshef, R., Munsterberg, A. E., Koester, S., Goulding, M., and Lassar, A. B. (1997). Ectopic Pax-3 activates MyoD and Myf-5 expression in embryonic mesoderm and neural tissue. Cell *89*, 139-148.

Martin, R. G., Setlow, V. P., Edwards, C. A. F., and Vembu, D. (1979). The roles of the simian virus 40 tumor antigens in transformation of chinese hamster lung cells. Cell *17*, 635-643.

Masters, J. R. (2000). Human cancer cell lines: fact and fantasy. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 1, 233-236.

Masutomi, K., Yu, E. Y., Khurts, S., Ben-Porath, I., Currier, J. L., Metz, G. B., Brooks, M. W., Kaneko, S., Murakami, S., and DeCaprio, J. A. (2003). Telomerase Maintains Telomere Structure in Normal Human Cells. Cell *114*, 241-253.

McCarty, D. M., Pereira, D. J., Zolotukhin, I., Zhou, X., Ryan, J. H., and Muzyczka, N. (1994). Identification of linear DNA sequences that specifically bind the adeno-associated virus Rep protein. J Virol *68*, 4988-4997.

McKinney-Freeman, S. L., Jackson, K. A., Camargo, F. D., Ferrari, G., Mavilio, F., and Goodell, M. A. (2002). Muscle-derived hematopoietic stem cells are hematopoietic in origin. PNAS *99*, 1341-1346.

Metzinger, L., Passaquin, A. C., Leijendekker, W. J., Poindron, P., and Ruegg, U. T. (1995). Modulation by prednisolone of calcium handling in skeletal muscle cells. Br J Pharmacol *116*, 2811-2816. Mietz, J. A., Unger, T., Huibregtse, J. M., and Howley, P. M. (1992). The transcriptional transactivation function of wild-type p53 is inhibited by SV40 large T-antigen and by HPV-16 E6 oncoprotein. EMBO Journal *11*, 5013-5020.

Milyavsky, M., Shats, I., Erez, N., Tang, X., Senderovich, S., Meerson, A., Tabach, Y., Goldfinger, N., Ginsberg, D., Harris, C. C., and Rotter, V. (2003). Prolonged culture of telomerase-immortalized human fibroblasts leads to a premalignant phenotype. Cancer Res *63*, 7147-7157.

Miranda, A. F., Babiss, L. E., and Fisher, P. B. (1983). Transformation of human skeletal muscle cells by simian virus 40. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *80*, 6581-6585.

Mitchell, C. A., McGeachie, J. K., and Grounds, M. D. (1992). Cellular differences in the regeneration of murine skeletal muscle: a quantitative histological study in SJL/J and BALB/c mice. Cell Tissue Res *269*, 159-166.

Mitchell, R. S., Beitzel, B. F., Schroder, A. R. W., Shinn, P., Chen, H., Berry, C. C., Ecker, J. R., and Bushman, F. D. (2004). Retroviral DNA Integration: ASLV, HIV, and MLV Show Distinct Target Site Preferences. PLoS Biology 2, e234.

Miyoshi, H., Blomer, U., Takahashi, M., Gage, F. H., and Verma, I. M. (1998). Development of a Self-Inactivating Lentivirus Vector. J Virol 72, 8150-8157.

Moisset, P. A., Gagnon, Y., Karpati, G., and Tremblay, J. P. (1998). Expression of human dystrophin following the transplantation of genetically modified mdx myoblasts. Gene Ther *5*, 1340-1346.

Molofsky, A. V., Pardal, R., Iwashita, T., Park, I. K., Clarke, M. F., and Morrison, S. J. (2003). Bmi-1 dependence distinguishes neural stem cell self-renewal from progenitor proliferation. Nature *425*, 962-967.

Morrison, S. J., Qian, D., Jerabek, L., Thiel, B. A., Park, I.-K., Ford, P. S., Kiel, M. J., Schork, N. J., Weissman, I. L., and Clarke, M. F. (2002). A Genetic Determinant That Specifically Regulates the Frequency of Hematopoietic Stem Cells. J Immunol *168*, 635-642.

Moyzis, R. K., Buckingham, J. M., Cram, L. S., Dani, M., Deaven, L. L., Jones, M. D., Meyne, J., Ratliff, R. L., and Wu, J. R. (1988). A highly conserved repetitive DNA sequence, (TTAGGG)n, present at the telomeres of human chromosomes. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 85, 6622-6626.

Mungre, S., Enderle, K., Turk, B., Porras, A., Wu, Y.-Q., Mumby, M. C., and Rundell, K. (1994). Mutations which affect the inhibition of protein phosphatase 2A by simian virus 40 small-t antigen in vitro decrease viral transformation. Journal of Virology *68*, 1675-1681.

Muntoni, F., Torelli, S., and Ferlini, A. (2003). Dystrophin and mutations: one gene, several proteins, multiple phenotypes. The Lancet Neurology *2*, 731-740.

Naldini, L., Blomer, U., Gallay, P., Ory, D., Mulligan, R., Gage, F. H., Verma, I. M., and Trono, D. (1996). In Vivo Gene Delivery and Stable Transduction of Nondividing Cells by a Lentiviral Vector. Science *272*, 263-267.

Narita, M., Nunez, S., Heard, E., Lin, A. W., Hearn, S. A., Spector, D. L., Hannon, G. J., and Lowe, S. W. (2003). Rb-mediated heterochromatin formation and silencing of E2F target genes during cellular senescence. Cell *113*, 703-716.

Nevins, J. R. (1998). Toward an understanding of the functional complexity of the E2F and retinoblastoma families. Cell Growth Differ *9*, 585-593.

Noda, A., Ning, Y., Venable, S. F., Pereira-Smith, O. M., and Smith, J. R. (1994). Cloning of Senescent Cell-Derived Inhibitors of DNA Synthesis Using an Expression Screen. Experimental Cell Research *211*, 90-98.

Odelberg, S. J., Kollhoff, A., and Keating, M. T. (2000). Dedifferentiation of Mammalian Myotubes Induced by msx1. Cell *103*, 1099-1109.

O'Driscoll, M., Cerosaletti, K. M., Girard, P.-M., Dai, Y., Stumm, M., Kysela, B., Hirsch, B., Gennery, A., Palmer, S. E., and Seidel, J. (2001). DNA Ligase IV Mutations Identified in Patients Exhibiting Developmental Delay and Immunodeficiency. Molecular Cell *8*, 1175-1185.

Oexle, K., and Kohlschutter, A. (2001). Cause of progression in Duchenne muscular dystrophy: impaired differentiation more probable than replicative aging. Neuropediatrics *32*, 123-129.

O'Hagan, R. C., Chang, S., Maser, R. S., Mohan, R., Artandi, S. E., Chin, L., and DePinho, R. A. (2002). Telomere dysfunction provokes regional amplification and deletion in cancer genomes. Cancer Cell *2*, 149-155.

Ohbayashi, F., Balamotis, M. A., Kishimoto, A., Aizawa, E., Diaz, A., Hasty, P., Graham, F. L., Caskey, C. T., and Mitani, K. (2005). Correction of chromosomal mutation and random integration in embryonic stem cells with helper-dependent adenoviral vectors. PNAS *102*, 13628-13633.

Ohtani, N., Zebedee, Z., Huot, T. J., Stinson, J. A., Sugimoto, M., Ohashi, Y., Sharrocks, A. D., Peters, G., and Hara, E. (2001). Opposing effects of Ets and Id proteins on p16INK4a expression during cellular senescence. Nature *409*, 1067-1070.

Okazaki, K., and Holtzer, H. (1965). An analysis of myogenesis in vitro using fluoresceinlabeled antimyosin. J Histochem Cytochem *13*, 726-739.

Oren, M., Maltzman, W., and Levine, A. J. (1981). Post-translational regulation of the 54K cellular tumor antigen in normal and transformed cells. MOL CELL BIOL *1*, 101-110.

Otterson, G. A., Kratzke, R. A., Coxon, A., Kim, Y. W., and Kaye, F. J. (1994). Absence of p16(INK4) protein is restricted to the subset of lung cancer lines that retains wildtype RB. Oncogene *9*, 3375-3378.

Pacchia, A. L., Adelson, M. E., Kaul, M., Ron, Y., and Dougherty, J. P. (2001). An Inducible Packaging Cell System for Safe, Efficient Lentiviral Vector Production in the Absence of HIV-1 Accessory Proteins. Virology 282, 77-86.

Packer, L., and Fuehr, K. (1977). Low oxygen concentration extends the lifespan of cultured human diploid cells. Nature 267, 423-425.

Pantoja, C., and Serrano, M. (1999). Murine fibroblasts lacking p21 undergo senescence and are resistant to transformation by oncogenic Ras. Oncogene *18*, 4974-4982.

Park, I. K., Morrison, S. J., and Clarke, M. F. (2004). Bmi1, stem cells, and senescence regulation. J Clin Invest *113*, 175-179.

Park, I.-k., Qian, D., Kiel, M., Becker, M. W., Pihalja, M., Weissman, I. L., Morrison, S. J., and Clarke, M. F. (2003). Bmi-1 is required for maintenance of adult self-renewing haematopoietic stem cells. Nature *423*, 302-305.

Parks, R., and Graham, F. (1997). A helper-dependent system for adenovirus vector production helps define a lower limit for efficient DNA packaging. J Virol *71*, 3293-3298.

Passegue, E., Jamieson, C. H. M., Ailles, L. E., and Weissman, I. L. (2003). Normal and leukemic hematopoiesis: Are leukemias a stem cell disorder or a reacquisition of stem cell characteristics? PNAS *100*, 11842-11849.

Peden, K. W. C., Srinivasan, A., Farber, J. M., and Pipas, J. M. (1989). Mutants with changes within or near a hydrophobic region of simian virus 40 large tumor antigen are defective for binding cellular protein p53. Virology *168*, 13-21.

Peng, H., and Huard, J. (2004). Muscle-derived stem cells for musculoskeletal tissue regeneration and repair. Transplant Immunology *12*, 311-319.

Perkins, K. J., and Davies, K. E. (2002). The role of utrophin in the potential therapy of Duchenne muscular dystrophy. Neuromuscular Disorders *12*, S78-S89.

Perrem, K., Colgin, L. M., Neumann, A. A., Yeager, T. R., and Reddel, R. R. (2001). Coexistence of alternative lengthening of telomeres and telomerase in hTERT-transfected GM847 cells. Molecular and Cellular Biology *21*, 3862-3875.

Phillips, R. L., Ernst, R. E., Brunk, B., Ivanova, N., Mahan, M. A., Deanehan, J. K., Moore, K. A., Overton, G. C., and Lemischka, I. R. (2000). The Genetic Program of Hematopoietic Stem Cells. Science 288, 1635-1640.

Phillips, R. L., Reinhart, A. J., and Van Zant, G. (1992). Genetic control of murine hematopoietic stem cell pool sizes and cycling kinetics. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 89, 11607-11611.

Philpott, N. J., Giraud-Wali, C., Dupuis, C., Gomos, J., Hamilton, H., Berns, K. I., and Falck-Pedersen, E. (2002a). Efficient Integration of Recombinant Adeno-Associated Virus DNA Vectors Requires a p5-rep Sequence in cis. J Virol *76*, 5411-5421.

Philpott, N. J., Gomos, J., Berns, K. I., and Falck-Pedersen, E. (2002b). A p5 integration efficiency element mediates Rep-dependent integration into AAVS1 at chromosome 19. PNAS 99, 12381-12385.

Pincon-Raymond, M., Vicart, P., Bois, P., Chassande, O., Romey, G., Varadi, G., Li, Z. L., Lazdunski, M., Rieger, F., and Paulin, D. (1991). Conditional immortalization of normal and dysgenic mouse muscle cells by the SV40 large T antigen under the vimentin promoter control. Dev Biol *148*, 517-528.

Plath, T., Detjen, K., Welzel, M., von Marschall, Z., Murphy, D., Schirner, M., Wiedenmann, B., and Rosewicz, S. (2000). A Novel Function for the Tumor Suppressor p16INK4a: Induction of Anoikis via Upregulation of the {alpha}5{beta}1 Fibronectin Receptor. J Cell Biol *150*, 1467-1478.

Polesskaya, A., Seale, P., and Rudnicki, M. A. (2003). Wnt Signaling Induces the Myogenic Specification of Resident CD45+ Adult Stem Cells during Muscle Regeneration. Cell *113*, 841-852.

Pomerantz, J., Schreiber-Agus, N., Liegeois, N. J., Silverman, A., Alland, L., Chin, L., Potes, J., Chen, K., Orlow, I., and Lee, H.-W. (1998). The Ink4a Tumor Suppressor Gene Product, p19Arf, Interacts with MDM2 and Neutralizes MDM2's Inhibition of p53. Cell *92*, 713-723.

Pompei, F., Polkanov, M., and Wilson, R. (2001). Age distribution of cancer in mice: the incidence turnover at old age. Toxicol Ind Health *17*, 7-16.

Porras, A., Bennett, J., Howe, A., Tokos, K., Bouck, N., Henglein, B., Sathyamangalam, S., Thimmapaya, B., and Rundell, K. (1996). A novel simian virus 40 early-region domain mediates transactivation of the cyclin A promoter by small-t antigen and is required for transformation in small-t antigen-dependent assays. Journal of Virology *70*, 6902-6908.

Prescott, S. M., and Fitzpatrick, F. A. (2000). Cyclooxygenase-2 and carcinogenesis. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - Reviews on Cancer *1470*, M69-M78. Prowse, K. R., and Greider, C. W. (1995). Developmental and tissue-specific regulation of mouse telomerase and telomere length. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America *92*, 4818-4822.

Qin, X., Livingston, D., Kaelin, W., Jr, and Adams, P. (1994). Deregulated Transcription Factor E2F-1 Expression Leads to S-Phase Entry and p53-Mediated Apoptosis. PNAS *91*, 10918-10922.

Qin, X. Q., Chittenden, T., Livingston, D. M., and Kaelin, W. G., Jr. (1992). Identification of a growth suppression domain within the retinoblastoma gene product. Genes Dev *6*, 953-964.

Radisky, D., Hagios, C., and Bissell, M. J. (2001). Tumors are unique organs defined by abnormal signaling and context. Seminars in Cancer Biology *11*, 87-95.

Radisky, D., Muschler, J., and Bissell, M. J. (2002). Order and disorder: the role of extracellular matrix in epithelial cancer. Cancer Invest 20, 139-153.

Rajalingam, K., Wunder, C., Brinkmann, V., Churin, Y., Hekman, M., Sievers, C., Rapp, U. R., and Rudel, T. (2005). Prohibitin is required for Ras-induced Raf-MEK-ERK activation and epithelial cell migration. *7*, 837-843.

Ramirez, R. D., Morales, C. P., Herbert, B.-S., Rohde, J. M., Passons, C., Shay, J. W., and Wright, W. E. (2001). Putative telomere-independent mechanisms of replicative aging reflect inadequate growth conditions. Genes Dev *15*, 398-403.

Rando, T. A. (2002). Oligonucleotide-mediated gene therapy for muscular dystrophies. Neuromuscular Disorders *12*, S55-S60.

Rane, S. G., Cosenza, S. C., Mettus, R. V., and Reddy, E. P. (2002). Germ Line Transmission of the Cdk4R24C Mutation Facilitates Tumorigenesis and Escape from Cellular Senescence. Mol Cell Biol 22, 644-656.

Rangarajan, A., and Weinberg, R. A. (2003). Opinion: Comparative biology of mouse versus human cells: modelling human cancer in mice. Nat Rev Cancer *3*, 952-959.

Reddel, R. R. (2000). The role of senescence and immortalization in carcinogenesis. Carcinogenesis 21, 477-484.

Reddel, R. R. (2003). Alternative lengthening of telomeres, telomerase, and cancer. Cancer Lett 194, 155-162.

Reya, T., Morrison, S. J., Clarke, M. F., and Weissman, I. L. (2001). Stem cells, cancer, and cancer stem cells. Nature *414*, 105-111.

Reyes, M., Lund, T., Lenvik, T., Aguiar, D., Koodie, L., and Verfaillie, C. M. (2001). Purification and ex vivo expansion of postnatal human marrow mesodermal progenitor cells. Blood *98*, 2615-2625.

Rich, J. N., Guo, C., McLendon, R. E., Bigner, D. D., Wang, X.-F., and Counter, C. M. (2001). A Genetically Tractable Model of Human Glioma Formation. Cancer Res *61*, 3556-3560.

Rifai, Z., Welle, S., Moxley, R. T., 3rd, Lorenson, M., and Griggs, R. C. (1995). Effect of prednisone on protein metabolism in Duchenne dystrophy. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab 268, E67-74.

Roberts, P., McGeachie, J. K., and Grounds, M. D. (1997). The host environment determines strain-specific differences in the timing of skeletal muscle regeneration: cross-transplantation studies between SJL/J and BALB/c mice. J Anatomy *191*, 585-594.

Rodriguez, P. C., Zea, A. H., and Ochoa, A. C. (2003). Mechanisms of tumor evasion from the immune response. Cancer Chemother Biol Response Modif *21*, 351-364.

Rolstad, B. (2001). The athymic nude rat: an animal experimental model to reveal novel aspects of innate immune responses? Immunol Rev *184*, 136-144.

Romero, N. B., Braun, S., Benveniste, O., Leturcq, F., Hogrel, J. Y., Morris, G. E., Barois, A., Eymard, B., Payan, C., Ortega, V., *et al.* (2004). Phase I study of dystrophin plasmid-based gene therapy in Duchenne/Becker muscular dystrophy. Hum Gene Ther *15*, 1065-1076.

Roninson, I. B. (2002). Oncogenic functions of tumour suppressor p21Waf1/Cip1/Sdi1: association with cell senescence and tumour-promoting activities of stromal fibroblasts. Cancer Letters *179*, 1-14.

Roninson, I. B. (2003). Tumor Cell Senescence in Cancer Treatment. Cancer Res 63, 2705-2715.

Rosen, G. D., Sanes, J. R., LaChance, R., Cunningham, J. M., Roman, J., and Dean, D. C. (1992). Roles for the integrin VLA-4 and its counter receptor VCAM-1 in myogenesis. Cell *69*, 1107-1119.

Roskelley, C. D., Srebrow, A., and Bissell, M. J. (1995). A hierarchy of ECM-mediated signalling regulates tissue-specific gene expression. Curr Opin Cell Biol 7, 736-747.

Roth, C. W., Kobeski, F., Walter, M. F., and Biessmann, H. (1997). Chromosome end elongation by recombination in the mosquito Anopheles gambiae. Molecular and Cellular Biology *17*, 5176-5183.

Ruley, H. E. (1983). Adenovirus early region 1A enables viral and cellular transforming genes to transform primary cells in culture. Nature *304*, 602-606.

Rundell, K., and Parakati, R. (2001). The role of the SV40 ST antigen in cell growth promotion and transformation. Seminars in Cancer Biology *11*, 5-13.

Sage, J., Miller, A. L., Perez-Mancera, P. A., Wysocki, J. M., and Jacks, T. (2003). Acute mutation of retinoblastoma gene function is sufficient for cell cycle re-entry. Nature *424*, 223-228.

Sage, J., Mulligan, G. J., Attardi, L. D., Miller, A., Chen, S., Williams, B., Theodorou, E., and Jacks, T. (2000). Targeted disruption of the three Rb-related genes leads to loss of G1 control and immortalization. Genes Dev *14*, 3037-3050.

Sager, R. (1989). Tumor suppressor genes: the puzzle and the promise. Science 246, 1406-1412.

Sager, R. (1997). Expression genetics in cancer: Shifting the focus from DNA to RNA. PNAS *94*, 952-955.

Salmon, P., Oberholzer, J., Occhiodoro, T., Morel, P., Lou, J., and Trono, D. (2000). Reversible immortalization of human primary cells by lentivector-mediated transfer of specific genes. Mol Ther 2, 404-414. Scherer, W. F., Syverton, J. T., and Gey, G. O. (1953). Studies on the propagation in vitro of poliomyelitis viruses. IV. Viral multiplication in a stable strain of human malignant epithelial cells (strain HeLa) derived from an epidermoid carcinoma of the cervix. J Exp Med *97*, 695-710.

Scott, J. M., Li, S., Harper, S. Q., Welikson, R., Bourque, D., DelloRusso, C., Hauschka, S. D., and Chamberlain, J. S. (2002). Viral vectors for gene transfer of micro-, mini-, or full-length dystrophin. Neuromuscular Disorders *12*, S23-S29.

Seale, P., Sabourin, L. A., Girgis-Gabardo, A., Mansouri, A., Gruss, P., and Rudnicki, M. A. (2000). Pax7 is required for the specification of myogenic satellite cells. Cell *102*, 777-786.

Segawa, K., Minowa, A., Sugasawa, K., Takano, T., and Hanaoka, F. (1993). Abrogation of p53-mediated transactivation by SV40 large T antigen. Oncogene *8*, 543-548.

Seidel, B., Braeg, S., Adler, G., Wedlich, D., and Menke, A. (2004). E- and N-cadherin differ with respect to their associated p120ctn isoforms and their ability to suppress invasive growth in pancreatic cancer cells. Oncogene *23*, 5532-5542.

Seigneurin-Venin, S., Bernard, V., and Tremblay, J. P. (2000). Telomerase allows the immortalization of T antigen-positive DMD myoblasts: a new source of cells for gene transfer application. Gene Ther 7, 619-623.

Serrano, M., Lee, H.-W., Chin, L., Cordon-Cardo, C., Beach, D., and DePinho, R. A. (1996). Role of the INK4a Locus in Tumor Suppression and Cell Mortality. Cell *85*, 27-37.

Serrano, M., Lin, A. W., McCurrach, M. E., Beach, D., and Lowe, S. W. (1997). Oncogenic ras provokes premature cell senescence associated with accumulation of p53 and p16INK4a. Cell 88, 593-602.

Shan, B., and Lee, W. (1994). Deregulated expression of E2F-1 induces S-phase entry and leads to apoptosis. Mol Cell Biol *14*, 8166-8173.

Shapiro, G. I., Edwards, C. D., Kobzik, L., Godleski, J., Richards, W., Sugarbaker, D. J., and Rollins, B. J. (1995). Reciprocal Rb inactivation and p16(INK4) expression in primary lung cancers and cell lines. Cancer Research *55*, 505-509.

Sharpless, N. E. (2004). Ink4a/Arf links senescence and aging. Experimental Gerontology *39*, 1751-1759.

Sharpless, N. E., Bardeesy, N., Lee, K.-H., Carrasco, D., Castrillon, D. H., Aguirre, A. J., Wu, E. A., Horner, J. W., and DePinho, R. A. (2001). Loss of p16 with retention of p19 predisposes mice to tumorigenesis. Nature *413*, 86-91.

Sharpless, N. E., Ramsey, M. R., Balasubramanian, P., Castrillon, D. H., and DePinho, R. A. (2004). The differential impact of p16 or p19 deficiency on cell growth and tumorigenesis. Oncogene *23*, 379-385.

Shay, J. W., and Bacchetti, S. (1997). A Survey of Telomerase Activity in Human Cancer. European Journal of Cancer *33*, 787-791.

Shay, J. W., Pereira-Smith, O. M., and Wright, W. E. (1991). A role for both RB and p53 in the regulation of human cellular senescence. Exp Cell Res *196*, 33-39.

Shay, J. W., and Wright, W. E. (2004). Senescence and immortalization: role of telomeres and telomerase. Carcinogenesis, bgh296.

Shen, C.-Y., Yu, J.-C., Lo, Y.-L., Kuo, C.-H., Yue, C.-T., Jou, Y.-S., Huang, C.-S., Lung, J.-C., and Wu, C.-W. (2000). Genome-wide Search for Loss of Heterozygosity Using Laser Capture Microdissected Tissue of Breast Carcinoma: An Implication for Mutator Phenotype and Breast Cancer Pathogenesis. Cancer Res *60*, 3884-3892.

Sherr, C. J. (2001). The INK4a/ARF network in tumour suppression. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2, 731-737.

Sherr, C. J. (2004). Principles of Tumor Suppression. Cell 116, 235-246.

Sherr, C. J., and Roberts, J. M. (1999). CDK inhibitors: positive and negative regulators of G1-phase progression. Genes Dev *13*, 1501-1512.

Shevde, L. A., and Welch, D. R. (2003). Metastasis suppressor pathways--an evolving paradigm. Cancer Letters *198*, 1-20.

Simon, L. V., Beauchamp, J. R., O'Hare, M., and Olsen, I. (1996). Establishment of Long-Term Myogenic Cultures from Patients with Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy by Retroviral Transduction of a Temperature-Sensitive SV40 Large T Antigen. Experimental Cell Research 224, 264-271.

Sklar, R. M., and Brown, J., Robert H. (1991). Methylprednisolone increases dystrophin levels by inhibiting myotube death during myogenesis of normal human muscle in vitro. Journal of the Neurological Sciences *101*, 73-81.

Sladek, T. L., Laffin, J., Lehman, J. M., and Jacobberger, J. W. (2000). A subset of cells expressing SV40 large T antigen contain elevated p53 levels and have an altered cell cycle phenotype. Cell Proliferation *33*, 115-125.

Smogorzewska, A., and de Lange, T. (2002). Different telomere damage signaling pathways in human and mouse cells. Embo J *21*, 4338-4348.

Sonnenschein, C., and Soto, A. M. (2005). Are Times a' Changin' in Carcinogenesis? Endocrinology *146*, 11-12.

Sontag, E., Fedorov, S., Kamibayashi, C., Robbins, D., Cobb, M., and Mumby, M. (1993). The interaction of SV40 small tumor antigen with protein phosphatase 2A stimulates the map kinase pathway and induces cell proliferation. Cell *75*, 887-897.

Soto, A. M., and Sonnenschein, C. (2004). The somatic mutation theory of cancer: growing problems with the paradigm? Bioessays *26*, 1097-1107.

Spencer, M. J., Montecino-Rodriguez, E., Dorshkind, K., and Tidball, J. G. (2001). Helper (CD4+) and Cytotoxic (CD8+) T Cells Promote the Pathology of Dystrophin-Deficient Muscle. Clinical Immunology *98*, 235-243.

Spencer, M. J., Walsh, C. M., Dorshkind, K. A., Rodriguez, E. M., and Tidball, J. G. (1997). Myonuclear Apoptosis in Dystrophic mdx Muscle Occurs by Perforin-mediated Cytotoxicity. J Clin Invest *99*, 2745-2751.

Srinivasan, A., Peden, K. W., and Pipas, J. M. (1989). The large tumor antigen of simian virus 40 encodes at least two distinct transforming functions. Journal Of Virology *63*, 5459-5463.

Stevenson, M., and Volsky, D. J. (1986). Activated v-myc and v-ras oncogenes do not transform normal human lymphocytes. Mol Cell Biol *6*, 3410-3417.

Stewart, N., and Bacchetti, S. (1991). Expression of SV40 large T antigen, but not small t antigen, is required for the induction of chromosomal aberrations in transformed human cells. Virology *180*, 49-57.

Stewart, S. A., Hahn, W. C., O'Connor, B. F., Banner, E. N., Lundberg, A. S., Modha, P., Mizuno, H., Brooks, M. W., Fleming, M., Zimonjic, D. B., *et al.* (2002a). Telomerase contributes to tumorigenesis by a telomere length-independent mechanism. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America *99*, 12606-12611.

Stewart, S. A., Hahn, W. C., O'Connor, B. F., Banner, E. N., Lundberg, A. S., Modha, P., Mizuno, H., Brooks, M. W., Fleming, M., Zimonjic, D. B., *et al.* (2002b). Telomerase contributes to tumorigenesis by a telomere length-independent mechanism. PNAS *99*, 12606-12611.

Stiegler, P., Kasten, M., and Giordano, A. (1998). The RB family of cell cycle regulatory factors. J Cell Biochem Suppl *30-31*, 30-36.

Stott, F. J., Bates, S., James, M. C., McConnell, B. B., Starborg, M., Brookes, S., Palmero, I., Ryan, K., Hara, E., Vousden, K. H., and Peters, G. (1998). The alternative product from the human CDKN2A locus, p14ARF, participates in a regulatory feedback loop with p53 and MDM2. EMBO J *17*, 5001-5014.

Stubdal, H., Zalvide, J., Campbell, K., Schweitzer, C., Roberts, T., and DeCaprio, J. (1997). Inactivation of pRB-related proteins p130 and p107 mediated by the J domain of simian virus 40 large T antigen. Mol Cell Biol *17*, 4979-4990.

Sun, L.-Q., Lee, D. W., Zhang, Q., Xiao, W., Raabe, E. H., Meeker, A., Miao, D., Huso, D. L., and Arceci, R. J. (2004). Growth retardation and premature aging phenotypes in mice with disruption of the SNF2-like gene, PASG. Genes Dev *18*, 1035-1046.

Taipale, J., and Beachy, P. A. (2001). The Hedgehog and Wnt signalling pathways in cancer. Nature *411*, 349-354.

Tajbakhsh, S., Rocancourt, D., Cossu, G., and Buckingham, M. (1997). Redefining the genetic hierarchies controlling skeletal myogenesis: Pax-3 and Myf-5 act upstream of MyoD. Cell *89*, 127-138.

Takahashi, Y., Inamine, A., Hashimoto, S.-i., Haraguchi, S., Yoshioka, E., Kojima, N., Abe, R., and Takemori, T. (2005). Novel Role of the Ras Cascade in Memory B Cell Response. Immunity 23, 127-138.

Tamm, I., Schumacher, A., Karawajew, L., Ruppert, V., Arnold, W., Nussler, A. K., Neuhaus, P., Dorken, B., and Wolff, G. (2002). Adenovirus-mediated gene transfer of P16INK4/CDKN2 into bax-negative colon cancer cells induces apoptosis and tumor regression in vivo. Cancer Gene Ther *9*, 641-650.

Tatsumi, R., Anderson, J. E., Nevoret, C. J., Halevy, O., and Allen, R. E. (1998). HGF/SF Is Present in Normal Adult Skeletal Muscle and Is Capable of Activating Satellite Cells. Developmental Biology *194*, 114-128.

Tedesco, D., Caruso, M., Fischer-Fantuzzi, L., and Vesco, C. (1995). The inhibition of cultured myoblast differentiation by the simian virus 40 large T antigen occurs after myogenin expression and Rb up- regulation and is not exerted by transformation-competent cytoplasmic mutants. J Virol *69*, 6947-6957.

Thomasset, N., Lochter, A., Sympson, C. J., Lund, L. R., Williams, D. R., Behrendtsen, O., Werb, Z., and Bissell, M. J. (1998). Expression of autoactivated stromelysin-1 in mammary glands of transgenic mice leads to a reactive stroma during early development. American Journal of Pathology *153*, 457-467.

Thompson, D. L., Kalderon, D., Smith, A. E., and Tevethia, M. J. (1990). Dissociation of Rbbinding and anchorage-independent growth from immortalization and tumorigenicity using SV40 mutants producing N-terminally truncated large T antigens. Virology *178*, 15-34.

Tidball, J. G., and Wehling-Henricks, M. (2004). Evolving Therapeutic Strategies for Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy: Targeting Downstream Events. Pediatr Res *56*, 831-841.

Trouche, D., Cook, A., and Kouzarides, T. (1996). The CBP co-activator stimulates E2F1/DP1 activity. Nucl Acids Res 24, 4139-4145.

van der Lugt, N., Domen, J., Linders, K., van Roon, M., Robanus-Maandag, E., te Riele, H., van der Valk, M., Deschamps, J., Sofroniew, M., and van Lohuizen, M. (1994). Posterior transformation, neurological abnormalities, and severe hematopoietic defects in mice with a targeted deletion of the bmi-1 proto-oncogene. Genes Dev *8*, 757-769.

van Deutekom, J. C., and van Ommen, G. J. (2003). Advances in Duchenne muscular dystrophy gene therapy. Nat Rev Genet *4*, 774-783.

van Kemenade, F. J., Raaphorst, F. M., Blokzijl, T., Fieret, E., Hamer, K. M., Satijn, D. P. E., Otte, A. P., and Meijer, C. J. L. M. (2001). Coexpression of BMI-1 and EZH2 polycombgroup proteins is associated with cycling cells and degree of malignancy in B-cell non-Hodgkin lymphoma. Blood *97*, 3896-3901.

van Lohuizen, M., Verbeek, S., Scheijen, B., Wientjens, E., van der Gulden, H., and Berns, A. (1991). Identification of cooperating oncogenes in E mu-myc transgenic mice by provirus tagging. Cell *65*, 737-752.

Vassilopoulos, G., Wang, P. R., and Russell, D. W. (2003). Transplanted bone marrow regenerates liver by cell fusion. Nature *422*, 901-904.

Vaziri, H., and Benchimol, S. (1998a). Reconstitution of telomerase activity in normal human cells leads to elongation of telomeres and extended replicative life span. Current Biology *8*, 279-282.

Vaziri, H., and Benchimol, S. (1998b). Reconstitution of telomerase activity in normal human cells leads to elongation of telomeres and extended replicative life span. Curr Biol *8*, 279-282.

von Zglinicki, T., Saretzki, G., Docke, W., and Lotze, C. (1995). Mild Hyperoxia Shortens Telomeres and Inhibits Proliferation of Fibroblasts: A Model for Senescence? Experimental Cell Research 220, 186-193.

Vonlanthen, S., Heighway, J., Altermatt, H. J., Gugger, M., Kappeler, A., Borner, M. M., van Lohuizen, M., and Betticher, D. C. (2001). The bmi-1 oncoprotein is differentially expressed in non-small cell lung cancer and correlates with INK4A-ARF locus expression. Br J Cancer *84*, 1372-1376.

Wagers, A. J., Sherwood, R. I., Christensen, J. L., and Weissman, I. L. (2002). Little Evidence for Developmental Plasticity of Adult Hematopoietic Stem Cells. Science 297, 2256-2259.

Wang, L. H. (2004). Molecular signaling regulating anchorage-independent growth of cancer cells. Mt Sinai J Med *71*, 361-367.

Wang, X., Willenbring, H., Akkari, Y., Torimaru, Y., Foster, M., Al-Dhalimy, M., Lagasse, E., Finegold, M., Olson, S., and Grompe, M. (2003). Cell fusion is the principal source of bone-marrow-derived hepatocytes. Nature *422*, 897-901.

Webster, K. A., Muscat, G. E., and Kedes, L. (1988). Adenovirus E1A products suppress myogenic differentiation and inhibit transcription from muscle-specific promoters. Nature *332*, 553-557.

Wege, H., Le(*), H., Chui(*), M., Liu(*), L., Wu(*), J., Giri([Dagger]), R., Malhi([Dagger]),
H., Sappal([Dagger]), B., Kumaran([Dagger]), V., Gupta([Dagger]), S., and Zern(*), M.
(2003). Telomerase reconstitution immortalizes human fetal hepatocytes without disrupting their differentiation potential. Gastroenterology *124*, 432-444.

Wehling, M., Spencer, M. J., and Tidball, J. G. (2001). A nitric oxide synthase transgene ameliorates muscular dystrophy in mdx mice. J Cell Biol *155*, 123-132.

Wei, S., Wei, W., and Sedivy, J. M. (1999). Expression of Catalytically Active Telomerase Does Not Prevent Premature Senescence Caused by Overexpression of Oncogenic Ha-Ras in Normal Human Fibroblasts. Cancer Res *59*, 1539-1543.

Wheat, W. H., Roesler, W. J., and Klemm, D. J. (1994). Simian virus 40 small tumor antigen inhibits dephosphorylation of protein kinase A-phosphorylated CREB and regulates CREB transcriptional stimulation. Mol Cell Biol *14*, 5881-5890.

Whyte, P., Williamson, N. M., and Harlow, E. (1989). Cellular targets for transformation by the adenovirus E1A proteins. Cell *56*, 67-75.

Wong, D. J., Foster, S. A., Galloway, D. A., and Reid, B. J. (1999). Progressive regionspecific de novo methylation of the p16 CpG island in primary human mammary epithelial cell strains during escape from M(0) growth arrest. Mol Cell Biol *19*, 5642-5651.

Wong, J. M. Y., and Collins, K. (2003). Telomere maintenance and disease. The Lancet *362*, 983-988.

Wright, W. E., and Shay, J. W. (1992). The two-stage mechanism controlling cellular senescence and immortalization. Experimental Gerontology *27*, 383-389.

Wright, W. E., and Shay, J. W. (2001). Cellular senescence as a tumor-protection mechanism: the essential role of counting. Current Opinion in Genetics & Development *11*, 98-103.

Wright, W. E., and Shay, J. W. (2002). Historical claims and current interpretations of replicative aging. Nat Biotechnol 20, 682-688.

Xu, H. J., Zhou, Y., Ji, W., Perng, G. S., Kruzelock, R., Kong, C. T., Bast, R. C., Mills, G. B., Li, J., and Hu, S. X. (1997). Reexpression of the retinoblastoma protein in tumor cells induces senescence and telomerase inhibition. Oncogene *15*, 2589-2596.

Yang, S.-I., Lickteig, R. L., Estes, R., Rundell, K., Walter, G., and Mumby, M. C. (1991). Control of protein phosphatase 2A by simian virus 40 small-t antigen. MOL CELL BIOL *11*, 1988-1995.

Yaswen, P., and Stampfer, M. R. (2002). Molecular changes accompanying senescence and immortalization of cultured human mammary epithelial cells. The International Journal of Biochemistry & Cell Biology *34*, 1382-1394.

Yilmaz, O., Karaduman, A., and Topaloglu, H. (2004). Prednisolone therapy in Duchenne muscular dystrophy prolongs ambulation and prevents scoliosis. European Journal of Neurology *11*, 541-544.

Yonish-Rouach, E., Resnitzky, D., Lotem, J., Sachs, L., Kimchi, A., and Oren, M. (1991). Wild-type p53 induces apoptosis of myeloid leukaemic cells that is inhibited by interleukin-6. Nature *352*, 345-347.

Yu, J., Boyapati, A., and Rundell, K. (2001). Critical Role for SV40 Small-t Antigen in Human Cell Transformation. Virology 290, 192-198.

Zalvide, J., Stubdal, H., and Decaprio, J. A. (1998). The J domain of simian virus 40 large T antigen is required to functionally inactivate RB family proteins. Molecular and Cellular Biology *18*, 1408-1415.

Zeisig, B. B., Milne, T., Garcia-Cuellar, M. P., Schreiner, S., Martin, M. E., Fuchs, U., Borkhardt, A., Chanda, S. K., Walker, J., Soden, R., *et al.* (2004). Hoxa9 and Meis1 are key targets for MLL-ENL-mediated cellular immortalization. Mol Cell Biol *24*, 617-628.

Zerrahn, J., Knippschild, U., Winkler, T., and Deppert, W. (1993). Independent expression of the transforming aminoterminal domain of SV40 large T antigen from an alternatively spliced third SV40 early mRNA. EMBO Journal *12*, 4739-4746.

Zhang, X., Mar, V., Zhou, W., Harrington, L., and Robinson, M. O. (1999). Telomere shortening and apoptosis in telomerase-inhibited human tumor cells. Genes and Development *13*, 2388-2399.

Zhang, Y., Xiong, Y., and Yarbrough, W. G. (1998). ARF promotes MDM2 degradation and stabilizes p53: ARF-INK4a locus deletion impairs both the Rb and p53 tumor suppression pathways. Cell *92*, 725-734.

Zhao, J. J., Roberts, T. M., and Hahn, W. C. (2004). Functional genetics and experimental models of human cancer. Trends in Molecular Medicine *10*, 344-350.

Zhu, J., Rice, P. W., Gorsch, L., Abate, M., and Cole, C. N. (1992). Transformation of a continuous rat embryo fibroblast cell line requires three separate domains of simian virus 40 large T antigen. J VIROL *66*, 2780-2791.

Zhu, J., Woods, D., McMahon, M., and Bishop, J. M. (1998). Senescence of human fibroblasts induced by oncogenic Raf. Genes Dev *12*, 2997-3007.

Zindy, F., Williams, R. T., Baudino, T. A., Rehg, J. E., Skapek, S. X., Cleveland, J. L., Roussel, M. F., and Sherr, C. J. (2003). Arf tumor suppressor promoter monitors latent oncogenic signals in vivo. PNAS *100*, 15930-15935.

Zou, Y., Sfeir, A., Gryaznov, S. M., Shay, J. W., and Wright, W. E. (2004). Does a Sentinel or a Subset of Short Telomeres Determine Replicative Senescence? Mol Biol Cell *15*, 3709-3718.

Zufferey, R., Dull, T., Mandel, R. J., Bukovsky, A., Quiroz, D., Naldini, L., and Trono, D. (1998). Self-Inactivating Lentivirus Vector for Safe and Efficient In Vivo Gene Delivery. J Virol 72, 9873-9880.

Zufferey, R., Nagy, D., Mandel, R. J., Naldini, L., and Trono, D. (1997). Multiply attenuated lentiviral vector achieves efficient gene delivery in vivo. *15*, 871-875.

